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BUILDING RESILIENCE
At Tokyo Cement, we have maintained an undeterred 
performance even amidst adversity. Inspired by a will to 
succeed, our skilled and versatile team has leveraged our 

any storm. 

Every stage in our process is essential and unites every 

stakeholders we serve. Driven by a resilient vision, we  

surround us. 

and prosperity, we trust our processes to explore new 

Scan the QR code or visit 
www.tokyocement.lk
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ABOUT US

Vision
To be the leading partner 

standards that exceed 
expectations.

Mission
Reinforcing market leadership 
by empowering our people, 
driving innovation, pursuing 
sustainable development, 
assuring consistent quality, 
and committing to impeccable 

shareholder value and 
cementing consumer trust.

The cement industry is sometimes referred to as a barometer to gauge the country’s 
economic march to progress and prosperity. Since our inception in 1982, Tokyo Cement 

foundations for development. Today, we have grown from being the nation’s largest, locally-
owned cement manufacturer to become the market leader in Ready Mix Concrete, and Value 
Added Dry Mortar products.

second biomass power plant, Tokyo Cement Group became the single largest contributor of 

Our purpose is to help our consumers build stronger, faster and smarter; cementing the trust 
they have placed in Tokyo Cement Group for generations.

OVERVIEW
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
OVERVIEW

Group  Company

Rs. Mn 2020 2019 2020 2019
*Restated

PERFORMANCE

Turnover  35,768  21,511  29,663 

 (25,512)  (30,608)  (16,234)

 10,256  7,888  5,277  5,915 

 2,629  (1)  790  (339)

 2,318  817  (332)

Total Comprehensive Income  2,297  800 

Earnings Per Share - Voting  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)

Earnings Per Share - Non Voting  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)

Dividend Per Share - Voting - 1.50  0.30 

Dividend Per Share - Non Voting - 1.50  0.30 

Net Asset Value Per Share  42.79  37.22  38.82 

Market Value Per Share - Voting  22.50  20.70  22.50  20.70 

Market Value Per Share - Non Voting  20.00  18.50  20.00  18.50 

 28.67  24.53 

 16.18  7.96  9.10 

Interest Cover (Times) 2.39  1.00  1.56  0.75 

Price Earnings Ratio - Voting  3.89  (16.85)  11.04 

Price Earnings Ratio - Non Voting  3.46  (15.06)  9.82  (22.37)

Current Ratio  0.90:1  0.79:1 

Quick Asset Ratio  0.56:1  0.52:1 

- 73.53
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TURNOVER
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX

GROSS PROFIT
CASH GENERATED FROM 
OPERATIONS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN CAPEX

2019: Rs. 38.5 Bn
2019: Rs. 1.8 Bn

2019: Rs. (0.5) Bn

2019: Rs. 7.9 Bn 2019: Rs. 2.2 Bn

2019: 20.5% 2019: Rs. 3.0 Bn

7%
149%

30% 116%

58%

Rs. 35.8 Bn Rs. 4.5 Bn

Rs. 2.3 Bn

Rs. 10.3 Bn Rs. 4.8 Bn

28.7% Rs. 1.3 Bn
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OUR PRODUCTS

The largest portfolio of Cement, 
Concrete and Dry Mortar products, 
that have become trusted household 
names in every part of Sri Lanka.



OUR PRODUCTS
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW



TOKYO SUPERMIX

TOKYO SUPERMIX is the trusted choice
for building projects, big and small. 
We are the strength behind key projects 
from iconic structures gracing city 
skylines, to landmark bridges and
highway networks that have transformed 
the country’s landscape.
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OUR PRODUCTS
OVERVIEW
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OUR PRODUCTS
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EXECUTIVE REVIEWS
28 - 38

Chairman’s statement  29  |  Message from the Joint Venture Partner  31

Managing Director’s Review  32  |  Board of Directors  35

At Tokyo Cement, all our products are tested and engineered to deliver solid and 
enduring results. Today, our impactful processes are setting standards that exceed 

stakeholder expectations.

IMPACTFUL PROCESSES

A tied arch bridge is a versatile and adaptable structure, designed to span a greater distance and 
withstand loads without distortion over time.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

WE CLOSED THE YEAR WITH AN AFTER TAX 
PROFIT OF RS 2.3 BN. IN ADDITION TO 
THESE FINANCIAL ACHIEVEMENTS, THE 
TOKYO CEMENT GROUP CONSOLIDATED 
ITS MARKET POSITION AS THE LARGEST 
MANUFACTURER OF CEMENT IN THE 
COUNTRY, ACCOUNTING FOR THE LARGEST 
SHARE IN CEMENT SALES.

extremely unfavourable backdrop, validating the strength of the Tokyo Cement Group. 

position as the largest manufacturer of cement in the country, accounting for the largest 
share in cement sales. Further, TOKYO SUPERMIX, our subsidiary, retained control of the 
lion’s share of the ready mix concrete market. This is indeed a performance to be proud 

of. I attribute this show of strength to 
the Tokyo Cement Team, from marketing 
to production, from engaging with 
consumers to meeting market demands. 

of executives, under the guidance of the 
Managing Director, Tokyo Cement has 
strengthened its market position in a 
declining industry environment.

AN UNFAVOURABLE MACRO 
ENVIRONMENT 

As our shareholders are aware, the 

Sunday bombings of April 2019. This 
incident had widespread repercussions 
on our operations, from manufacturing to 
restricted transportation and distribution. 
Further market disruptions were caused 
by the heightened security environment, 
that saw the temporary shutdown of 
marketplaces and construction sites, 
resulting in a drastic decline in demand for 
cement and concrete. 

Adding to these obstacles, extended 
monsoons were experienced in many 
parts of the island, disrupting everything 
from large scale concrete pours, to 
rural construction activities. National 
development projects, remained for the 
most part, in a state of limbo, due to 
continued delays in government payments. 

Meanwhile, the rupee declined steadily 
against the US Dollar and the Euro, 
increasing the cost burden on the 
Company, as Tokyo Cement is totally import 
dependent for clinker, the key raw material 
for cement. The Group’s outstanding 
portfolio saw a sharp, uncharacteristic spike 
during the year due to pending payments 
from contractors. 

revision of the MRP compounded upon 
the year’s currency depreciation, adding 
to further margin constraints. However, 
Tokyo Cement has traditionally maintained 
stringent internal controls and expert 

the Company and Group. 

EXECUTIVE REVIEWS
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EXECUTIVE REVIEWS

PROFIT AFTER TAX

RETURN ON EQUITY

Rs. 2.3 Bn

13%

COVID-19 pandemic, which brought most 
of the country’s economic activities to a 
sudden halt, and saw Tokyo Cement Group 
halting its business activities for a few days, 
in compliance with Government Regulations. 
However, yet again, the Tokyo Cement Team 
stepped up to the challenge, and within a 
few days, we were back at work. Not only 
did our teams return to work as soon as 
possible, within the months of May, June 
and July, there were marked indicators of 
an upswing in business, which is extremely 
encouraging not only for Tokyo Cement, but 
the entire economy. 

The Tokyo Cement Team, which includes 
many old hands with years of experience 

strength during this period. Even during 
the periods of curfew and COVID-19 

and determined, contributing towards the 
Company’s remarkable resilience. Therefore, 
it was possible for the Tokyo Cement Group 
to maintain focus and push towards our 

innovative solutions for the construction 
industry, backed by our state-of-the-art 
laboratories, consolidating our position as a 

continued with our expansion programmes 
in the Colombo Port and in Trincomalee, to 
build a solid foundation for growth when 
markets recover. 

GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE

environment, the Tokyo Cement Group 
did not lower its stringent governance 

the changing market dynamics, we have 
maintained our standards and business 
ethics in all dealings with all stakeholders. 
All Board meetings and sub-committee 
meetings were conducted on time, and 
there were no interruptions to the good 
governance procedures of the Group. All 
compliance commitments have been met 
on time, and the Tokyo Cement Group 

delays, or non-compliances, with applicable 

with all listing rules of the Colombo Stock 
Exchange and with the Code of Best 
Practice on Corporate Governance.

COMMITMENT TO SUSTAINABLE 
GROWTH

In a year with more minuses than plus 
points, we have not overlooked our 
obligations to our society and environment. 
Our environmental conservation 
programmes, such as our coral reef 
rehabilitation and mangrove reforestation 
initiatives, continued during the year, 
strengthening the island’s coastal defences, 
safeguarding vital eco systems. 

During the current year, we expanded our 
renewable energy footprint by adding 
600 Kw of solar power to the roof of our 

Further, we continued to support our 
farming communities who supply Gliricidia 
as biomass fuel for our dendro power plant. 
It is a noteworthy achievement that our 
entire manufacturing process is powered 
by biomass renewable energy. Please 
refer to our Sustainability Report for more 
details on these activities and other social 
responsibility initiatives.

Tokyo Cement has already made headway 
in the recovery process, and I am fully 

of our team in driving this recovery towards 

expected to facilitate stronger economic 
recovery due to the tax reductions and 
lower interest rates that will have positive 
outcomes for the Company and the 
construction sector. The recommencement of 
construction projects and new projects in the 

which will also boost the economy.

On that positive note, I conclude by 
thanking the Board, the Managing Director, 
and the entire Tokyo Cement Team. Our 
distributor network and our dealers are 
an integral aspect of the Tokyo Cement 
operation, and I thank them for their loyalty 
during the year. I thank our shareholders 
and all other stakeholders who have put 
their faith in us and continued to stand by 

forward to continue working together as a 

Sincerely

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC
Chairman

21st September 2020

be expected to facilitate stronger 
economic recovery due to the tax 
reductions and lower interest rates 
that will have positive outcomes for 
the Company and the construction 
sector. The recommencement of 
construction projects and new 
projects in the pipeline, will enhance 

boost the economy.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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MESSAGE FROM THE JOINT VENTURE PARTNER

On behalf of UBE Singapore Holdings Pte. 

congratulations to the Tokyo Cement Team 
for a remarkable performance during an 
exceptionally challenging year. 

Tokyo Cement, but the entire world. The 
emergence of the novel corona virus and 
the uncertain geopolitical environment that 
prevailed for much of the year, is reshaping 
international relations and global trade at 
an unprecedented pace. Against such a 
backdrop, it is indeed a pleasure to note the 
all-round positive performance recorded 
by our business partner Tokyo Cement 

The construction industry is a vital 
component of economic growth in many 
countries and has continued to evolve 
by adopting emerging technologies and 
modern management systems. The growing 
demand for sustainable and environmentally 
friendly construction methods, is also 
driving industry change across the globe. 
Through our collaboration with Tokyo 
Cement, it is possible to introduce these 
modern innovations and technologies to 

we have continued to support Tokyo Cement 
in its quest to improve its manufacturing 
and research and development capabilities, 
with the ultimate objective of enhancing 

creation of high quality living spaces.

performance was below expectation during 
the 12 months under review, against a 
declining economic growth rate, we are 

sector will demonstrate customary 
resilience and recover in the near future. 
Tokyo Cement meanwhile, has achieved a 
commendable performance, demonstrating 
its strong market position and future 
potential. Tokyo Cement has emerged as 
the leading manufacturer of cement and 
concrete and has continued its Master 
Plan to increase production capacity and 

backward and forward integration. Tokyo 
Cement has also continued to modernise 
its manufacturing processes and enhanced 
its research and development capabilities, 
to better respond to market demand in the 

Cement will be well equipped to support the 
national recovery drive, with a range of new 
products and technology solutions that will 

domestic construction industry. 

It is noteworthy that Tokyo Cement has 
also continued to discharge fully, its 
social and environmental commitments, 
despite the market slowdown and the 
many other challenges faced during the 
year. Tokyo Cement has remained true to 
its philosophy of sustainable growth with 
a responsible attitude towards managing 
its environmental impacts and supporting 

believe this is a vital component of business 
growth and evolution and we are happy to 
support Tokyo Cement in all its endeavours. 

a new era of post-Covid economic revival, 
we look forward to continued cooperation 
and growth. 

Sincerely 

Masato Izumihara
President and Representative Director

21st September 2020

WE ARE CONFIDENT 
TOKYO CEMENT 
WILL BE WELL 
EQUIPPED TO 
SUPPORT THE 
NATIONAL 
RECOVERY DRIVE, 
WITH A RANGE OF 
NEW PRODUCTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 
SOLUTIONS THAT 
WILL IMPROVE 
THE QUALITY AND 
EFFICIENCY OF 
THE DOMESTIC 
CONSTRUCTION 
INDUSTRY.

EXECUTIVE REVIEWS
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW
EXECUTIVE REVIEWS

WE HAVE MAINTAINED OUR STRATEGIC 
DIRECTION, AND THE MARKET SHARE 
GROWTH OF TOKYO SUPER BLENDED 
HYDRAULIC CEMENT HAS REINFORCED 
OUR POSITION AS THE LARGEST CEMENT 
PRODUCER IN SRI LANKA.

have noted that Tokyo Cement Group’s bottom-line has recovered from the negative 
position of the previous year, as assured in last year’s report. Not only has Tokyo Cement 

IMPACTS OF THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT 

Overall, national cement consumption continued on its downward trend totalling to 5.9 Mn 

part to years of investment into process engineering at our factories, and continued integration 
with our Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system. Marketing and sales activities are now 
integrated with the ERP, which allows for optimised coordination and planning, with increased 

were well received by the local construction industry. In fact, the growth in contribution of 
Blended Hydraulic Cement to our sales mix had a considerable positive margin impact. This 
approach helped maintain the growth momentum in a contracting market. 

The construction industry experienced 
increased costs, reduced liquidity, and 
continuous disruptions to seasonal 

was marked with several market disruptions; 
commencing with the Easter Sunday 
Attacks, followed by extended monsoons, 
presidential elections, volatile policy 
environment, and ending unceremoniously 
with the onset of the pandemic. Please refer 
to our Economic Review for a more in-depth 
analysis on the macro environment and its 
impact on the industry.

Payment delays by the Government to 
contractors continued, sometimes as much 
as for 18 months, which caused major cash 
constraints within the industry. The cash 
squeeze extended into the wider economy, 
as the construction sector is one of the 
largest employers in the country, with 

island-wide network of smaller suppliers, 
dealers, and agents. The rupee depreciation 

costs, as we are entirely import dependent 
for clinker. Even freight costs increased, due 
to shortages of new low sulphur fuels, which 
were made mandatory by the International 
Maritime Organisation. In December 
2019, the new government removed NBT 

in a separate ruling revised the MRP for 

consumers. 

production, marketing and sales activities. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Easter Sunday Attacks, set the catalyst 
for our behaviour for the rest of the year; 
forcing us to be more cautious and adaptive 
to continuously shifting environments. 
This led us to enact stringent policies of 

coupled with strategic sourcing, production 
and distribution operations, employed 
throughout the year. The current year’s 

emptive and prudent approach.
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REVENUE 

Due to reduced cement consumption, 
revenue at Company level declined by 

The Tokyo Cement Group revenue also 
 

Rs 38.5 Bn, to Rs 35.8 Bn. 

COSTS 

Cost of sales of the Company declined by 

lower demand and also due to many cost 
saving measures. 

At Group level, cost of sales declined by 

The Company’s Distribution, Administrative 

to Rs 5.8 Bn.

CASHFLOW AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

made it possible to withstand this situation. 

maintained a conservative net operating 

our total capital expenditure for the year 
came to Rs 1.8 Bn , compared to Rs 3.1 Bn 
in the previous year. Much of this cost can 
be attributed to ongoing projects. 

PROFITABILITY 

At Company level, we achieved an operating 

improvement is directly due to the many 

the year.  

Rs 789 Mn against the Rs 339 Mn loss of the 

817 Mn against the net loss of Rs 332 Mn 
reported last year.

The Tokyo Cement Group returned to 
 

Rs 2.6 Bn from the loss of Rs 1.5Mn last 

I urge our shareholders to please read 
the Management Discussion and Analysis 
of this annual report for details on these 
improvements.

TOKYO CEMENT SUBSIDIARIES 

supported by our subsidiaries. Tokyo 
Eastern Cement Company, our cement 

our dendro power company contributed 

Supermix, our ready mix concrete company, 
made a marginal loss and our sand 
manufacturer, Tokyo Super Aggregate also 
made a marginal loss in the low demand 
environment during the current year.

DIVIDENDS

Based on the current year’s performance 

dividend of Rs 1.50 per ordinary share. This 

our shareholders for the year. 

STRATEGIC PROGRESS

Overall, we have maintained our strategic 
direction, and the market share growth of 
TOKYO SUPER Blended Hydraulic Cement 
has reinforced our position as the largest 

in response to the dramatic shift in the 
external risk environment, we have had 
to cut back on some of our plans, such as 
temporarily pausing the capacity expansion 
at the Colombo Port. 

However, our factory modernisation plans 
are on track and the Central Control Room 
in Trincomalee was brought online, which 
has automated most of the production 

process. Our Construction Research 
Centre is also making a name for itself as 
an industry specialist in concrete designs. 
During the current year, we worked with 
Japanese contractors and consultants to 
develop custom concrete designs that a few 
years back would not have been possible in 

Technology transfer and training 
programmes were continued and we hosted 
another Japanese Engineer specialising in 
concrete, at our research centre to share 
expertise in developing new designs. Our 

Factory, were also sent to Japan for training. 

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

Despite the extreme uncertainty and cost 
increases we experienced during the year, 
Tokyo Cement has maintained its many 
environmental and social commitments. 

rooftop of our dendro power plant in 
Mahiyangana, giving us another alternative 

and target to grow 1,000,000 Gliricidia 
sticks with farmers per year for power 

use Fly Ash, a waste by-product from 
the Norochcholai coal power plant in our 

planting over 10,000 mangrove saplings 
per year to protect our coasts. 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

NET OPERATING CASH FLOW

Rs. 2.6 Bn

Rs. 2.9 Bn

I am proud to report that our entire 
manufacturing process now operate 
fully on biomass energy, minimising 
our carbon footprint from energy 
consumption. As a heavy industry, 
this is truly an achievement.
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EXECUTIVE REVIEWS

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

I am proud to report that our entire 
manufacturing process now operate fully 
on biomass energy, minimising our carbon 
footprint from energy consumption. As a 
heavy industry, this is truly an achievement. 
Please refer our Sustainability Report for 
progress regarding these and other Tokyo 
Cement environmental and social activities. 

OUTLOOK AND PLANS 

I would like to congratulate the Government 
on its decisive policy direction to support 
domestic industries, in the months 
following the COVID-19 lockdowns. A cess 
was imposed on imports of bag and bulk 
cement. At the time of this report, the 

the cost of a 50 Kg bag of imported bagged 
cement, while the impact of the cess is Rs 

many positive outcomes, both in terms 
of economic returns for the country and 
also towards generating much needed 
employment opportunities. Enhancing 
domestic manufacturing will also generate 

the country, while encouraging local 
entrepreneurs to expand their operations 
and increase investments in local industries. 
Therefore, we hope the Government will 
introduce further progressive measures 
towards import substitution, greater 
domestic value-addition and protection 
against unfair trading practices. 

As for the construction industry, 
realistically, I do not see an immediate 
revival of demand for cement in the 

COVID-19, all tourism related construction 
projects have come to a halt and I do not 
expect a revival in the short term. The 

We will also continue to educate 
the industry about emerging 
international cement standards, as 
this is not part of the civil engineering 
curricula in local universities. As 
there is a demand for our innovation 
products, we will look into increasing 
the production of these items.

real-estate sector, which was driven by the 
apartment boom, has also slowed down as 
there is currently a surplus. 

However, the Port City constructions 
might resume relatively fast, as it is 
funded by Chinese investors, in addition 
to opportunities in national concrete road 
development projects. However, government 
payment delays to contractors may slow 
down these projects and as a result the 

freight costs will reduce as the supply of low 
sulphur fuel production has increased. 

The Tokyo Cement Group will strive to 
reduce raw material costs and improve 

standards, that have a lower carbon 
footprint. Our Colombo Port capacity 
expansion project was restarted, and we 
are on track to complete this before the end 
of the 2020 calendar year. This capacity 
enhancement will support cost reductions 

industry about emerging international 
cement standards, as this is not part of 
the civil engineering curricula in local 
universities. As there is a demand for our 
innovation products, we will look into 
increasing the production of these items. 

many challenges in the current year and I 
appreciate the contributions of the Board 
of Directors, the Senior Management and 

shareholders, business partners and our 
customers for their support and loyalty. 

challenge of the future, if we continue to 
stand together. 

Sincerely 

Mr. S.R. Gnanam
Managing Director 

21st September 2020
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DR. HARSHA CABRAL, PC 
Chairman

MR. S R GNANAM 
Managing Director

and commands an extensive practice in the 
Commercial High Courts and the Supreme 

Canberra, Australia and is a sitting member of 
the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) 
International Court of Arbitration in Paris. Dr. 
Cabral is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries & Administrators (UK). Dr. 
Cabral is also Representative Member of the 

(FICM) as well as a Representative Member 
of the International Commercial Disputes 
Tribunal (ICDT).

Intellectual Property Advisory Commission 

on the Post Graduate Institute of Medicine 

member of the Board of Management of 

is a Council Member of the Institute for the 

Diploma in Commercial Arbitration and the 

As a member of the Advisory Commission on 

of the architects of the Companies Act No. 7 
of 2007, the current Act. As a member of the 

member the Ministerial Committee appointed 

International Arbitration Centre, as a member 
of the Corporate Governance Committee of 

Mr. S R Gnanam was appointed to the Board 
in 1983. He has over 30 years of experience 
in business management, strategic planning 
and social and economic research. He is the 

the Managing Director of St. Anthony’s 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Foundation, and as the current Vice President 

 
Dr. Cabral has contributed immensely to the 
legal academia and the corporate community 

He serves as the Chairman of the Tokyo 
Cement Group, which commands the largest 

as Independent Non-Executive Director of 

on several Audit Committees, Nomination 
Committees, Remuneration Committees and 
the Related Party Transaction Committee, 
chairing most of them. 

Dr. Cabral is a visiting lecturer at several 
Universities (local and international) and a 
regular speaker at public seminars, author 
of several books and has presented several 

Arbitration here and abroad. In addition to his 
active practice in courts and lecturing, he has 
been a counsel in many a Arbitration and has 
served as Sole-Arbitrator, Co-Arbitrator and 
Chairman in a large number of Arbitrations, 
domestic and international.

EXECUTIVE REVIEWS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE REVIEWS

MR. A S G GNANAM MR. E J GNANAM MR. R SEEVARATNAM 

Mr. A S G Gnanam graduated from the 
Illinois Institute of Technology in Industrial 
Engineering in 1973. He has been on the 
Board since 1999. He is the Managing Director 

and St Anthony’s Property Developers (Pvt) 

and Director of many private companies. He is 

He has experience in leading manufacturing 
organisations which are considered pioneers 
in the local industry and has personally been 
involved in conceptualising, developing and 

industry.

Mr. E J Gnanam was appointed to the Board in 
February 2007. He is the Managing Director 

an investment company, and also serves as 

also holds directorships in other listed and 
private companies. He has wide experience at 
leading corporate sector institutions spanning 
manufacturing and services. He has a Bachelor 
of Arts Degree from the University of Texas and 
an MBA from the University of Melbourne.

Independent Director Mr. Seevaratnam 
was appointed to the Board in May 2007 
and serves as the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. He is a former senior partner of 
KPMG Ford, Rhodes, Thornton & Company. He 
is a fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered 

holds directorships in many listed companies 
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MR. A D B TALWATTE MR. RAVI DIAS MR. W C FERNANDO 
Director 

Mr. A D B Talwatte is a fellow member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Management Accountants of the U.K. He also 
holds a Post-Graduate Diploma in Business 
and Financial Administration awarded by the 

Holland and has a MBA from the University of 

has also participated in a Kellogg Executive 
Programme at the Kellogg Graduate School 
of Management, North-western University, 
Evanston, Illinois. Mr. Talwatte worked at Ernst 
& Young in Assurance, Business Risk and 
Advisory Services for 37 years, including 10 
years as Country Managing Partner. He has 
worked with Ernst & Young in Cleveland, Ohio 
and also served on Ernst & Young’s Far-East 
Area Executive Committee, the Area Advisory 

Mr. Talwatte was President of the CA Sri 

the Chairman of the Statutory Accounting 
Standards Committee and the Auditing 
Standards Committee, the Urgent Issues Task 
Force and the Examinations Committee of the 

Mr. Talwatte has been closely associated with 
the development of Corporate Governance in 

of Audit Committees in 2002 and the Code of 
Corporate Governance in 2003. He co-chaired 
the Committees to structure the revised Codes 
of Corporate Governance of 2008, 2012 

currently chairs the International Integrated 

Mr. Talwatte serves as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on boards of several listed 
companies.

the Institute of Bankers (UK). He is also a 
Hubert H Humphrey fellow. He is an Alumnus 
of the INSEAD Business School –France, 
having attended the Advanced Management 
Programme in Fontainebleau.

Mr. Dias served Commercial Bank of Ceylon 

He also serves as Chairman of the Board and 

 

Mr. Dias has served on the Boards of 

He was a committee member of the Ceylon 
Chamber of Commerce and was a Council 
Member of the Employers Federation of 
Ceylon.

Mr. Fernando was appointed as the Group 
General Manager in 1991. He is a Director of 

Joint Managing Director of the Tokyo Super 

across various industries. He has a B.A (Hons) 
Econ, B. Phil (Hons) Econ. and is a FCMA, FCA 
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MR. SUSUMU ANDO DR. INDRAJIT COOMARASWAMY 

Mr. Susumu Ando serves as the Managing 

Company incorporated in Singapore. He is 
a Graduate in Bachelor of Economics from 
Ritsumeikan University. He joined the UBE 
Group of Companies in the year 1997 and has 
served in the cement, construction material 
and ready-mix departments.

Dr. Indrajit Coomaraswamy served on the 

from March 2011 to June 2016, until he was 

He was reappointed as a Non-Executive 
Independent Director in March 2020, 
subsequent to his retirement from the 
Central Bank. Dr. Coomaraswamy has over 
30 years of experience in policy making and 
providing economic advisory services, on 
both macroeconomic and structural issues 
at National and Intergovernmental levels. 
He obtained his Bachelors and Masters in 
Economics from the Cambridge University of 
UK and subsequently obtained a Doctorate 
from the University of Sussex. He was 

Commonwealth Secretariat.
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Tokyo Cement’s business model is adaptive and versatile - designed to meet every stakeholders’ 
needs, the Company is driven by an overarching purpose to deliver exceptional value to the nation 

and its people day after day.

STRUCTURED FOR CHANGE
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ECONOMIC REVIEW
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WIDE RANGING ECONOMIC SETBACKS, 
STEMMING FROM MEASURES ADOPTED 
TO CURB PANDEMIC OUTBREAK AND 
GLOBAL ECONOMIC TURBULENCE, ARE 
LIKELY TO CAUSE SEVERE HARDSHIPS 
TO ALL STAKEHOLDERS OF THE 
ECONOMY.

SLOWDOWN IN ECONOMIC GROWTH

Sunday attacks. 

Following the incidents, the government declared a state of emergency and imposed nightly 
curfews for several days. It took about two weeks after the incident for civilian life and 
economic activities to show any sign of returning to normalcy. The Easter Sunday attacks 

across the economy such as in domestic transportation, wholesale and retail trade and 
manufacturing, worsening the sluggish growth of the economy and further dampening 

Slowdown in Credit to Private Sector 
for Construction Activities and Personal 
Housing

Credit to the private sector granted by 

at end December 2019, compared to 

December 2018. Similarly, credit granted 
for personal housing construction activities 

recorded as at end December 2018. 

Decline in Capital Expenditure by 
Provincial Councils

In 2019, capital expenditure of Provincial 
Councils declined both in nominal terms and 

of capital expenditure in all sub-sectors. 
Accordingly, capital expenditure declined 

2018. This in turn had a negative impact on 
the Construction Industry.

Long Delay in Payments to Contractors

As per the economic insights unveiled by 

delays in payments for government related 

as a barrier for sustaining the growth 
momentum in the construction industry. 

struggled to survive throughout the year 

Annual Report, 2019).

As per the economic insights 
unveiled by the Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka (CBSL), long delays in 
payments for government related 

and was highlighted as a barrier for 
sustaining the growth momentum in 
the construction industry.

CEMENT CONSUMPTION & CONSTRUCTION SECTOR GROWTH
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21st Apr. 
(Easter 
Sunday 

attack & 
aftermath)

7th Oct. 
(Nominations 

called for 
presidential 
elections & 

drop in sales)

1st Dec. 
(Tax revision 

followed by 
staggered sale)

27th Dec.  
(MRP revision)

14th Feb.  
(MRP revision)

Extended 
monsoon rain

Rapid 
increase 
in sales

outbreak

19th Mar.
Island wide 

Lockdown

15th Apr. restrictions 
imposed on imports

03rd Mar.  
Parliament 

dissolved

Govt. delayed 
payments to 
Contractors

1  14th February - MRP revision

2  21st April to 10th May - Aftermath of 
Easter Sunday Attack.

 21st April – Easter Sunday attack.

 Heightened security and 
transportations restricted 
distribution.

 Dealers & distributors of some areas 
closed operations due to security 
concerns in the aftermath.

 Construction sites remained shut 
down following Avurudu as workers 
didn’t return from their hometowns 
due to security concerns.

2019

3  May to End December – Government 
delayed Payments of Contractors

 

dealers & distributors.

 Some smaller contractors went out 
of business.

 

4  End June to December – Extended 
Monsoon rains

 Delayed the construction activities 
in many areas.

 Cement consumption declined  

5  07th October to 07th December – 
Presidential Election

 7th October - Nominations called.

 16th November - Elections held.
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ECONOMIC REVIEW
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 
tasked in the lead up to the election 
which reduced their approvals 
and activities in the two months 
leading up to early December, 
delaying projects and domestic 
constructions.

 Government settlements were 
delayed during this period as well.

6  01st December to 15th December – 
Tax Revision followed by staggered 
sales

announced with 1 week to implement.

 NBT - removed

 

 A lag in communication of 
methodology to relevant 
government departments, delayed 
the implementation of the tax 
changes by corporates. 

 This confusion slowed purchasing 
by dealers & distributors, many of 

to be transferred to them. This 
attributed to 2 weeks of staggered 
sales.

 The Company announced the 
transfer of the entire VAT and NBT 

7  27th December – Maximum Retail 
Price - Revised

The Maximum Retail Price for 3 
categories of cement were gazetted.

 Imported Bag Cement -  

 Imported Bulk Cement -  

locally

 

8  01st January to 15th March – Rapid 
Increase in Sales 

 Peak seasonal consumption 
resumed from January to mid March.

 Construction work that was delayed 
due to extended monsoons restarted 
during this period. 

9  03rd March onwards – Parliament 
dissolved and announcement of 
Election date

 03rd March - President dissolves 
Parliament and announces General 
Elections date as 25th April.

 Government action virtually comes 
 

(up to 15th April).

 19th March - Elections postponed 
without announcing a new date due 
to COVID-19 pandemic.

 10th June – Extended the election 
date to 05th August, 2020.

10 10th March onwards – COVID-19 
Outbreak

 
positive.

11 19th March to 11th May - Island wide 
lockdown and curfew imposed.

 8th April onwards - Permission was 
granted to partially operate the 
factory subject to strict guidelines 
issued by the health authorities.

 11th May onwards - Curfew lifted 
during daytime in all districts except 
for Colombo & Gampaha Districts.

 26th May onwards - Curfew lifted 
during daytime in Colombo & 
Gampaha districts (after 66 days of 
complete lockdown and curfew).

12 15th April – Import Restrictions 
Gazetted

 As a measure to safeguard 
against currency depreciation, the 

imports of a wide range of items 
including Cement.

 Import of Bag Cement suspended 
for 3 months (Nevertheless, 

prior to 15th April, 2020).

 23rd April - Import of Bulk Cement 
permitted subject to a 6 month 
credit facility granted.

 Domestic Cement Manufacturers 
enhanced their respective capacity 
utilisation and thereby saved valuable 
foreign exchange to the country.

20202019
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DECLINE IN CEMENT CONSUMPTION, DESPITE MARGINAL GROWTH IN 
CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY

large-scale construction projects. Extension of the Southern Expressway, the Outer Circular 
Highway, and the rapid progress of the Central Expressway project ahead of the presidential 
election, in addition to the multiple condominium development projects largely contributed to 
the expansion in construction activities during the year. 

consumption. This was largely due to the import of building materials such as steel, glass, 
aluminium, tiles and accessories with diminishing rupee values against major currencies. 

 
in 2018.

 
same period, as shown in Graph 3 below.

Some Policy Measures Adopted by 
the Government in 2019/2020

 Value Added Tax (VAT): reduced 

01st December, 2019.

 Nation Building Tax (NBT): removed 
from 01st December, 2019.

 Maximum Retail Prices (MRP) of 
Cement revised as follows (with 

Cement Type/Origin Revised 
MRP per 

50 Kg

Cement manufactured in 
Sri Lanka

Rs. 1,005

Cement imported in bulk 
form and bagged in Sri 
Lanka

Rs. 950

Cement imported in 
bagged form

Rs. 930

Corporate Income Tax : revised as 

2020

 Standard Rate: reduced from 28% 
to 24%

 Construction Industry: reduced 
from 28% to 14%

 Manufacturing Industry: reduced 
from 28% to 18%

Import restrictions to mitigate foreign 

domestic value addition: 

government securities market, whilst 
negatively impacting earnings from tourism, 
export proceeds, and workers’ remittances. 
Amidst these developments, the government 
introduced urgent policy measures in 
April 2020 to mitigate the pressure in the 
domestic foreign exchange market. This 
included the suspension of the importation 
of quite a large number of non-essential 
consumer goods for a period of three months 

NATIONAL CEMENT CONSUMPTION BY LOCAL PRODUCTION & IMPORTS (Mn. MT)
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(at the time of this report, some of these measures have been extended). These products 
include a wide range of essential building materials which in turn should have an adverse 
impact on the Construction Industry.

These policy reforms in general have given some hope to the local manufacturing industry to 
enhance their production capacities and thereby save the nation of further foreign exchange 
expenditure.

Realised Local Production and Net Foreign Exchange Saving

Tokyo Cement has continuously invested in expansion of its local production capacity, from 
1.8 Mn MT in 2016 to 3.0 Mn MT in 2019. Yet, the average realised production during the 

comparison to importers of bag cement.

Nevertheless, the estimated Net Foreign Exchange savings made by the Company exceeds 
USD 50 Mn per year since 2016.

Unused Installed Capacity and Loss of 

The unutilised production capacity has 
been a major concern experienced by the 
cement manufacturers particularly since 

amount of valuable foreign exchange due to 
the underutilisation of installed capacity by 

MRP vs Exchange Rate

Despite some intermittent volatility as a 
result of global and domestic developments, 

in 2019 relative to the sharp depreciation 
observed in 2018. The exchange rate that 
remained relatively stable in 2020 up to 
the second week of March, underwent a 

the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, as 
experienced by other emerging markets and 
developing economies. The sharp decline 

the cost of imported materials for cement 
industry such as Clinker, Gypsum, bagging 
materials, and spare parts; thereby raising 
the cost of production. These movements 
are shown in Graph 6 below.. 

The unutilised production capacity 
has been a major concern for local 
cement manufacturers. The country 

valuable foreign exchange due to the 
underutilisation of installed capacity 
by domestic cement manufacturers. 
Assuming an 85% capacity 
utilisation, Tokyo Cement should 
have saved additional USD 25 Mn 
worth of foreign exchange in 2019. 

Loss of Foreign Exchange (USD Mn)
Unused Installed Capacity (Mn MT)

TOKYO CEMENT: UNUSED INSTALLED CAPACITY
& LOSS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE OUTFLOW 
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have saved additional USD 25 Mn worth of 
foreign exchange in 2019 as shown in Graph 5. 
Therefore, Tokyo Cement has the ability to save 
approximately USD 80 Mn to the nation (per 
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TOKYO CEMENT: VALUE CREATION

suppliers of materials and services (i.e. inbound logistics) and continue to add value with company production operations, distribution 
networks (i.e. outbound logistics), marketing and sales. In addition, the Company has also initiated numerous CSR programmes which create 

Suppliers

 Raw materials
 Fly Ash
 Dolomite
 Sand
 Aggregate metal
 Cement bags
 Gliricidia
 Paddy husk

 Equipment
 Service Providers

 Technology
 Consultancy
 Packaging
 

Marketing and Sales

 Advertising (Media Companies)
 Fostering Dealership Network
 Promotional Service Suppliers

Company Operations

 Product diversity
 Cement – many types
 Tile adhesives & Flooring
 
 

 
 Private Jetty (Trincomalee Port)
 Quality Control
 Ready Mix Concrete Batching Plants  

(11 Nos. island-wide)
 R & D Centre
 Permanent Employment (over 1,350)
 Net Foreign Exchange Savings  

Corporate Responsibility Projects

 Social Upliftment
 

 
 

 Community Trade Biomass Fuel 
Sourcing
 

 Environmental Conservation
 

Distributor Network

 Two Cement Terminals –  
(Colombo Port including Storage 
Facilities)

 
 Transport Providers  

 Storage Providers
 Dealers and Distributors  

(over 7,000)
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UNFAIR TRADING PRACTICES

The domestic cement manufacturers have 

However, they were unable to realise 
their full market potential due to certain 
unfair trading practices adopted in the 
cement market, particularly by importers 
of bag cement. Such unfair practices 
including foreign-subsidised, cheaper and 
sometimes sub-standard imports being 
channelled towards the local market in 

are unable to compete with such importers 
dumping cement in the absence of an 

appropriate anti-dumping levies. 

FUTURE OUTLOOK AND WAY FORWARD

The containment measures adopted 
since March 2020 to curb the COVID-19 
outbreak, have had a substantial adverse 
impact on economic progress, contrary 
to previous expectations of a rebound 
in economic growth. For instance, the 
declaration of lockdown, curfew, restricted 
public transport and other measures to 
contain human movement including the 
shutdown of shops, airports and seaports, 
have had an unavoidable negative impact on 
several key sectors of the economy. 

The socio-economic impact has been 
extensive, with the loss of income and 
livelihoods for a large segment of society. 
Accordingly, real GDP growth is expected 

before the economy recovers to attain its 
envisaged potential over the medium term. 
(Central Bank, Annual Report – 2019)

Further, global health policymakers are 
consistently raising concerns about possible 
‘second waves’ of the outbreak, thereby 
emphasising the need to maintain ‘physical 
distancing’ for several months after the 
abatement of the pandemic.

in combating the outbreak thus far, due 
to early measures adopted to contain the 
spread. However, the interplay of setbacks 
to domestic economic activity stemming 
from such containment measures and 

turbulences are likely to have a notable 

the year.

In the near term, the economy is likely 
to be impacted severely in terms of its 

performance, while causing hardships to all 
stakeholders of the economy.

The exchange rate movements in 2020 
are likely to remain susceptible to global 
developments related to the further spread 
of the pandemic in the period ahead.

Despite the setback in tourist arrivals 
in the aftermath of the Easter Sunday 
attacks, the tourism industry continued to 
attract notable investments in 2019. The 

Tourism Development Authority has granted 
approval for 59 hotel projects in 2019, with 
a collective capacity of 2,237 rooms.

Major international rating agencies, have 

rating. Fitch Ratings and S&P Global 

respectively. However, Moody’s Investors 
Service (Moody’s) maintained its ratings at 

its ability to withstand many tragic events, 

devastation by a Tsunami and the Easter 
Sunday attacks. Despite the gradual 
recovery, many global vulnerabilities, 
the latest being the COVID-19 pandemic 
are bound to impact the country’s 
tourism sector and other vital economic 
activities, such as the Construction Sector. 
Therefore, emergency preparedness from 
all perspectives, including macroeconomic 
policy, is vital in improving the country’s 
resilience to handle such unforeseen events, 
thereby minimising their adverse economic 
and social impact.

In this regard, the Government should 
introduce appropriate policy measures to 
encourage the domestic manufacturing 
sector such as Cement production giving 
due consideration to;

 Greater local value-addition

 Maximum capacity utilisation

 Import substitution

 Foreign exchange savings

 Protections against unfair trading 
practices.

The far-sighted economic stimulations 
currently advocated by the Government 

drive has lessened the burden on foreign 

boost in demand for locally manufactured 
products in an otherwise contracting 
consumption environment. It has given 

their operations and recover part of the 
large-scale infrastructure investments that 
are presently being heavily underutilised. 
However, in this tumultuous economic 
environment we implore the government to 
be consistent in policy and adaptive to the 
needs of local industry as we brace for the 
impacts of the ongoing pandemic. 

Dr. Nihal Samarappuli
Director - Economic Research

ECONOMIC REVIEW
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DESPITE MULTIPLE DISRUPTIONS, WE 
MAINTAINED STRATEGIC FOCUS ON THE 
OPERATIONAL TARGETS SET OUT FOR THE 
YEAR. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF MEASURES 
TAKEN TO IMPROVE OPERATIONAL 
MANAGEMENT EFFICACY IS EVIDENT 
IN THE COMMENDABLE FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE OF THE TOKYO CEMENT 
GROUP IN AN UNUSUALLY DIFFICULT YEAR. 

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

 Increased market adoption 
of Blended Hydraulic Cement 
resulted in improved sales 
contribution.  

 Adoption of a coastal shipment 
distribution model between the 
Factory in Trincomalee and the 
Colombo Port Terminal.

 Inauguration of the Tokyo Cement 
Group Centre of Technical 
Excellence in Trincomalee.

 Unifying the entire manufacturing 
process through the Central 
Control Room.

 Centralised Management of 
the  Western Region TOKYO  
SUPERMIX Vehicle Fleet.

 The Construction Research 
Centre and the Quality Assurance 
Laboratory at the Centre for 
Technical Excellence, played 
critical roles in new product 
development and product testing 

added dry mortar range.
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 Tokyo Cement's investor relations team participated in a few 
strategic investor events in support of driving Company's  
share value.

 

organised by Asia Securities, in February.

 All routine investor communications were conducted on time.

  Continuous quarterly communication to update brokerages and 

 The ongoing partnership with the Foundation of Goodness 
conducted 9 cricket coaching camps in the South and 6 in the 
North and East during the year, despite challenges in conducting 
regular sessions amidst security constraints.

 The Foundation of Goodness team conducted awareness 
campaigns targeting school children and community education 

conserving coral habitat.

 Social Media was used predominantly to engage with consumers 
and empower them with knowledge on real-life product usage 

 Demonstration videos on newly introduced Ready Mix Screed 
and advantages of Ready Mix Concrete against traditional hand 
mixed concrete were showcased at key events to promote best 
practices. 

 Special print advertising campaigns were developed for TOKYO 
SUPERBOND, TOKYO SUPERCAST and TOKYO SUPERMIX.

 Employed radio advertising to broadcast to targeted 

promote Tokyo Cement Brands and TOKYO SUPERMIX.

 The Annual Dealer Convention was transformed in to a fresh 
experience by hosting the top performers on a Factory Visit.

 The dealer meetings held in all sales regions were used as 
platforms to create awareness on new product usage and 
customer value.

 Successful sales promotion campaigns were carried out in 
partnership with regional distributors, maximising budgets and 
engagement.

 Dealer incentives and rewards were continued to motivate 
performance and reward brand loyalty

 
Technology Summit to stimulate knowledge sharing and  
innovation amongst the engineering fraternity. 

 Educational seminars were conducted for masons, technical 

programmes for army personnel were conducted at the A.Y.S. 
Gnanam Construction Training Academy

 The Company continued to maintain productive engagements 
with strategic industry bodies such as;
 The Ceylon Chamber of Commerce
 The Chamber of Construction Industries
 The Ceylon Institute of Builders
 

 Strengthened the long-standing corporate partnership with The 
Society of Structural Engineers for the fourth consecutive year.

 Main sponsor of a seminar organised by the Chamber of 

potential of the industry.

 Platinum Sponsor of the Forestry and Environmental Symposium 
organised by the Department of Forestry and Environmental 
Science of the University of Sri Jayewardenepura.

 

 Sponsored technical session on ‘Conserving Coastal 
Biodiversity’ at the Annual Technical Sessions of the Association 

Conference.

SHAREHOLDERS

RESEARCH AND EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTE

COMMUNITY

INDUSTRY BODIES AND PROFESSIONALS

CUSTOMERS

DEALERS AND DISTRIBUTORS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 The supply chain was optimised to source raw materials at a 
global scale at competitive rates, whilst maintaining the highest 
quality standards.

SUPPLIERS

Please refer the CSR Overview for additional details on 
these activities.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operating Environment

The MRP revision on bag cement in 
February 2019 created a large retail price 

locally manufactured cement was Rs. 1,095 
per bag, imports were retailing at Rs. 995, 
and imported bag cement was retailing at 
Rs. 960. This allowed small bag importers 
and some bulk importers to increase their 
market share based on price sensitivity.

on an inauspicious note particularly 
for the construction sector, with Easter 
Sunday bombings further disrupting 
markets, compounding on the prevailing 
unfavourable conditions from the previous 
year. The heightened security procedures 
and the re-introduction of security 

checkpoints curtailed transportation 
and access to some markets, with the 
intermittent curfews imposed in certain 
parts of the country delaying and 
sometimes halting any ongoing construction 
work. The external situation did not improve 

the year progressed. During the run-up 
to presidential elections, approvals 
and documentation from Government 
institutions were delayed, which delayed 
national projects and even small domestic 
construction activities. The industry 

problems as Government settlements were 
delayed by months. 

As Parliament was dissolved after the 
presidential election, outstanding payments 
and maintenance settlements could 
not be obtained without Parliamentary 
approval. The extended delay in payment 
to contractors for large scale projects had 

It impacted retailers, distributors, and all 
the way up to manufacturers. The severity 

to mid range contractors to close business, 
and larger contractors were saddled with 
considerable debt, limiting liquidity and 

sector was further battered by bad 
weather. In some areas, the monsoon rains 
continued from end of June to December, 
which delayed work and reduced project 
productivity. 

of the VAT and NBT slash created a great 
sense of relief within the already highly 
stressed industry. However, neither the 
truncated timeline nor the methodology 
for execution of these tax concessions was 
clearly communicated, creating a confusion 
in the market. Due to the lack of clarity, 
distributors and retailers temporarily 
paused purchasing and redistributing 

reduction be transferred to them. This 
caused sales to become highly erratic for 
a few weeks. On a positive note, cement 

reduction to customers. 

emergence of COVID-19 pandemic in Sri 

a complete drop in consumption due to sites 
being shut down and workers returning to 
their hometowns in anticipation of curfews 
and lockdowns. This is typically the time in 
which the Company registers the highest 
sales for the year. However, the entire 
country then proceeded into a state of 

activities. 

Performance of Tokyo Cement 

Given this exceptionally challenging external 
context, with the recommencement of 
economic activities, the Company rallied 
its Team to regain lost time and business. 
And, we are happy to report a remarkable 
performance by The Tokyo Cement Team 
that enabled us to close the year by 
anchoring our leadership position as the 
largest manufacturer of cement and concrete 

Despite multiple disruptions, the Group 
maintained strategic focus and continued 
to align with the operational targets set out 
for the year. Steadfast focus on streamlining 

launch of a sea-based transportation 
model, between the Factory in Trincomalee 
and the Colombo Port Terminal, as an 
alternative to the more costlier traditional 

Given this exceptionally challenging 
context, with the recommencement 
of economic activities the Company 
rallied its team to regain lost time 
and business. We are happy to 
report a remarkable performance 
by The Tokyo Cement Team that 
enabled us to close the year by 
anchoring our leadership position as 
the largest manufacturer of cement 
and concrete in Sri Lanka.

Composition of TOKYO SUPER BHC in the market mix helped maintain the growth momentum
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chains were regularly reviewed to improve 

increasing foreign exchange risk. The 

performance of the Tokyo Cement Group in 

key operational improvements are described 
below. 

• Managing the foreign exchange impact 

The supply chain was optimised to 
source raw materials at a global scale 
at competitive rates, whilst maintaining 
the highest quality standards in order to 
minimise foreign exchange impact. Another 
foreign exchange saving measure was to 
reduce the import of bulk cement as a 

plant utilisation. Finally, the greater market 
adoption of Blended Hydraulic Cement; 
which uses locally sourced Fly Ash as a 
substitute, resulted in the gradual decrease 
of imported clinker usage.

• Introducing the coastal-shipment 
distribution model 

came with the adoption of coastal shipping 
of cement from the Trincomalee Factory 
to the Colombo Port Terminal. Forming 
strategic links between the Colombo Terminal 
and on-land distribution routes, resulted in 

from the production line, directly into the 
bulk cement vessel. Cement is then shipped 
to the Colombo Terminal for repacking and 

costs, sea transportation also increased 
Trincomalee plant utilisation, thereby 
generating a competitive advantage for Tokyo 
Cement when accessing the largest consumer 

the country. 

• Optimising Blended Hydraulic Cement 
(BHC) production and marketing

Hydraulic Cement (BHC), which was a fairly 
unfamiliar product in the market a few 

years ago, has become a star performer in 

thereby maintaining competitiveness. A Fly 
Ash separator was added to increase the 
production capacity of BHC. This process 
enhancement increased the capacity of 

Tokyo Cement to retain its title as the 
country’s largest manufacturer of cement 
and concrete. 

Fly Ash, a by-product of local coal power 
generation, is a key ingredient of BHC. By 
recycling Fly Ash, we have considerably 

raw material costs, while contributing to 
reduce the environmental impact. 

During the year we focused on boosting 
our marketing and engineering teams’ 
technical knowledge as a key driver to 
educate the market on the advantages of 
BHC. By doing so, we reached our highest 
product mix percentage of BHC sales, which 

margin.

plant utilisation 

Unifying the entire manufacturing process, 
including logistics, power generation, 
production and maintenance, via the 
state-of-the-art Central Control Room 
(CCR); situated at the Centre for Technical 
Excellence in Trincomalee, resulted in a 

Centralised management of the factory 
operations meant greater plant utilisation as 
a result of reduced unplanned maintenance 
events.

• TOKYO SUPERMIX Central Vehicle Yard 

under a central management system, that 
dispatches and monitors the movement of 
mixing trucks and pump cars from a single 
location. Further, centralised maintenance 
and administration considerably reduced 

the logistic assets.

• Capacity expansion at the Colombo 
Terminal 

Tokyo Cement is in the process of expanding 
storage capacity at the Colombo Port 
Terminal by constructing extra silos and 

year, the project is on track to commission 
the additional storage space by December 
2020.

Performance of TOKYO SUPERMIX 

TOKYO SUPERMIX, the country’s largest 
Ready-Mix Concrete supply network 
with 11 ready mix plants with a total 

3 per hour, 

of our readiness to accommodate the 
anticipated growth in demand. However, 
the demand contracted during the year and 

year-on-year. Institutional demand, which 
comprise the major component of Ready 
Mix sales, contracted due to lack of project 
funds and delays in fund transfers due to 
greater scrutiny of foreign funds. Further, 
production was interrupted due to sand and 
aggregate shortages during curfew, with 
price hikes stemming from shortages.

In the above scenario, TOKYO SUPERMIX 

as average credit period doubled from 
the previous 60 days to 120 days, and 
in some cases to 180 days. This was due 
to small to mid-range contractors and 
foreign-owned construction companies 
delaying settlements, most linked to delays 
in government payments. Consequently, 
suppliers were forced to carry larger 

Tokyo Cement transferred the entire 

and NBT revision by the Government 
(implemented in December) to 
the consumers, with the intention 

capturing market share.
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outstanding balances for longer periods. 
The Kandy Ready Mix plant in particular 
underwent external disruptions due to 
land disputes, that are now resolved. This 
saddled TOKYO SUPERMIX with additional 
investments, expenses, lost manpower 
and capacity utilisation, associated with 
an unproductive facility. The Company 
estimates a volume loss of 20,000 m3 for 
the year due to the stoppage at the plant.

improvement initiatives within the Group, 
that enabled cost reductions and tighter 

integration of cement and aggregates 
from the parent company, which enabled 
TOKYO SUPERMIX to meet orders on time 
and at a competitive price. The centrally 
administered vehicle yard model also 

The Company’s vehicle assets include 
121 mixer trucks, 16 pump cars and 3 
stationary pumps. In addition, value-
driven engineering designs, training, and 
knowledge sharing across plants resulted in 

successful implementation of inter-plant 
design competitions contributed towards 
team building and new technological 
developments. 

Although overall market 
demand from both domestic 
and industrial sectors 
contracted over the year, market 
development activities, including 
awareness and training 
programmes were continued 
to maintain mindshare and 
engagement with the Tokyo 
Cement family of brands.

This includes over 250 sub-variation 
mix designs that have the capability to 
comply with more sophisticated standard 
requirements in terms of strength, 

selection criteria. Driven by the subsidiary’s 
innate ability to develop out-of-the-box 
solutions in concreting technology, during 

introduced Shotcrete to the market which 
was received with great enthusiasm. 

Maintaining its leadership position in the 
industry, TOKYO SUPERMIX also contributed 
to enhance the body of knowledge by 
conducting lectures for universities, 

other industry bodies on trends and designs 
in concreting technology. TOKYO SUPERMIX 
quality controllers and engineers made 
presentations at engineering events, where 
practical experiences were shared with 
undergraduates, engineers and academics. 
In addition, an awareness campaign was 
carried out on the advantages of selecting 
ready mix concrete as opposed to hand-mix 
concrete, targeted at the domestic sector.

MARKETING AND SALES

Although overall market demand from both 
domestic and industrial sectors contracted 
over the year, market development 
activities, including awareness and 
training programmes were continued to 
maintain mindshare and engagement 
with consumers. Through targeted and 

SUPER Blended Hydraulic Cement gained 
market recognition, as demonstrated in a 
considerable shift in product mix towards 
BHC from the more established Ordinary 
Portland Cement. 

Tokyo Cement transferred the entire price 

revision by the Government (implemented 
in December) to the consumers, with the 
intention of increasing market share.

In an unpredictable year, promotional 
emphasis was placed on point of sale and 
retailer promotions to gain consumer 
attention and create a market pull for our 
products. The Tokyo Cement masonry 
training programmes were expanded to 
upgrade industry knowledge on innovative 
products among masons, who are key 

the household sector. In addition, pocket 
meetings and awareness programmes were 
conducted for engineers and technical 
professionals, while strategic sponsorships 
and lectures at engineering forums were 
continued to enhance overall industry 
awareness of Tokyo Cement strengths. 

TOKYO SUPERMIX gains several distinctive competitive advantages from vertical integration
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Stakeholder Engagements

Customers

The strategic decision to shift our internal 
customer orientation into value driven 
engagements, adopted from last year, 
started to bear fruit for all business 

had more customers approaching us for 
unbiased consultations; not only on our 
product portfolio but also on various other 
construction related topics. 

on the ground, the number of inquiries 
we receive via the social media channels 
saw a remarkable increase during the 
year in review. This trend gained great 
momentum during the country lockdown, 

opportunity to extensively use our social 
media outlets to create product awareness 

lead to a vast expansion of our customer 
outreach.

Mass Media Advertising

 In terms of Print media, special print 
campaigns were conducted for TOKYO 
SUPERBOND, TOKYO SUPERCAST 
and TOKYO SUPERMIX on mainstream 
media, while TOKYO SUPER, NIPPON 
CEMENT, TOKYO SUPERMIX and the 
Value-Added Products were advertised 
on the prominent corporate magazines 
on a rotational basis.

 This year, special emphasis was 

of radio advertising in reaching all 
consumer segments, which led us to 
deploy a series of radio campaigns for 
the Cement brands, and for TOKYO 
SUPERMIX.

 Cinema advertising was done during 

coupled with a competition on social 
media.

Advertising on Key Sporting Events

 This year too, we built on the strong 
brand association NIPPON CEMENT 
and TOKYO SUPER have with Sports, by 

who had broadcasting rights.

 
campaigns were carried on Papare.com, during the Schools Big Match Season.

Exclusive Sponsorships

 Tokyo Cement Group was the main sponsor of the Tennis Tournament organised by the 

 
renowned Japanese virtuoso violinist Midori, in aid of the Chamber Music Society of 
Colombo’s Education Fund.

 As part of the ongoing partnership with The Foundation of Goodness, 9 cricket coaching 
camps in the South and 6 camps in the North and East were conducted; despite multiple  
challenges faced during this year, aimed at unearthing school cricket champions from 

Southern Cricket Coaching Camp held at Hikkaduwa MCC Lords
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 Construct 2019 Exhibition

 Buildex 2019 Exhibition – Maldives

 

 Architects 2020 Exhibition

Construct 2019 Exhibition held at the BMICH

Grounds in January

Construct 2019 Exhibition held at the BMICH

Social Media and Digital Marketing

 Social media and other online channels 
became key communication platforms 
during the COVID-19 social distancing 
era and Tokyo Cement had established 
active stakeholder engagements 
through these digital formats. By the 
onset of the lockdown, the Company 
had already successfully adapted 
Facebook and Instagram as awareness 
raising platforms to educate consumers 

Cement Value Added Products range in 

through these platforms. 

 Throughout the year we maximised 
the reach of our Facebook, Instagram 
and YouTube channels, to get closer 
to a larger, yet more focused target 
audience. Facebook competitions 

gained greater audience engagement.

 The Tokyo Cement YouTube channel 
was instrumental in empowering the 
end users with product knowledge 

platform’s ability to reach very focused 
target consumer groups, we used this 
digital marketing channel to expand our 
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Product Usage Instructions Videos

 
for all Value-Added Products, along with awareness videos for TOKYO SUPERMIX Ready 
Mix Concrete and Ready-Mix Screed Mortar. These videos were pitched at focused 
consumer groups on Facebook, allowing better customer reach that helped boost up-
selling and cross-selling potential of the Value-Added Products range.

Winning multiple accolades for the Green Commitment

was winning the Silver Award in the Chemical Industries Category, at the Presidential 
Environmental Award 2019 ceremony organised by the Central Environmental Authority 
(CEA). The second award was Tokyo Cement Group’s Centre for Technical Excellence being 

®

Tokyo Cement won the Silver Award in the Chemical Industries Category, at the Presidential 
Environmental Awards 2019 organised by the Central Environmental Authority (CEA)

The Centre for Technical Excellence is accredited with GREENSL® Platinum Label from the Green 
Building Council of Sri Lanka (GBCSL)

These honours are the latest nods of 
approval received by the Cement Giant for 
our unwavering commitment to enrich and 
conserve the environment through multiple 
sustainability initiatives, both at operational 
level and as part of our corporate 
responsibility.

Trade Community

Tokyo Cement Group transformed this 
year’s Annual Dealer Convention in to 
an unforgettable experience for the top 
performers, by coupling it with a detailed 
Factory Tour. 159 winners of last year’s 
dealer competition walked away with prizes 
at this memorable get-together held for the 

Trincomalee. 

the Grand Prize for Best Dealer 2019. 
Ancheneyer Cement & Hardware Dealers 
(Batticaloa) and National Trading Stores 
(Kurunegala) won 1st and 2nd Runner Up 
positions respectively, during an elegant 
function held at the newly inaugurated 
Centre for Technical Excellence at the heart 
of Tokyo Eastern Cement Factory.

Tokyo Cement Group transformed 
this year’s Annual Dealer Convention 
into an unforgettable experience 
for the top performers, by coupling 
it with a detailed Factory Tour. 
159 winners of last year’s dealer 
competition walked away with prizes 

birthplace in Trincomalee.
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Top three winners of the Annual Dealer Convention 2019

The dealers had the rare opportunity to 
follow the entire cement manufacturing 
process, from the point of clinker unloading 
from a bulk cargo vessel at our private jetty 
in Cod Bay, to the point of bagged cement 
being loaded to a transport trailer. The tour 

witnesses of the cutting-edge production 
process and stringent quality controls 
practiced by the Company, giving them the 

Cement.

Professional Segments

Industry Bodies

The Company continued to maintain 
productive engagements with strategic 
industry bodies that allowed us to be in sync 
with the changing dynamics. This included 
membership in;

 The Ceylon Chamber of Commerce

 The Chamber of Construction Industries

 The Ceylon Institute of Builders

 

Tokyo Cement paid special emphasis 
on enriching our involvement with the 
professional communities during the last 

include conducting skill building seminars 

programmes for Army personnel were 
also conducted at the A.Y.S. Gnanam 
Construction Training Academy.

Strategic Partnership with The Society of 
Structural Engineers Sri Lanka (SSE-SL)

Tokyo Cement continued the long-standing 

fourth consecutive year with the objective of 
facilitating world-class knowledge sharing 
among engineers, who play a critical role 
in the country’s growth and development 
agenda.

Tokyo Cement Group was the Sole Sponsor 

attended by over 200 delegates comprising 
of engineers, consultants, developers 
and undergraduates from all leading 
universities. 



56 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

Tokyo Cement Group was the Sole Sponsor of the Annual Sessions 2019 of SSE-SL, attended by 
over 200 delegates

Participants at the Seminar organised by The CCI

Dr. Michael Henry delivering the Keynote at the SSE-SL Annual Sessions 2020

Seminar by The CCI

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Renowned engineering researcher Dr. Michael Henry, Associate Professor at the Faculty of 
Engineering of Hokkaido University in Sapporo, Japan was sponsored exclusively by Tokyo 
Cement Group, to deliver the event’s Keynote.

Additionally, Tokyo Cement also sponsored 

during 2019. Each forum was participated 
by over 150 Engineering undergraduates 
and professionals, who had the opportunity 
to gain insights on a variety of themes in 

Principal Sponsor of ‘For Construction 
in Sri Lanka, What Next?’ Seminar by the 
Chamber of Construction Industry (CCI)

Tokyo Cement Group was the main sponsor 

Next?’, held in November at the Galadari. 
The Event had over 200 participants 
representing all sectors of the industry; 
including leading service providers, major 
contractors, engineering consultants, top 
academics and undergraduates in civil 
and structural engineering, city planners 
and government policy makers, and 
representatives of construction sector 
professional bodies.

Tokyo Cement paid special emphasis 
on enriching our involvement with 
the professional communities during 

key highlights include conducting 
skill building seminars for masons, 

contractors.
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event organised by Biodiversity Sri Lanka

The event discussed the future potential 
for construction, with reference to the 
National Physical Development Plan; such 

Rail Transit System, and other foremost 
private sector projects in the country. It 
also evaluated the challenges faced by 
industry players due to various policy level 
boundaries and their readiness to meet 
future demands in terms of capital, labour 
and operational expansion.

The event provided a great opportunity 
to showcase Tokyo Cement’s market 
readiness, by highlighting the unmatched 
quality, production capacity, and 
technological advancements in our 
manufacturing process.

Facilitating Environmental Consciousness

In line with our commitment to facilitate 
environmentally conscious business 
practices among the local corporate sector, 
Tokyo Cement became;

 
Day commemoration event organised by 

 
International Forestry and 
Environment Symposium organised 
by the Department of Forestry and 
Environmental Science of the University 
of Sri Jayewardenepura

 Main Sponsor of the 1st Research 
Symposium of the Ocean University of 

 Sponsor of Technical Sessions on 
‘Conserving Coastal Biodiversity’ at 
the Annual Technical Sessions of the 
Association for Tropical Biology and 

Regional Conference

Grand Opening of Tokyo Cement Centre 
for Technical Excellence 

The Tokyo Cement Centre for Technical 
Excellence, which houses the technical 
operations, R&D facilities and quality 
control operations of the entire local 
manufacturing process of Tokyo Cement 
Group, was inaugurated in July in 

The Central Control Room (CCR) 

the entire manufacturing process 
including the four cement mills, 
two Biomass Power Plants, the 
integrated jetty and the storage 
system, enabling smarter 
management of the complete 
production cycle.

Trincomalee. The Centre was declared 

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC, Chairman, and Mr 
S.R. Gnanam – Managing Director of Tokyo 
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Inauguration of The Tokyo Cement Centre for Technical Excellence

The Tokyo Cement Centre for Technical Excellence

The Central Control Room at the Centre for 
Technical Excellence

Educational spaces within The Centre for 
Technical Excellence enrich the tour of  

The Centre for Technical Excellence creates 
greater awareness on our conservation initiatives

guidance to set up the technical centre; fully geared with hi-tech laboratory and quality 
assurance facilities, to back Tokyo Cement’s cutting-edge manufacturing operation.

process including the four cement mills, two Biomass Power Plants, the integrated jetty and the 
storage system, enabling smarter management of the complete production cycle. The Centre also 

Designed with a minimal environmental 
footprint, The Centre has multiple 

enhance its environmental performance. In 
consideration of these environment friendly 
building features, the Tokyo Cement Centre 
for Technical Excellence was awarded the 
GREEN®

Equipped to provide educational information 
on Tokyo Cement’s core operations and 
its corporate responsibility initiatives, The 
Centre also acts as an educational space for 
visitors to Tokyo Eastern Cement Factory.

BUILD BEYOND 2019 and BUILD BEYONDX 

Emerging Engineering Summit, organised 
with the objective of creating an Industry-
Academia partnership to stimulate 
knowledge sharing, was held in August 2019. 
A distinguished speaker panel, representing 
both local and international academia and 

applied knowledge among Civil Engineering 
undergraduates and professionals from the 
state and private sector.

Tokyo Cement launched a second series 
of engineering conferences themed 
‘ X’, that will be held at each 
University or at the Tokyo Cement Centre 
for Technical Excellence, as part of our 
strategy to create more responsive, direct 

were able to conduct three Build BeyondX 

consideration.
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TOKYO CEMENT QUALITY STANDARDS 

Tokyo Cement maintains international 
standards across all production facilities, 

friendly manufacturing standards to deliver 
superior products to local consumers. 

accreditations were renewed in-time to 
ensure a fully functional quality control 
system across all manufacturing facilities of 
the Group. 

In addition, Tokyo Cement is fully compliant 
with Central Environmental Authority 
directives and regulations and has renewed 
all licenses. The Group did not face any 

delayed compliance with any applicable 
environmental regulation during the year. 

A testament to our commitment to quality 
includes having the only ISO 17025 
accredited laboratory in the country for 
cement and concrete testing and mobile 
laboratories for testing concrete at 
construction sites.

Tokyo Cement Quality Systems 

ISO 9001: 2015

 Tokyo Cement Factory in Trincomalee 

 11 Ready-Mix Concrete plants 

 

Participants of BUILD BEYONDX Summit during their tour of the Centre 
for Technical Excellence

Participants at the inaugural BUILD BEYOND 2019 Emerging Engineering 
Technology Summit

ISO 14001: 2015

 Tokyo Cement Factory in Trincomalee 

 

ISO 17025 : 2005 (by the Sri Lanka 
Accreditation Board)

 Tokyo Cement laboratory in Trincomalee 

 Tokyo Cement R&D laboratory

Central Environmental Authority licenses

 Tokyo Cement Factory in Trincomalee 

 All 11 Ready-Mix Concrete plants 

 

 

GREEN MARK (SINGAPORE) (For 
environmental friendly manufacturing)

 TOKYO SUPER Blended Hydraulic Cement

FACILITIES

The Construction Research Centre

The Construction Research Centre (CRC), 
the fully equipped R&D facility provides 
external consultation services, in addition 
to being an independent product testing 
laboratory for cement, concrete and 
cement-based products for not only the 
Tokyo Cement Group but also for other 
industry players.

played a key role in ensuring consistent 
quality standards of the wide range of 
Tokyo Cement products and also led the 
Company’s research and development drive.

Contribution of the CRC to maintain Tokyo 
Cement’s superior product quality is 
evident across all phases of the production 
process. It starts with quality controlling of 
input materials such as clinker, sand and 
aggregate that goes in to the production of 
cement and value-added products.

The CRC plays an important role in the 
TOKYO SUPERMIX Ready Mix Concrete 
production process, which includes 
continuous testing of aggregate samples  
to ensure strict adherence to standards of 
grading and blending. This is imperative 
in producing sophisticated concrete mix 
designs that comply with individual project 

During the production phase, CRC conducts 
continuous tests on cement samples 
from the factory and the market, to attest 
consistent quality of our products by 
identifying and notifying the factory of any 
deviations. Similar sample tests are carried 
out to generate standard compliance 
reports for customer projects. 

External Consultation Services

The CRC places its hi-tech laboratory 
at the disposal of the local construction 
industry by providing independent product 
testing and design services for other 
manufacturers. The latest world-class 
testing methodologies available at the CRC 
allows the lab to carryout independent 
tests on the ability of other cement brands 

standards and support design activities.
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CRC’s capability of becoming an unbiased industry consultant was attested with its 

for the Colombo Port City Project as its primary concrete supplier. This also included 

tune design elements for contractors and third-party concrete suppliers. 

The team of chemistry graduates and material scientists at the CRC readily share their 
knowledge and practical expertise with internal teams and at external forums, with the 
objective of enhancing the body of knowledge of the industry. Special training programmes 

and cement-based products, while Quality Controllers at the SUPERMIX plants were provided 
trainings on new mix designs, processes and testing methodologies. 

The CRC team also conducted lectures and developed educational material for engineers, 

in cement, concrete and manufactured sand.

Cement Compressive Strength Testing

Concrete Slump Testing

Concrete Initial Surface Absorption Testing

Concrete Drying Shrinkage Testing

Research and Development 

The CRC plays a vital role in new product 
development by providing essential research 
and technical advisory services. The CRC 
supported the local construction industry by 
assisting in the development of Expansive 
Concrete, and Shotcrete; introduced for 

of existing products, for performance 
improvements that boost end-user value, 
such as in re-engineering the Cellular 
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The Laboratory conducts training sessions for Tokyo Cement personnel, customers and other 
industry stakeholders, as part of its mandate.

Services provided by The Laboratory includes compliance testing and grading of raw materials

The CRC Team’s deep involvement in new 
product development will culminate with 
the introduction of a range of new products 

of these revolutionary products and novel 
construction solutions include; 

 A 2K (two-component) ready-to-use 

 Development of ultrathin membrane, 1K 

crack bridging properties

 Construction Repair Grout for concrete 
structures

 The Premium Tile Adhesive with enhanced 
adhesive properties specially formulated 

category that is currently dominated by 
imported products in the market.

 
for better adhesion and spreadability

Laboratory at The Centre for Technical 
Excellence

The ISO 9001 & and ISO 17025 accredited 
laboratory located at the newly inaugurated 
Centre for Technical Excellence plays a 
pivotal role in enhancing Tokyo Cement 
Group’s commitment to maintain superior 
product quality. In tandem with the CRC in 
Colombo, they perform all standard tests on 
raw materials, cement and concrete mixes 
against international quality parameters and 

at the Centre for Technical Excellence 
has earned a reputation as a reliable 
independent testing facility to validate and 
attest product quality and performance. 

Challenge to encourage TOKYO SUPERMIX 

better performing mix designs. 

Adding value to the cement sector, this 

Training and Educational Services

personnel, customers and other industry stakeholders. Training programmes were conducted 
for Quality Controllers and Plant Managers of Ready Mix Concrete plants and marketing 
personnel to improve their awareness on quality standards and testing facilities.

The auditorium at The Centre is used to conduct training sessions for university students, 

conducted with great success for contractors and engineers. Especially during the Dealer 

highest levels of quality standards adopted by the Tokyo Cement’s production process.

Laboratory Services 

The laboratory services provided at the Centre for Technical Excellence are not limited to 
the Group, but are also available to the wider domestic construction industry to facilitate the 
provision of best engineering solutions that build our nation. 
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A key component in establishing the 

starts with multiple levels of Accuracy 
Testing to attest its standard compliance. 
To maintain its independent and unbiased 
industry representation, a series of 
stringent measurements are in place to 
ensure the testing services are provided 
with utmost accuracy and precision. By 
working closely with standardised governing 
bodies and competent authoritative 

that the latest and most accurate standard 

service is deployed and adhered to. 

and motivational support to uphold the 
reputation of the Testing Facility aligned to 
global standards. 

The Testing Services provided by 

characteristics testing and grading of raw 
materials, product sample testing, and 
random quality checks of in-house products 

services to other players in the Industry. 

and marketing teams to assure product 
quality. They also provide independent 
product testing services to other 
concrete manufacturers and customers 
by conducting various tests on concrete 
mix designs as well as on already cured 
concrete samples delivered by other parties.

by working with the RMC Quality Control 

design and develop customised concrete 
mixes and special application concrete 
mixes, supported with tests to ensure 
product performance.

HARNESSING MODERN TECHNOLOGIES 

Tokyo Cement is on a strategic 
modernisation drive to uplift its cement 
manufacturing process to international 
standards. By now the Company has 
successfully automated most of its 
manufacturing operations at the Tokyo 
Eastern Cement Factory, transitioned 
all administrative functions onto digital 
systems, and further extended the 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system 
to digitally integrate the entire Group. 

Central Control Room (CCR)

year, the CCR in Trincomalee connected 

control facility. 

The centralised smart management of 
these functions have dramatically reduced 
overheads, as a few skilled operators 
can manage multiple production lines 
simultaneously, compared to managing 
dispersed control units. Supervision and 
monitoring plant operations is made 
easier and accurate with access to better 
analytical tools, which has resulted in 
improved product quality. Maintenance 
management is also made easier through 
centralised overview, which eliminates 
disruptions to the manufacturing process. 

and improving their skills and competencies, 
by managing multiple production lines using 
sophisticated technology.

ERP System 

The Tokyo ERP system is a customised 
software solution specially designed 
by taking in to account the large-scale 
manufacturing facilities and geographically 
dispersed operations. It links all business 
processes, with real time visibility and 
control over all operations across the 
Group’s companies.

deployment, the communication between 

the current year, the objective was to 
facilitate better management decision 
making, by shifting from historical to 
real-time data, for dynamic, market driven 
decision making.

HR Integration

The ERP was further integrated with human 
resource administration of the Group, 
by developing mobile applications that 

apply for leave online, and for managers 
to track movements of employees. GPS 
tracking systems were introduced for sales 

engagement. 

Digital Communications

The infrastructure to facilitate video 

and came in extremely useful for business 
continuity during the COVID-19 lockdowns.

System Security

Given the increasingly sophisticated nature 
of Tokyo Cement’s digital systems, data 
security is a priority for the Company at 
all times. During the year, a number of 
measures were implemented to enhance 

of all main system servers were compiled, 
together with automated backups of 
endpoint data backups. Centralised onsite 
server facilities were formalised and placed 
under reinforced security protocols. The 
Company also subscribed to third party 
continuous security auditing, for an 
additional layer of security and upgraded 
to cloud-based virus guards in order to 
safeguard remote working employees.

Future Tech Focus 

Tokyo Cement is on track to introduce 
paperless payments by integrating with 
bank systems. The Company is also 
planning to centralise quality control 
data and increase the adoption of video 
conferencing and remote working by 
upgrading necessary hardware and software 
to facilitate business continuity. 

The Testing Services provided 
by The Laboratory includes 
compliance characteristics testing 
and grading of raw materials, 
product sample testing, and 

products as well as providing 

to other players in the Industry.
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The ultimate objective is to create a fully 
digitally integrated Group of companies that 

trends. 

EMPOWERING THE TOKYO CEMENT 
TEAM

As a responsible corporate citizen, Tokyo 
Cement has taken all recommended 
measures to prevent the spread of 
COVID-19, as the Group resumed 
operations. All COVID-19 health and 
safety guidelines recommended by the 
Health Authorities and Government, were 
introduced in all locations of Tokyo Cement 
operations. These measures include 
temperature checks, sanitizing and personal 
hygiene procedures.

Tokyo Cement Employee Policy

As an equal opportunity employer, Tokyo 
Cement does not discriminate employment 
opportunities or employee growth 
opportunities, based on any demographic. 
Competitive remuneration packages and 

statutory requirements, are made available 
for employees. Formal systems are in place 
for recruitment, performance evaluation and 
rewarding employees to ensure recruitment 
and growth opportunities based on merit and 
the Company invests annually on training and 
development opportunities for employees. 

Compliance Status

The Tokyo Cement Group is fully compliant 

Factories Ordinance and did not face any 

review for non-compliance, or delays in 
compliance, with any applicable labour 
regulations. All statutory employee dues 
have been paid in full and on time, including 
EPF and ETF payments and gratuity 
payments. 

There have been no material issues 
pertaining to employees and industrial 
relations of the Company and the Group 
during the year.

The total employee base of the Tokyo Cement Group was 1,381 as at end March 2020. 
TOKYO SUPERMIX is the largest employer of the Group with 615 permanent employees  
in total. 

Group workforce as at end of year 31.03.2020

Company Non 
Executives

Executives Non 
Executives

Executives

379 108 273 95

65 9 65 9

161 9 153 10

8

549 66 532 62

30 5 29 6

Total 1,184 197 1,086 190

Key HR Management improvements in 
2019/20 

 Human Resource policies and 
procedures were introduced covering 
key subject areas.

 The HRIS Mobile Application was 

attendance and leave management. It 
allows greater administrative controls on 
employee travel and immediate locations. 

 

including attendance management, 
leave management and payroll for non-
executives.

 A company-wide photo identity data 
base for non-executive employees was 
developed and uploaded to the HRIS.

 
automated and upgraded to an online 
process that was linked to the HRIS. 

 
to the payroll was introduced company-
wide.

 A company-wide Performance Appraisal 

in 2019.

 Secured pre-printed and sealed pay 

for non-executive employees.

Training and education

As the Tokyo Cement Group evolves rapidly, 
gaining brand recognition and expanding 
its market, upgrading employee skills and 
competencies is crucial to meet corporate 
objectives. Therefore, employee education 
and training remained a priority during 
the year and a full training calendar was 
deployed, with a wide range of educational 
activities that included;

 A seminar on ‘Personality Improvement’ 
 

 A training programme on ‘Achieving 
Excellence in Customer Service’ for 
customer facing personnel.

 TOKYO SUPERMIX Ready Mix Concrete 
sales team was exposed to a training 
titled ‘Be Bold to do Sales’, aimed at 
improving salesmanship. 

 An awareness programme was held 
at the Peliyagoda Central Vehicle 

Police, which focused on the importance 
of maintaining road discipline and how 
to be a good driver.

 Plant Managers and Quality Controllers 
of TOKYO SUPERMIX Ready Mix Concrete 
plants participated in a motivational 
training, as part of an ongoing soft skills 
development program.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 

building and technology transfer.

Employee Well-being

Physical health of employees impact 
performance and also mental well-being. 
Therefore, the Company contracted a 

In another wellness initiative, all light and 
heavy vehicle drivers were given vision tests 
conducted by a professional optician.

Employee Welfare

Annual trips for all employees were 
arranged and made available to all 
employees and their families.

Two long serving employees, who left the 
organisation, were formally appreciated 
and rewarded by the Chairman, Managing 
Director and management. 

The Company nominated senior managers 
to participate in a workshop on motivation 
and well-being at the Foundation for 

Motivational training for TOKYO SUPERMIX

TOKYO SUPERMIX team at the 'Be Bold' 
training session

A physical training session in progress

Safe driving awareness session conducted 
at the Peliyagoda Yard

TOKYO SUPERMIX Annual Trip
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CSR OVERVIEW

DURING THE YEAR IN DISCUSSION, 
WE FOCUSED ON CONSOLIDATING OUR 
EFFORTS ON THE MOST IMPORTANT 
ASPECTS OF OUR BUSINESS, AS WELL 
AS OUR SOCIO-ENVIRONMENTAL 
RESPONSIBILITY AS THE NO.1 CEMENT AND 
CONCRETE MANUFACTURER IN SRI LANKA.

INTRODUCTION

for every business entity in Sri Lanka. 
The year, which began with uncertainty 
and negative market conditions, 
required businesses to rethink their 
plans and activities to ensure survival 
beyond the tough times.

For Tokyo Cement, these turbulent 
times provided new learning 
opportunities that helped us grow in 
character and embrace change with 
resilience. With a business acumen 

with similar ups and downs in the 
marketing environment, we were able 
to successfully adapt in this situation, 
with minimum adjustments to our 

Like manoeuvring a ship across 
troubled waters, we were able to 
guide our business amidst challenges, 
by keeping a sharp focus on our 
goals. While the decelerated market 
environment forced us to look inwards 
and sharpen our capabilities, we 
managed to maintain our positive 
momentum by achieving growth in 
areas other than revenue expansion.

During the year in discussion, we 

on the most important aspects of 

environmental responsibility as the No.1 
cement and concrete manufacturer in 
Sri Lanka. This meant strengthening a 
few strategic engagements that had a 

The ensuing section of the report 
highlights our main sustainability 
initiatives that were continued during 

characteristic of Tokyo Cement over 
the past several years, with their end 
objectives being broadly linked with 
The Company’s mission.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOCUS ON LONG-TERM IMPACT

Tokyo Cement Group has always been 

the most impactful, long-term outcomes 
as opposed to short term results. All our 
keystone corporate responsibility programs, 
born of this vision, were continued during 

a long-lasting impact on their respective 
focus areas or stakeholder communities. 

partnerships we foster, in terms of their 

transforming lives or conserving nature.

single step of a longer journey aimed at our 
broader vision of enriching our country, its 
people, and the environment.

Each programme and activity detailed below 
underscores our commitment to create a 

potential as a Nation.

ON THE ENVIRONMENT

The key environmental initiatives that 
have now become an intrinsic part of 
Tokyo Cement’s corporate identity were 

delivering overarching outcomes. Driven 
by the passion to preserve and propagate 
a healthy environment for all living beings, 
we managed our conservation programmes 
with better controls and close monitoring, 
thanks to the support of our various project 
partners.

Mangroves Reforestation

The Tokyo Cement Mangrove Reforestation 
Project, carried out with assistance from the 

5,000 new saplings during this year, to the 
total 60,000 mangrove trees already planted 
along the North-Eastern coastline. It is 
indeed an immensely rewarding experience 
to see how well the mangrove habitat along 
the Trincomalee Bay has thrived, teeming 
with bees and birds which bring back the 
much-needed ecological balance vital to 
sustaining critical food chains.

mangrove nursery at Tokyo Eastern Cement 
Factory, does a commendable job at looking 
after the thousands of plant saplings 
under their care, having had to protect 
them against the severe drought that was 

months. Their perseverance in caring for the 
plants ensures that we produce the number 
of saplings required for the replantation 
programme conducted along the coast from 

this year, we utilised two other community 
engagement platforms to generate wider 
awareness on the importance of preserving 
mangrove habitats. One instance is the 
dedicated educational space within the 
newly inaugurated Tokyo Cement Centre for 
Technical Excellence. This space provides 
a comprehensive walkthrough about all the 
environmental conservation programmes 
undertaken by The Company, with an area 
dedicated to create awareness about the 
importance of Mangrove habitats. Here, 
students and the general public who visit 
the Tokyo Cement Factory are shown the 

The thriving Mangrove Habitat is successfully reclaiming its former territory along the Cod Bay

multiple services provided by mangrove 
forests and the importance of conserving 

indigenous mangrove species we propagate, 
using live samples and tours around the 
plant nursery. Special emphasis is given 
to make young children aware of why 
Mangrove habitats matter and promote 
community awareness and action to prevent 
their loss.

forum to share our learning experiences and 
encourage other corporates, individuals and 
community groups to join the Mangroves 

Corporate Manager - Sustainability of Tokyo 
Cement, shared his experiences and best 
practices with the participants. He used 
this business forum to highlight the role of 
responsible corporate citizens in conserving 
our mangrove habitats, particularly in fast 

most of the population depends on natural 
resources for their livelihoods.
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saplings under their care

Forestry Nursery Program

and Mahiyangana Power Plant premises, produced over 12,000 native forest tree plants 

community groups from Badulla and Trincomalee Districts, and for National Reforestation 

The plants distributed include valuable indigenous trees with medicinal properties such as 
Kumbuk, Karanda, Mee, Ingini that are under the threat of extinction. To ensure the steady 
continuation of the project, the nurseries host a minimum of 10,000 plant saplings at a given 

widely in demand, and can be planted in all climate zones of the country.

Coral Reef Restoration Project

Tokyo Cement’s Coral Reef Restoration 

research and coral rehabilitation, while 
creating greater awareness to cause an 
attitude change on coral conservation. Our 
partners in this initiative include the Blue 

and the Foundation of Goodness (FoG). 
Through our partnership with the Blue 
Resources Trust, we also assist government 
institutions such as the Marine Environment 
Protection Authority (MEPA) and the 

links with coral conservation groups.

This year, the project was able to strengthen 
these partnerships through the propagation 

and to interested groups with the aim of 
educating future generations.

to maintain the momentum of our Reef 
Ball deployment activity by working in the 

Pasikudah, Galle and Kalpitiya. Thanks 
to the steadfast engagement of our 
longstanding project partners, the project 
was able to deploy 100 Reef Balls during 
the year in consideration.

Setting a project landmark, BRT recently 
completed the 3-year partnership on 
Participatory Coral Reef Research and 
Restoration project sponsored by Tokyo 
Cement Group. The project outcomes were 
presented at the Tokyo Cement sponsored 
technical session on ‘Conserving Coastal 
Biodiversity’, at the Annual Technical 
Sessions of the Association for Tropical 

Regional Conference held in September 
2019, at MAS Athena, Thulhiriya. Under this 
tremendously successful cooperation, BRT 
was able to conduct long-term research 
in Pasikudah, that included collecting 

surveys, and mapping the entire reef for 

vastly help future scholars, researchers 
and policy makers in developing policies in 
conservation and management of coral reef 
habitats.

The Foundation of Goodness’ diving and 

took on the responsibility of executing our 
Coral Reef Restoration programme around 
their stronghold in the Southern Coast, along 
Seenigama and Hikkaduwa.

Among the activities carried out by FoG 
was an underwater clean-up programme 
along the Seenigama Sea Temple and 
Berawagala area. In what can be termed 
as an eyeopener to all of us, about the 
irresponsible behaviour of people who 
use the ocean and the beach for their own 
livelihood, the volunteers of the FoG Diving 
Centre managed to collect an astounding 

this small strip of ocean bed, accumulated 

activities in the area. The garbage collected 
in this exercise were handed over to the 
Rajgama Pradeshiya Sabha for recycling.

The initiative marked another milestone 
during this year, by signing up Ocean 
Resources Conservation Association 
(ORCA), to join the Tokyo Cement coral 
conservation program. ORCA is an 
organisation dedicated to the study, 
management, conservation and restoration 
of coastal and marine environments, species 

ORCA has been actively involved in the coral 
reef restoration programme in the Southern 

Rumassala coral reef in Galle. They bring in 
over twenty years of invaluable experience 
in conservation and restoration of coral 
reefs, backed by research expertise in reef 
bio-diversity, causes of reef degradation 
and impact mitigation.

The group has also been involved in 
pioneering activity in coral habitat 
restoration, by using cementing techniques 
to reattach broken coral fragments on to the 
reef and, has done leading work on invasive 
species monitoring and management at 
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up program Seenigama Kusumarama Temple for Dhamma 
school students

The amount of garbage collected during the underwater clean up carried out in Seenigama

CSR OVERVIEW
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEPA Recognises Tokyo Cement’s 
Continued Support

Tokyo Cement Group plays a leading role in 
marine conservation. Keeping our beaches 
clean and maintaining a healthy coastal 
environment is the starting point to ensure 
the well-being of all marine life.

Every year, The Tokyo Cement Team 
in Trincomalee, together with various 
volunteer groups take part in the National 
Coastal and Marine Resource Conservation 
programmes organised by the Marine 
Environment Protection Authority (MEPA), 
to commemorate International Coastal 
Clean-up Day.

The project is assured of the participation of 
nearly a hundred of Tokyo Eastern Cement 

and Divisional Secretariat, The Urban 
Council, Uppuveli Pradeshiya Sabha,  

Fisheries, members of the Tri-forces, and the 
school children of the area, to clean up the 
Cod Bay beach stretch.

At this year’s National Beach Clean-up Day 
event, Tokyo Cement Group was recognised 
by MEPA for our continued contributions 
towards this national cause.

Gliricidia fuel wood bring an additional income 
to rural farming communities

National Beach Clean-up Day event organised by MEPA

Renewable Energy Program

Currently holding a capacity to generate 

our biomass power generation project, 
continues to enrich the lives of farming 
families who supply biomass fuel for 
the power plants in Mahiyangana and 
Trincomalee. Tokyo Cement Group’s 
pioneering renewable energy project 
managed to steer ahead during the year; 
despite multiple challenges posed by the 
severe drought and restricted supply chain, 
and was able to plant nearly 730,000 
Gliricidia trees during the period under 
review, achieving a total of 6.5 Million trees 
since the inception of the community-based 
Gliricidia planting programme in 2012.

This Renewable Energy project which makes 

independent, was also able to supply the 

demand.
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ON OUR COMMUNITIES

Tokyo Cement’s social empowerment 
programmes were conducted with added 
vigour during the year ended in March 
2020, as a strategic tool to create deeper 
involvement with our industry community. 
Having played the role of a trusted adviser, 
the stakeholder groups that have built 

to expect a higher standard in knowledge 
and experience sharing from The Company. 
Therefore, we made special emphasis to 
create engagements that permeated rich 
content on innovative technologies and best 
practices in the construction industry.

with the next generation of construction 
professionals, and therefore channelled 

resources to strengthen our existing 
partnerships with higher education institutes 
and professional organisations. To meet this 
objective, we designed novel engagement 
platforms that involved harnessing the 
expertise of seasoned industry professionals 
and respected members of the academia, 

We were keen on broadening our 
association with the next generation 
construction professionals, and 

strengthen our existing partnerships 
with higher education institutes and 
professional organisations.

BUILD BEYOND 2019: Annual Emerging 
Engineering Technology Summit

Emerging Engineering Technology 
Summit was held at the BMICH in August 
2019, featuring distinguished speakers 
representing both academia as well as 
professional spheres of construction, who 
discussed the changing dynamics of the 
discipline due to emerging engineering 
technologies. The conference, focused 

knowledge of the industry, hosted Civil 
Engineering Undergraduates from all major 
universities and engineering professionals 
from the state and private sectors. Tokyo 
Cement’s objective behind organising  

Industry-Academia partnership that will 
stimulate knowledge sharing and spur 
on innovation among young engineering 
students and professionals in the 
construction industry.

Dr. Michael Henry, Associate Professor at 
the Faculty of Engineering of Hokkaido 
University in Sapporo, Japan, delivered the 

Dr. Henry also delivered the keynote speech 
at the 2019 Annual Sessions of the Society 

under the patronage of Tokyo Cement 
Group.

2019 included prominent industry experts 

Secretary General of the Chamber of 

Development and former General Manager 
at CECB. Dr. M.G.M.U. Ismail, Director R&D 

who were also among the erudite speaker 
panel of The Summit.

Engineering undergraduates and some 
of their lecturers representing the Civil 
Engineering Faculties of Moratuwa, 
Peradeniya, Ruhuna, Sri Jayewardenepura 
and the South Eastern University of Sri 

present at the seminar. In addition, 
practicing civil and structural engineers 

City and several other key state sector 
construction projects attended the summit.

Tokyo Cement Group intends to make 

which provides a much-needed forum for 
industry interaction as a means to open 
up horizons for university undergraduates, 
enabling them to gain better insights on the 
application of the theoretical knowledge 
in practical situations. Tokyo Cement took 
the initiative of organising this engineering 
summit with the aim of facilitating 
world-class knowledge sharing as the 
key to inspire our aspiring engineering 
professionals who add impetus to the 
construction industry and play a pivotal role 
in building our Nation.
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BUILD BEYONDX: Undergraduate Student 
Seminar Series

X is the second tier 
of professional knowledge sharing 
programmes organised as part of our 
strategy to create more responsive 
engagements with our key stakeholder 
communities, with this being tailored 
to focus on undergraduate Engineering 
Student fraternity.

Encouraged by the response with which the 

by industry groups, Tokyo Cement launched 
this series of secondary engineering 

X’, to 
be held at each University or at the Tokyo 
Cement Centre for Technical Excellence; 
which would also provide the participants 
a chance to engage in a study tour around 
our quality assurance centres, product 
testing labs and the Tokyo Eastern Cement 
Factory.

The seminar series is conducted by Eng. 
Srilal Sahabandu, Senior Consultant to 

CEO of the Central Engineering Consultancy 
Bureau (CECB), the largest engineering 

X Eng. Sahabandu shares 
his wealth of knowledge on real-life case 
studies, collected during his over 39 
years of service as a Senior Structural 
Engineer working on large scale and 
complex engineering projects of national 
importance. Sharing these practical case 
study experiences have proven to be of 
great value to the undergraduate students, 
enabling them to learn how their theoretical 
knowledge is applied in formulating 
workable engineering solutions.

X was held at 
the Tokyo Cement Centre for Technical 
Excellence in Trincomalee with the 
participation of over 120 undergraduates 
from the Faculty of Civil Engineering of the 

also given a detailed factory tour during  
this event.

X summits were held during the year; one 

government and private institutions, and another at the University of Peradeniya with the 

X

AYS Gnanam Costruction Training Academy, 
Dambulla

Residential Training for Army personnel at the 
AYS Gnanam Training Academy

Deshamanya A.Y.S. Gnanam Construction Training Academy

facility, installed with the objective of uplifting the standards of our construction industry. 
Registered under the Tertiary & Vocational Education Commission, it facilitates masons to 

under the supervision of the National Apprentices and Industrial Training Authority (NAITA) 

During the period under review, the following key events were conducted at the Training 
Academy;

 

 Residential Training for 29 Army & 06 novice masons

University of Sri Lanka at the BUILD BEYONDX Seminar
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5-day Training programme for 20 NAITA (HRD) 
Inspectors

Skill Building Seminar for Masons in 
Dehiattakandiya

Training Programmes for 57 Development 

Awareness Session for State Sector Technical 

 A 5-day Training Programme for 20 NAITA (HRD) Inspectors

 

Being one of Tokyo Cement Group’s foremost citizenship initiatives aimed at uplifting the 

The A.Y.S. Gnanam Construction Training Centre with the involvement of a dedicated project 
partner. Tokyo Cement wishes to announce the new plans drawn up to utilise the facilities 

Capacity Building of Construction Sector Professionals

Tokyo Cement has been conducting skill development training programmes for masons in 
every part of the country, with the aim of strengthening ties with industry professionals. The 
Masons’ Training Seminars are considered a valuable component of our relationship building 
exercise, as they are organised with help from our regional sales teams and the dealer 
network.

The masons’ seminars are designed to enhance their skill levels and the standard of 
workmanship by sharing best practices, and provide technical guidance in the construction 

Concurrently, awareness building 
programmes on quality, cement standards 
and innovative products are conducted, 

Contractors in the public and private 
sector, to improve their exposure in novel 
construction and engineering methodologies.

Training Programmes are organised and 
conducted by Eng. Mouly Gunarathna, 
Consultant Engineer of Tokyo Cement 
Group.

engage over 3,000 industry professionals 
through this skill building initiative, which adds 
tremendous value to Tokyo Cement’s vision of 
being ‘the leading partner in nation-building’.

Platinum Sponsor of The Forestry and 
Environment Symposium

and Environmental Science of University of 
Sri Jayewardenepura

For the fourth consecutive year, Tokyo 
Cement Group became the Platinum 

and Environment Symposium 2019’, 
organised by the Department of Forestry 
and Environmental Science of the University 
of Sri Jayewardenepura (USJP), held in 
October at Jetwing Blue, Negombo. This 
symposium was an opportunity for us to 
showcase the sustainability initiatives 
carried out by the Company, and share 
the learning experiences with participating 
undergraduates, researchers, academia, 
professionals, and policy makers.

Guest of honour of this year’s symposium 
was Professor Sampath Amarathunge, 
Vice-Chancellor University of Sri 
Jayewardenepura, who delivered the 
opening remarks. Keynote speeches were 
delivered by Prof. Mikel Duke, a professor of 
Membrane Science from Victoria University, 

conservationist Dr. Asha De Vos, Marine 
Biologist and Founder of Oceanswell.

As part of our engagement at the event, 
Tokyo Cement had the opportunity to 
host a panel discussion on ‘Our Vanishing 
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– Oceanswell, Dr. Terney Pradeep Kumara – Chairman, MEPA, Mr. Nishan Perera – Marine 

Perera discussed how public-private partnerships such as the one BRT has with Tokyo 
Cement, help conduct meaningful long-term research to achieve tangible outcomes in coral 
reef conservation.

CSR OVERVIEW
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

School Nutrition Program

This year too, the Company continued 
the compassionate endeavour initiated by 
our Founder Chairman, late Deshamanya 
A.Y.S. Gnanam, where we fund the provision 
of a balanced mid-day meal to over 300 
children from Thiriyaya Maha Vidyalaya in 
Trincomalee. The far-reaching intention of 
the programme is to encourage children to 
attend school and continue their education, 

The FOG Cricket Academy

Tokyo Cement Group’s longstanding 
partnership with The Foundation of 
Goodness, carried out 9 cricket coaching 
camps in the South and 6 in the North 

objective of unearthing and polishing-up 
latent cricketing talent at school level. 
The coaching sessions conducted by 
Mr. Hemantha Devapriya and his team 
of coaches attached to the Foundation 
of Goodness, give school girls and boys 
from remote backgrounds a chance to 
perfect their skills and fuel their dreams of 

A noteworthy highlight is the participation 

from the South, and 58 youngsters and 
2 coaches from Kalmunai in the Ampara 
District, at the ongoing cricket coaching 
camps. The Tokyo Cement cricket coaching 
clinic provides these up and coming school 
cricketers from rural areas an opportunity 
to undergo top quality cricket training 
completely free of cost, which would 
otherwise only be available in the cities, yet 
inaccessible to many.

Coaching Camp produce four star-class 
players; currently in the National Under-19 
Team, to play at the 2020 ICC U-19 Cricket 

Africa. These young cricket stars had joined 
the Cricket Academy to hone their talent 
at the U-13 level. The four youngsters had 
shown great potential at national level, thus 
getting the rare opportunity to represent Sri 

Among them is Navod Paranavithana who 

captain of the Mahinda College Cricket Team, 
Galle, who shattered the batting records 

a quadruple century in a school match! 
Navod is a recipient of a 5-year coaching 

Goodness and is a frequent participant of the 
Tokyo Cement cricket coaching camp.

Tokyo Cement Group experienced another 
humbling moment this year, when four 

Cricket Squad too were selected to play 

four outstanding young ladies were also 
felicitated by OYOB Property Group in 
Australia during their time in Melbourne.

These achievements are the fruits borne 

aspirations of young school children to 
brighten their future through a successful 
sporting career.
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A UNIFIED EFFORT

A cantilever bridge is a structure projecting horizontally into space, supported only on one end and built upon a 
strategy of strength to adapt and endure dynamic loads.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

THE GROUP’S LONG-STANDING TRADITION 
OF ETHICAL BUSINESS PRACTICES 
TOWARDS ALL STAKEHOLDERS, HAS 
ENABLED THE GROUP TO NOT ONLY SURVIVE 
DECADES OF MARKET COMPETITION BUT 
ALSO GROW AND GAIN MARKET SHARE.

system which incorporates not only the diverse regulatory compliance requirements faced 
by the Group but also industry best practices in corporate governance. The stability and 

history of manufacturing operations of over 3 decades, in one of the country’s essential heavy 
industries. The Group’s long-standing tradition of ethical business practices towards all 
stakeholders, has ensured sustained brand credibility and respect that has enabled the Group to 
not only survive decades of market competition but also grow and gain market share. All growth 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Robust governance systems and internal control processes
to ensure compliance and best practices 

Board of Directors

Managing Director
Board Sub Committees

Audit 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Corporate Management

Related Party 
Transactions 

Review Committee

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The governance structure of Tokyo Cement is headed by the Board of Directors which is the 
highest decision-making body of the Company. The Board has the overall responsibility and 

risk management practices and safeguarding stakeholder rights. 

The Board of Tokyo Cement has upheld a 
philosophy of maintaining best practices 
with regards to governance policies, 
mechanisms and procedures. On principle, 
the Board is guided by the highest 
ethical standards in its policy making as 
a sustainable business bent on creating 
long term value for country, people and 
stakeholders. 

The Board formulates overall business 
strategy in association with corporate 
management and determines corporate 
goals, which are communicated down 
the management hierarchy through a 
systematic budgetary control procedure 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

Continuous oversight of operations is 
maintained by the Board of Directors 
through monthly reviews of corporate 
and operational performances of the 
Group against the context of the macro 
environment encompassing political, 
economic, social and technological 
developments. Through the review process, 
the Board provides direction to the 
corporate management in managing the 
business. 

Appointments to the Board 

In accordance with the Companies Act 
No 7 of 2007, the Board of Directors are 
appointed by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting. Under Article 107, 

vacancies or as an addition to the existing 
directorate. Please refer the Annual Report 

changes to Board composition during the 
year under review. 

Composition of the Board

As at end March 2020, the Tokyo Cement 

(10) members. There is only one (01) 
Executive Director, who is the Managing 
Director. Nine (09) Directors are Non-

Directors are Independent Non-Executives, 
including the Chairman. Four Directors are 
Non-Executive Directors and one (01) Non-
Executive Director is a Nominee Director of 
UBE Singapore, Tokyo Cement’s technology 
partner.

GOVERNANCE REPORTS
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To ensure proper balance of skills and 
expertise on the Board, all Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are highly 
respected professionals and have been 
selected from sectors such as banking, 
economic, legal and accountancy with 
many years of experience in business and 

and experience to guide the strategy 
formulation, risk management and growth 
process of the Group. 

In conformity with good governance 
practices, the positions and functions of the 
Chairman and the Managing Director have 
been separated. The role of the Managing 
Director is to manage the day-to-day 
running of the Company and he leads the 
Corporate Management team in making 
and executing operational decisions. The 
Managing Director is also responsible for 
recommending strategy to the Board.

BOARD SUB COMMITTEES 

Colombo Stock Exchange, Tokyo Cement 
has established four Board sub committees 
– the Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee, Nomination Committee and 
a Related Party Transactions Review 
Committee. The composition of the 
Committees is fully compliant with the 

functional and have continued to meet 
during the year under review to ensure 
specialised inputs to the Board. 

Please refer the Committee Reports for 
details regarding the composition and 
activities of the committees during the year 
under review. 

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MONITORING

The Board of Directors is responsible for 
designing, reviewing and maintaining an 

ensure smooth and orderly operations, 

with applicable laws and regulations, safety 
of assets and resources. As part of proper 
internal controls, the Board is responsible 
to deter and detect errors, fraud, and theft 
by ensuring accuracy and completeness of 
accounting data and by producing reliable 

information. Overall, the internal controls 
process must ensure adherence to 
corporate policies and plans. 

The Tokyo Cement internal control system 
cascades down through the Board sub 
committees and the corporate management. 

 The corporate management is 
responsible for implementing Board 
directions and policies at operational 
levels. A structured reporting process 
is in place to ensure reporting and 

and bottom up.

 As a central, ongoing aspect of internal 
controls, the Board of Directors monitor 
operations through regular Board 
meetings and through regular reviews 
of management information obtained 
at meetings including reports of the 
internal auditors. 

 An Internal Audit team has been 
established to monitor and measure 
the adequacy of the implementation of 
internal controls by the management. 
Internal Audit is empowered to review 
the systems and controls in accordance 
with a Board approved audit plan, which 
is reviewed and improved continually. 
Auditing systems include surprise 
audits of sales depots, the ready mixed 
concrete operations, and the factory. 

 Reports by Internal Audit are submitted 
to the Audit Committee for review, 
which then recommends suitable 
action in consultation with senior 
management. Members of the Audit 

reported are in compliance with various 
accounting standards promulgated by 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

IT Governance

Tokyo Cement has in place a formal set 
of protocols and reporting procedures 

IT facilities. All investments in IT are 
authorised following in-depth  assessments 

analysis.  The Board is directly involved in 
the IT governance process and periodically 
reviews the status quo of the IT system 
and provides direction on safeguarding 
and enhancing IT assets.  During the year, 
regular IT risk assessments were conducted 
to safeguard against potential threats 
including cyber crime and cyber fraud and 
business disruptions.   Software licenses,  

maintained up to date to protect IT systems 
from external threats and internet usage 
and mail server operations were monitored. 
IT governance concerns, if any,  were tabled 
at the Audit Committee meetings, where 
relevant actions were recommended by 
considering potential risks, impacts and 
other prudential criteria.

During the year, emphasis was placed on 
continuous improvements to the IT systems 
in line with the Company’s growth plans. 
Tokyo Cement’s has invested extensively in 
modern IT systems that are operated and 
managed centrally, with IT facilities also 
deployed at the factories. The Company’s 
growing stock of IT assets includes the ERP 
system, a central control unit,  internet, 
and email services covering much of the 
business operations. 

Environment, Society and Governance 
(ESG)

Tokyo Cement has continued to conduct 
its business activities in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner to 
contain, as much as possible, any negative 
environmental impacts and to ensure 
accountability and ethical conduct  in all 
interactions with external stakeholders. 
During the year under review, the Company 
continued its ongoing environmental and 
social welfare programs, which are described 
in the CSR Review.  The information provided 
therein will enable investors and other 
stakeholders to assess how ESG risks and 
opportunities are recognised, managed, 
measured and reported by Tokyo Cement.

Going Concern

The Board has discharged its statutory 
responsibility towards the going concern 
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controls across all operational aspects. 

of the Company, the Board has made 
suitable resource allocations, together 
with well structured investment strategies, 
following  continuous assessments of macro 
systematic risk factors. These precautions 

operations into the foreseeable future.

Transparency 

The Board of Tokyo Cement believes in 
transparent and accountable business 
practices and has stringently followed all 
statutory reporting requirements to inform 
shareholders, regulatory authorities and 
other stakeholders of the status of the 
Company. The Company did not face any 

Dissemination of quarterly accounts and the 
release of the Annual Report and Audited 
Accounts have been complied with, within 
the stipulated time frame.

The Board discloses full information, both 

bounds of commercial realities. Being the 
only cement manufacturer listed on the 
Colombo Stock Exchange, it is committed to 
a responsible business philosophy.

Investor Relations

During the year, the Company maintained 
regular communications with all 
shareholders and kept all shareholders 

Company, including  corporate and 
individual shareholders.  In addition, 
shareholders are provided the opportunity 
to ask questions freely at the General 
Meeting. The investor relations team 
also conduct meetings with institutional 
investors and analysts to discuss the 
Company’s performance on a quarterly 
basis. Sensitive information, that may 
not be available to other shareholders, 

share prices, are not divulged during 
such meetings, to ensure fairness by all 
shareholders.

Shareholder Value and Returns

The Tokyo Cement policy is to enhance 
shareholder wealth in the long term as well 
as in the short term. Therefore, the Company 
strategies are developed not only in the 

create long term returns through share price 
increases and enhanced shareholder assets, 
together with regular and fair distribution 

the Company continued with its capital 
investment program, which is aimed at 
future value creation for shareholders, while 
also providing dividend payments, despite 

prevailed.

 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

As a responsible corporate citizen with 
a long standing reputation for good 
governance, The Tokyo Cement Board is 
fully cognizant of the vital importance of 
total adherence to all laws and regulations 

governing the business and as such makes 

all times, in all business activities. 

Cement has remained fully compliant with 
all applicable regulatory requirements. The 
Group adheres to regulations and codes 

 The Companies Act No 07 of 2007

 
Exchange 

 The Code of best practice on Corporate 
Governance issued by Institute of 

Securities & Exchange Commission of 

 

other revenue related regulations and 
subsequent amendments

 Exchange Control Act and subsequent 
amendments

 Customs Ordinance 

 

 

 Central Environment Authority Act 

 Other legislations and pronouncements 
relating to the industry in force 

The extent to which the Group is in 
compliance with the rules set out in Section 
7.10 of the Colombo Stock Exchange listing 
rules on corporate governance have been 
tabulated below.

Compliance with the rules set out in Section 7.10 of the Colombo Stock Exchange listing rules on corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Rule 
No:

Rule Compliance 
Status

01 Board of Directors

The correct number of Non-Executive Directors, in accordance with Rule 7.10.1 (a)

02 The correct number of Independent Non-Executive Directors, in accordance with Rule 7.10.2 (a)

03  
non independence to the Board of Directors - Rule 7.10.2 (b)

of each Non-Executive Director based on the Declaration mentioned above and other information available to the 
Board and states the names of Non-Executive Directors determined to be ‘Independent’ – Rule 7.10.3 (a)

GOVERNANCE REPORTS
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Rule 
No:

Rule Compliance 
Status

05 If the Director does not qualify as ‘Independent’, but if the Board taking into account all the circumstances is of 

‘Independent’ Rule 7.10.3 (b)

06 Published a brief resume in the Annual Report, of each Director of the Board, which includes information on the 

07 Remuneration Committee

The correct number of Independent Non-Executive Directors in the Remuneration Committee, in accordance with 
Rule 7.10.5 (a)

08
Remuneration Committee used - Rule 7.10.5 (a)

09

10 Disclosed the functions of the Remuneration Committee, in accordance with Rule 7.10.5 (b)

11

12 The Annual Report contained a statement on the Remuneration policy - Rule 7.10.5 (c)

13

Audit Committee

The correct number of Independent Non-Executive Directors, in accordance with Rule 7.10.6 (a)

15
- Rule 7.10.6 (a)

16

of the Directors) Rule 7.10.6 (c)

17

18

19
accounting body – Rule 7.10.6 (a)

20
Committee – Rule 7.10.6 (a)

21 The Annual Report contained a report by the Audit Committee stating the manner of compliance in relation to the 
functions required of the Audit Committee and the determinations made by the Audit Committee – Rule 7.10.6 (c)

22

23
considered as related parties- Rule 9.2

Monitoring and approve recurrent and non-recurrent Related Party transactions as set out in the group policy 
guidelines – Rule 9.3
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

Colombo Stock Exchange and the ‘Code of 
Best Practice on Corporate Governance’ 
issued jointly by the Institute of Chartered 

a fully functional Audit Committee, which 
meets regularly.

MEETING OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee met four times during 
the year. The attendance of the members at 

CHARTER OF THE OF THE BAC

The Charter of the Board Audit Committee 
(BAC) is approved by the Board and clearly 

Committee and is regularly reviewed to 
ensure that new developments relating to 
the Committee’s functions are addressed.

COMPOSITION OF THE BAC

‘Code of Best Practice’, the BAC comprises 
three Non-Executive Independent Directors 
and two members of the Committee are 

were no changes to the composition of the 
BAC during the year under review. 

The Chairman, Managing Director, Group 

Manager Finance, Internal Auditors and 
relevant Senior Managers are invited to 
attend meetings as and when required.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 Mr R Seevaratnam - Chairman

 Mr Ravi Dias

 Mr Asite Talwatte

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The BAC reports directly to the Board of 
Directors regularly, regarding its activities 
and review and recommendations. The 
BAC assists the Board of Directors in 

management, internal controls. The BAC 

  
The Committee assists the Board 
of Directors to discharge their 
responsibility in the preparation of 

performance, based on the Company’s 
accounting records and in accordance 
with the stipulated requirements of the 

accordance with the mandate mentioned 
above, the Committee reviews the 

  Procedures to provide 
reasonable assurance 
that all transactions are 
accurately and completely 
recorded in the books of account.

 
reporting system is in place 
to ensure reliability of the 
information provided to the 
stakeholders.

 Accounting policies to 
determine most appropriate 
accounting policies after 
considering all choices available. 

 Process by which compliance 

Standards, Companies Act 
No 7 of 2007 and other 
regulatory provisions 

and disclosures are ensured.

 Revised policy decisions 
relating to adoption of 

Accounting Standards 

the Group companies and 
made recommendation to 
the Board of Directors.

 Supervision of internal audits: The BAC 
regularly interacts with the Internal 

recommendations to the Board. The 
Audit Committee monitors and guides 
the Internal Audit Department which 

performs audits according to the plan 

operational audits, risk assessments 
and IT security reviews. 

 Monitor compliance: The BAC is 
empowered to monitor and examine 
Company compliance with laws and 
regulations and also adoption of best 
practices.

 Recommendations regarding auditors: 
The BAC makes recommendations 
regarding the appointment and 
reappointment of external auditors.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES 
DURING THE YEAR

As required under best practices, the BAC 

year and proceedings of the meetings were 
reported to the Board of Directors regularly.

 The Committee monitored compliance 
with statutory requirements and the 
systems and procedures that are in 
place to ensure compliance with such 
requirements. 

 The Committee ensured that the 
Internal Audit Function is independent 
of the activities it audited and that it was 

and due professional care. The reports 
of the Internal Audit Department were 
reviewed, discussed by the Committee, 
and corrective measures were initiated 
when required.

 The Auditors were provided with 
access to all requested information 
and relevant personnel to ensure that 
the Auditors had the independence to 
discuss and express their opinions on 
any matter. It provided the assurance 
to the Committee that the Management 
has fully provided all information and 
explanations requested by the Auditors. 

 The Committee reviewed the business 
processes in operation in order to 

controls that have been designed to 
provide reasonable assurance to the 
directors that assets are safeguarded 

can be relied upon in preparation and 
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INDEPENDENCE OF AUDITORS

independence of the External Auditors 
has not been impaired by any event or 

interest. Due consideration has been given 
to the nature of the services provided by 
the Auditors and the level of audit and 
non-audit fees received by the Auditors 
from the Group. The Committee also 
reviewed the arrangements made by the 
Auditors to maintain their independence 

the Auditors of their compliance with the 
independence guidance given in the Code 
of Ethics of the Institute of Chartered 

The Audit Committee recommends the 
reappointment of Messrs BDO Partners for 

CONCLUSION

Based on the oversight extended during 

that the Group’s accounting policies and 
internal controls including operational 
controls, provides reasonable assurance 

accordance with the policy framework of the 
Group set out by the Board of Directors and 
that Group assets are properly accounted 
and adequately safeguarded.

R. Seevaratnam
Chairman – Audit Committee

21st September 2020
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

a functional Remuneration Committee in 

Colombo Stock Exchange. The Committee 
reports directly to the Board and ensures 
that no Director determines his own 
remuneration and is involved in deciding 
competitive remuneration packages 
to attract and retain top management 
personnel. Tokyo Cement has adopted 
policy, linked to short and long terms 
targets, as its remuneration policy for 
Executive Directors and senior managers. 

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE 

There were no changes to the composition 
of the Remuneration Committee during the 
year under review. 

The Remuneration Committee is appointed 
by the Board of Directors and comprises 
three Non-Executive Independent Directors. 
The Managing Director and other Directors 
attend Committee meetings by invitation. 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 Dr Harsha Cabral, PC - Chairman

 Mr R Seevaratnam

 Mr Ravi Dias

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The primary objective of the Remuneration 
Committee is to recommend the 
remuneration of senior personnel to attract 
suitable persons to direct the Company. Its 

 Make recommendations to the Board, 

packages of the Senior Management 
Team.

 Recommend any contract of 
employment or related contract 
with the Senior Management Team 
and determine the terms of any 
compensation package in the event of 
early termination of the contract of any 
member of Senior Management Team. 

 The committee has the authority to 
seek independent external professional 
advice on matters within its purview. 

 The Committee also discusses and 
advises the Directors and Executive 

packages.

 Recommend the remuneration of the 
Board of Directors. 

The Committee is not responsible for setting 
the level of remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors, which is determined by the Board.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES 
DURING THE YEAR

The Remuneration Committee met twice 
during the year. 

Remuneration levels of senior managers 
were reviewed, and recommendations were 

to attract and retain the Senior Management 
Team of the Company. The decisions on 
the matters relating remuneration of the 
Senior Management Team were arrived 
in consultation with the Chairman and 
Managing Director. 

Director’s emoluments in aggregate for 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors for 
the year under review are disclosed in note 

The Minutes of the Remuneration 

the Board of Directors. 

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC 
Chairman - Remuneration Committee

21st September 2020
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Nomination Committee reports directly to 
the Board, to ensure the Board of Directors 
represent adequate diversity of expertise 
and experience to ensure prudent but 
strategic direction for the Group. The 
Committee ensures there is a combination 
of varied skills and knowledge within the 
Board to overcome the risks faced by the 
Group in pursuit of its strategic objectives, 
by reviewing and recommending suitable 
candidates to be appointed to the Board. 

The Committee reviews requirements of the 
Company and makes recommendations that 

Company to have a strong and balanced 
leadership. 

COMPOSITION OF THE NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

There were no changes to the composition 
of the Nomination Committee during the 
year under review. 

The Nomination Committee is made up of 
three Non-Executive Independent Directors 
and the Managing Director. 

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

 Dr Harsha Cabral, PC – Chairman

 Mr S R Gnanam

 Mr R Seevaratnam

 Mr Ravi Dias

TERMS OF REFERENCE

As set out by the terms of reference of 
the Committee the responsibilities of the 

 
and composition of the Board 

 Identify and recommend suitable 
candidates as Directors to the Board

 Make recommendations on matters 
referred to, by the Board.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES 
DURING THE YEAR

During the year under review the 
Nomination Committee met twice.

 The Committee deliberated potential 
new appointments for the year and 
recommended new appointments to the 
Board of Directors.

 Evaluated the eligibility of the Directors 

and made necessary recommendations 
to the Board.

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC 
Chairman - Nomination Committee

21st September 2020
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS REVIEW 
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Related Party Transactions Review 
Committee has been established as 

Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and 
Code of Best Practice on Related Party 
Transactions issued by the Securities & 

Committee reports directly to the Board 
and is authorised to review all Related Party 
Transactions ensuring compliance with 
and legal requirements, concerning the 
transaction. 

MEMBERS OF THE RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS REVIEW COMMITTEE 

There were no changes to the Committee 
composition during the year under review. 
In accordance with the requirements of the 

three Non-Executive Independent Directors. 

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

 Mr R Seevaratnam - Chairman

 Mr Ravi Dias

 Mr Asite Talwatte

TERMS OF REFERENCE

Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange, the 
Committee’s key responsibility is to review 
all proposed Related Party Transactions 
prior to entering into or completion of the 
transaction in line with procedures laid 

In the event a Related Party Transaction 
will be ongoing (a Recurrent Related Party 
Transaction) the Related Party Transaction 
Review Committee has established 
guidelines for the senior management 
to follow in its ongoing dealings with the 
Related Party.

 Evaluate any proposed related party 
transactions and make recommendation 
to the management and the Directors 
on the appropriate procedures that 
should be adopted by the Company 

Code of Best Practices on Related Party 
Transactions.

 
on related party transactions. 

 Review the threshold for related party 
transactions to decide whether it 
requires shareholders’ approval or 
immediate market disclosures.

 Reviews and assess ongoing 
relationships with any related party 
to determine whether they are in 
compliance with the Committee’s 
guidelines and that the Related Party 
Transaction remain appropriate.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES 
DURING THE YEAR

year under review. 

The Committee reviewed all proposed 
Related Party Transactions and ongoing 
Related Party Transactions during the 
year. The Committee deliberations were 
presented to the Board by tabling minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee, at Board 
Meetings.

R. Seevaratnam
Chairman - Related Party Transactions 
Review Committee

21st September 2020
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Powerful economic, demographic and 
technological forces are shaping a new 
global balance of power. The result is an 
unsettled geopolitical landscape that has 
direct and indirect impacts on both Sri 

and unpredictable changes in the macro 
environment. The systemic risk environment 

marked change for the worse during the 12 
month period of April 1, 2019 to March 31, 
2020, with escalating trade tensions and 
geo-political unrest in the world. The situation 
was compounded by the emergence of the 
novel Coronavirus during the latter part of the 

the entire world to a virtual standstill causing 
massive losses to businesses around the 

security also came to the forefront during 
the year against the backdrop of growing 
global concerns regarding threats to national 
security in the form of digital espionage. 

following the April 2019 Easter destruction. 
As a result, the country reverted to a status 
of high security alert after only a few years 

The enhanced national security status had 
repercussions across the Tokyo Cement 

and credit risks, to market risks to human 
resource risks as a heavy industry with a large 

the COVID-19 lockdowns caused some losses 
to the Group in terms of lost man days and 
revenues, the Group demonstrated a high 

to restart and resume business fairly rapidly. 
The modern information technology systems 
deployed across the Group was a key asset in 
maintaining continuous communication with 
relevant stakeholders, and fast-tracking the 
recovery from COVID-19. 

The Tokyo Cement Group has in place a 

assessment and response system to ensure 
rapid responses to the changing risk 
environment. In addition, risk management 
is treated as a core business management 
function and involves both the Board of 

Directors and the management with clear risk monitoring, risk reporting and risk evaluation 
systems in place. The risk management function has been further enhanced during the year, due to 
the advanced ERP system which has been deployed across the Group, providing management and 
Directors with rapid access to market and production information. Another advantage has been the 
Central Control Room in Trincomalee, which was fully operationalised during the year. The control 
room has automated most of the production process, thereby enabling greater controls over 

the threat has been successfully contained within the country and the Tokyo Cement Group was 
quick to respond by adopting recommended health precautions against this threat. 

PROCESS OF MANAGING RISKS

to identify potential uncertain events that may have adverse impacts, and to manage such 
risks within the risk appetite of the Group, or to eliminate the cause, to provide a reasonable 
assurance for the achievement of objectives. 

assessment, and prioritisation, against short term operational and mid to long term strategic 
objectives of the Group. The administrative and operational activities of the Group are 
executed within an internal control system by managing risks associated with the enterprise.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

1. Transferring the risk to another party, 

2. Avoiding the risk, 

potential or actual consequences of a particular risk, and the opposite for opportunities.

THREE LINES OF DEFENCE 

 

second lines of defence independently

 The Audit Committee continuously provides an assurance 
on these processes to the Board of Directors.

 Major support functions

 Accounting & Finance

 Administration

 Operations

 Information Technology

 
with business units, to 
ensure that uncertain 
events are appropriately 

 Identifying risks at operational level

 Evaluating and managing the risks within the approved 
framework of policies set by the Board of Directors. 

1st line of 
defence

Operational Units

2nd line of 
defence

Support Functions 

3rd line of 
defence

Internal Audit
Audit Committee 
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF RISK MANAGEMENT 

The risk assessment mechanism of the Company considers two aspects of the risk; quantitative and qualitative aspects which have a 

Quantitative risk assessment requires calculations of two components of risk; the magnitude of the potential loss and the probability that the 

risk requires the keen attention of the management. The calculation of quantitative risks is measured both as gross risk and net risk. The 

depicted in the following diagram and details are provided in the accompanying table below.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Risk Description Impact Probability Risk management response 

Financial Risks

Currency Risks The rupee continued to depreciate 
in 2019

 Entering into forward buying contracts with 
foreign suppliers for future procurements 

 Closely monitoring currency rate movements 

 Taking appropriate action to revise pricing. 

Credit Risks Credit risk increased following the 
Easter Sunday disturbance.

The construction industry 
continued to experience liquidity 
constraints, due to delays in 
payments for government projects.

Risks associated with COVID-19 
and risk pertains to the risk of 
a potential second wave of the 
pandemic and another round of 
lockdowns.

 Formal credit policies and procedures are in 
place determine creditworthiness and credit 
risks of each customer 

 Credit facilities are backed by bank 
guarantees.

 Advanced reviewing systems are in place to 
monitor and report outstanding trade debts. 

 Planned to convert credit sales to cash sales in 
order to mitigate the default risk.

 High   Medium  
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Risk Description Impact Probability Risk management response 

Interest Rate Risks
rates.

policy maintaining a sustainable 
momentum into foreseeable 
future.  

 Continuous negotiations with banks and 

for the Groups’ borrowing and investments

 Maintaining long term interest rate agreements 

 Prudent treasury management

 Strong long-term relationships with banks 

 Aggressive follow-up with debtors within the 

impacting smooth functioning of 
day to day operations of the group

 Arrangement of adequate banking facilities

 Maintaining a sound cash position

 

Market & Strategic Risks

Political Risks Security uncertainty following the 
Easter Sunday disturbance and 
political uncertainty in the run-up 
to the Presidential Election, saw 
this risk factor increase 

 

 
sources

 Backward integration to strengthen the 
business

Construction activity contracted 

Easter Sunday disturbance.

 

 Increased customer focus

 Development of special products i.e. 
Innovation Products

 Planning based on analytics

Risks from 
substitution of 
products

Availability of low quality imported 
products

 Uncompromising quality standards

 Strong dealer network

 
such as masons

Environmental risks Floods and other extreme weather  Diversify portfolio to maintain revenue streams 

Risks from 
acquisitions and 
investments

Adverse impact due to changes 

integrate employees, processes, 
technologies & products, and 
social and political changes

 Rigorous forecast and analysis of acquisition 

 
long tenure with the Company

Operational Risks

Volatility of energy 
and raw material 
prices

production due to increased 
energy prices and increased world 
market prices on imported raw 
materials

 Utilisation of renewable energy sources to 
maximum and long term supplier contracts to 
reduce volatility of raw material prices

Availability of raw 
materials and 
additives

Interruption to business activity 
due to non-availability of raw 
materials and additives

 
suppliers who are with the Company for many 
years and own supply of additives such as  

 High   Medium  
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Risk Description Impact Probability Risk management response 

Production 
Technology Related 
Risks

Technological obsolescence could  

 Technology transfer from UBE, Japan 

 Regular investment in upgrading technology .

Quality Risks Adverse impact due to sales 
returns and damages due to 
claims for supply low quality 
products and decrease in sales 
volume

 Strict quality maintenance in terms of ISO 
9001 Quality management System and 

observed at all times. Therefore, this is a low 
risk to the Group

Risks on changes to regulations or 
noncompliance with regulations 
mainly connected with 
environmental and consumer 
protection Acts

 As we maintain a high level of compliance, the 
impact is low.

Information 
Technology Risk

Adverse impact on loss of 

availability of systems 

 ERP system has been reviewed on a 
continuous basis in order to identify the 
future enhansments to meet the business 
requirments.

 Back up procedures, password controls, 

are in implementation and continuously 
measure and upgrade and protect data, 
applications, systems and networks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

 High   Medium  
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Tokyo Cement’s journey has been one of evolution and progress. Built upon a strong foundation and 
focused on structural precision, today, the Company is poised to venture beyond; to explore the future of 

unimaginable possibilities that lie ahead.

BUILT  FOR THE LONG RUN

One of the oldest forms of engineering known to man, suspension bridges have evolved over the years to become a symbol of 
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ABOUT THE COMPANY 

was incorporated in 1982 and holds the 

owned cement manufacturer and one of 
the country’s leading heavy industries. 
One of the oldest private sector foreign 

established as a partnership between Japan’s 
Nippon Coke and Engineering Company, 
(formerly Mitsui Mining Company) and Sri 

the aegis of the founder of Tokyo Cement, 
Deshamanya A Y S Gnanam. In 2017, 
Tokyo Cement entered into a new technical 

THE TOKYO CEMENT GROUP

Tokyo Cement Group structure 

Companies Act No 07 of 2007, Tokyo 

was amalgamated with Tokyo Cement 

of Amalgamation has been issued by the 
Registrar General of Companies on 13th 

of the Companies Act No 07 of 2007.

Following the amalgamation, as at 31st 
March 2020, the Group subsidiaries 

2. Tokyo Eastern Cement Company 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The Company’s core activity is the 
manufacture of Ordinary Portland Cement, 
Portland Pozzolana Cement and Blended 
Hydraulic cement. The Company also 
manufactures value added products, such 

Pre-Mix Concrete, Ready-Mixed Concrete 

involved in renewable energy generation.

Please refer the Chairman’s Message and the Managing Director’s Review for details of the 

Board of Directors 

Director Designation

Dr Harsha Cabral, PC Chairman and Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr S.R. Gnanam Managing Director

Mr Susumu Ando Non-Executive & Nominee Director of UBE Singapore  

Mr A.S.G. Gnanam Non-Executive Director

Mr E.J. Gnanam Non-Executive Director

Mr R. Seevaratnam Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr Ravi Dias Non-Executive Independent Director

Director

Mr Asite Talwatte Non-Executive Independent Director 

Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy
25th March 2020)

Independent Director, on 25th March 2020. Dr Coomaraswamy was a former member of the 
Tokyo Cement Board and relinquished this post following his appointment as the Governor 

tenure as the Governor of the Central Bank. 

Tokyo Cement 
Company 

(Lanka) PLC

Tokyo Supermix 

Tokyo Eastern  
Cement Company 

100% 
holding

100% 
holding

Tokyo Cement 

Tokyo Super 
Aggregate (Private) 

51% 
holding

100% 
holding

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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BOARD SUB COMMITTEES 

Four Board sub committees have been 
constituted to support the Board in 
its decision making and to improve 

Each subcommittee has been constituted 

conformity with the listing rules of the 
Colombo Stock Exchange. The sub 

 The Audit Committee 

 The Remuneration Committee 

 The Nomination Committee 

 The Related Party Transactions Review 
Committee 

The terms of reference and reports of the 
committees are given on pages 78 - 82 of 
the Annual Report. 

CHANGES TO THE BOARD SUB 
COMMITTEES 

In compliance with the Colombo Stock 
Exchange directive on disclosures regarding 
changes to Board sub committees, we have 
made provisions for automatic disclosures 
in case of any such changes. Therefore, all 
Board sub committees and all members of 
Board sub committee have been listed with 

to the Colombo Stock Exchange and 
shareholders. 

There were no changes to the Board or 
Board's sub committees during the year 
under review other than the appointment of 

25th March 2020.

DIRECTOR’S MEETINGS 

The Board of Directors met 07 times during 
the year under review and 08 circular 
resolutions were adopted by the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

The Board noted that under Rule 7.10.3, it 
should make a determination annually as 
to the independence or non-independence 

of each Non-Executive Director based on 
a declaration made of their independence 

criteria and such declaration and other 
information available to the Board should be 
set out in the annual report with the names 
of Directors determined to be ‘independent’.

The Board assessed the Directors 
Independence in accordance with standards 
established by the CSE and Corporate 
Governance Rules. The Board noted that 
Mr. Ranjeevan Seevaratnam and Dr Harsha 
Cabral, PC, had served on the Board for a 
period exceeding nine years from the date 

The Board of Directors having reviewed 
all the relationship Mr. Seevaratnam 
and Dr Harsha Cabral, PC has with the 
Company, and having considered all the 
facts and circumstances, determined that 
Mr. Seevaratnam and Dr. Harsha Cabral, 
PC are nonetheless independent and are 
in any way not impaired in performing the 
responsibilities of an Independent Director, 
although they had served on the Board for 
a period exceeding nine years from the date 

DECLARATION OF DIRECTORS 
INDEPENDENCE OR NON-
INDEPENDENCE 

Independent Directors of the Board 

1. Dr Harsha Cabral, PC

2. Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam

3. Mr Ravi Dias 

5. Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy

Independent Directors regarding their 
independence, was submitted to the Board 
and was duly evaluated by the Board. The 
Board assessed the Directors’ independence 
in accordance with standards established by 
the CSE and Corporate Governance Rules. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR RE-ELECTION 

The following recommendations have been 
made for re-election to the Board. 

1. To re-elect as a Director, Dr Indrajit 
Coomaraswamy, who is up for 
retirement under the Articles of 
Association and Section 211 of the 
Companies Act No 7 of 2007, for the 
age limit referred to, in Section 210 of 
the Companies Act No 7 of 2007, as he 
is over the age of 70 years.

2. To re-elect as a Director, Mr Ranjeevan 
Seevaratnam, who is up for retirement 
under the Articles of Association and 
Section 211 of the Companies Act No 7 
of 2007, for the age limit referred to, in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No 
7 of 2007, as he is over the age of 70 
years. 

Fernando, who is up for retirement 
under the Articles of Association and 
Section 211 of the Companies Act No 7 
of 2007, for the age limit referred to, in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No 
7 of 2007, as he is over the age of 70 
years. 

is eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

The Directors’ Interests in the Company 

the Financial Statements and have been 
declared at the meetings of the Directors. 

Apart from the information disclosed, the 
Directors have no other direct or indirect 
interest in any contracts or proposed 
contracts pertaining to the business of the 
Group. 

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDINGS 

Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange 
regarding the minimum public holdings 
requirement set out in section 7.13.1. 

As at end March 2020, the percentage 
of voting shares held by the public was 

were publicly held. 
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DIRECTOR'S/ CEO'S SHAREHOLDING - ORDINARY SHARES 

Director's / CEO’s Shareholding Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares

No of Shares Held
31st March 20

No of Shares Held
31st March 19

No of Shares Held
31st March 20

No of Shares Held
31st March 19

73,507,172 73,507,172 -

Mr A.S.G. Gnanam 14 -

14 -

Mr E.J. Gnanam 14 -

26,730,000 26,730,000 -

Mr Susumu Ando (Non Executive and 
- -

- 71,280 71,280

Independent Non Executive Directors

Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam - -

Dr Harsha Cabral, PC - -

Mr Ravi Dias - -

Mr Asite Talwatte - -

Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy - -

100,237,214 71,280 71,280

Total shares in issue 267,300,000 267,300,000 133,650,000 133,650,000

EQUITABLE TREATMENT TO 
SHAREHOLDERS 

The Directors at all times ensure that all 
shareholders are treated equitably. 

INTEREST REGISTER

As stipulated by the Companies Act No. 07 

Interest Registers during the year under review. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

As directed by the Colombo Stock 
Exchange, related party transaction 
disclosures have been accommodated and 

Directors have disclosed all related party 
transactions and such transactions are 

Annual Report. 

APPOINTMENT OF LAWYERS

Having reviewed the dynamics of the 
external environment, the Board of Directors 
have determined to appoint company 

lawyers on a case-by-case basis, based on 
the Group’s legal requirements and required 
legal specialisations. 

OUTSTANDING LITIGATION 

In the opinion of the Directors and the 

pending against the company will not have 
major impact to the Financial Statements. 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Information with regards to contingent 
liabilities and capital commitments as 
at 31st March, 2020, is given in notes 
31,32 on pages 132 - 133 of the Financial 
Statement. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Directors are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of Financial 
Statements of the Group and Company, 

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
is given on page 93 of this Annual Report. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

accordance with the requirements of the 

Accounting and Auditing Standards Act, 

Exchange and other regulatory bodies as 
applicable to the Group. 

requirements prescribed by the regulatory 
authorities including the Colombo Stock 
Exchange and the Registrar General of 

statements for the year ended 31st March 
2020 have been audited by Messrs BDO 
Partners Chartered Accountants.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Company and the Group prepared the 

accounting policies used by the Company 
and the Group during the year other than 
those adopted on initial application of 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

performance, of the Group and Company 
and plans for the future, has been discussed 
in detail by the Managing Director in the 
Managing Director’s Review of Operations 

Therefore, we kindly request all interested 
stakeholders to refer this statement and 
also the Chairman’s Message on pages  
29 - 30 of this annual report. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

This information provided in pages  
152 - 156 of this annual report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

The 20 major shareholders and the 
percentage held by each of them as at 31st 
March, 2020 are given on pages  
155 - 156.

DIVIDENDS

dividend of Rs. 1.50 per share for the 

STATED CAPITAL

The total issued stated capital stood at  

and consists of 267,300,000 ordinary 
voting shares and 133,650,000 ordinary 
non voting shares.

RESERVES 

The Group’s total reserves increased from 
Rs 10.7 Bn to Rs 12.9 Bn by 31st March, 
2020. 

STATUTORY PAYMENTS

The Directors to the best of their knowledge 

obligations to the government and to 
employees have been either duly paid, or 
adequately provided for, in the Financial 

is included in the statement of directors 
responsibilities. In addition, a compliance 
report is submitted to the Board on a 
quarterly basis regarding the timely 
payment of all statutory dues. 

EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE 
REPORTING DATE 

GOING CONCERN 

The Board has ensured prudent cash 

across all operational aspects in accordance 
with its statutory responsibility towards 
ensuring that the Company is a ‘going 
concern. ’The Board has continually 
reviewed capital investments, resource 
allocations and investment strategies in 
relation to macro systematic risk factors 

operations into the foreseeable future.

have been done on the going concern basis, 

Responsibilities on page 93.

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Directors have established and adhere 
to a comprehensive risk management 
framework at both strategic business 
units and group levels to ensure the 
achievements of their corporate objectives. 
The categories of risks faced by the Group 

are evaluated on basis of impact of such 
risks and the probability of occurrence of 

risks, mitigating strategies are adopted by 
the group. The Board of Directors reviews 
the risk management process through the 
audit committee. The risk management 
report of the group is on pages 83 - 86 of  
this report.

AUDITORS 

 The independent auditors report on the 

this Annual Report. 

The retiring auditors Messrs BDO Partners, 
Chartered Accountants have stated their 

resolution to grant authority to the Board 
to determine their remuneration will be 
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

The fees payable to auditors Messrs 
BDO Partners, Chartered Accountants 
are given in note 8 on page 113 of the 
Annual Report. As far as the Directors are 
aware, the auditors have neither any other 
relationship with the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries, that would have an impact on 
their independence. Messrs BDO Partners, 
Chartered Accountants, the auditors of 
the Company are also the auditors of 
all subsidiaries of the group. The list of 
subsidiaries, audited by them is included on 
page 101 of the Annual Report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 38th Annual General Meeting of the 
Company will be convened on Thursday 

Mr. S.R. Gnanam
Managing Director 

Mr. R. Seevaratnam 
Independent Non Executive Director 

Seccom (Pvt) Limited
Company Secretaries 

21st September 2020
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Statement of Director’s Responsibility 
acknowledges the responsibilities of the 
Directors of Tokyo Cement Company 

Act No 7 of 2007, for the preparation and 

other statutory reports. The responsibilities 
of the Directors are set out under the 

 Sections 150(1),151,152(1) & 153 of 
the Companies Act No 7 of 2007, state 
that the Directors are responsible to 
ensure compliance with requirements 

statements for each year, giving a true 

Company and the Group as at the end of 

of the Company and its subsidiaries of 

 
Companies Act No 7 of 2007, the 
Directors are also required take 
appropriate steps to ensure that the 
Companies within the Group maintain 
adequate and accurate records, which 

such Company and hence the Group.

 In addition to the above, the Directors 
are also responsible for taking 
reasonable steps to safeguard the 
assets of the Company and of the 
Group and in this regard, to give proper 
consideration to the establishment of 
appropriate internal control systems 
with a view to preventing and detecting 
fraud and other irregularities, while 
acknowledging that there is no 
single system of internal control that 
could guarantee absolutely against 
mismanagement or fraud.

 The Directors are also required to 

to provide the auditors with every 
opportunity to take whatever steps 
and undertake whatever inspections 
that may be considered appropriate, to 
enable them to give their audit opinion.

In accordance with the above requirement, 
the responsibility of the Directors, in relation 

been discharged as below. 

 The Directors of Tokyo Cement 

statutory reports of the Company and 
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31st 

the Companies Act NO 07, 2007, and 

Exchange.

 The Directors have selected the 
appropriate accounting policies and 
such policies adopted by the Group are 

statements.

 

 The Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Statement of other 
Comprehensive Income of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which 
present a true and fair view of the 

 The Statement of Financial Position, 
which presents a true and fair 

Company and its subsidiaries as at 

 
that the Company and the Group’s 
Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position as at 31st March 2020 and 
the Comprehensive Income Statements 
for the Company and the Group for 

Company and the Group, respectively.

 The Directors have adopted the going 

statements. The Directors having 

considered the Group’s business plans, 
and a review of its current and future 
operations, are of the view that the 
Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operation. 

 The responsibility of the auditors, in 

prepared in accordance with the 
provision of the Companies Act No 7 
of 2007, is set out in the Report of the 
Auditors.

 The Auditors were provided with the 
opportunity to make appropriate 

of Shareholders and Directors’ meetings 
and other documents and to review, 
and sample check the system of internal 
controls, as they considered appropriate 
and necessary, to enable them to form 
an opinion of the Financial Statements. 

STATUTORY PAYMENTS 

of their knowledge, all taxes, duties and 
levies, all contributions, levies and taxes 
payable on behalf of, and in respect of, 
the employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and all other known statutory 
dues as were due and payable by the 
Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
reporting date have been paid, or where 

contingent liabilities.

Upholding their responsibilities, the 
Directors have at all times made all 
attempts to promote sound business ethics 
and safety standards, and a culture of 
compliance within the Group.

By Order of the Board of
Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

Seccom (Private) Limited,
Company Secretaries

21st September 2020
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TOKYO 
CEMENT COMPANY (LANKA) PLC

Opinion

(‘the Company’) and the consolidated 

subsidiaries (‘the Group’), which comprise 

or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the statement of changes in equity and the 

policies as set out on pages 96 to 150.

statements of the Company and the Group 

position of the Company and the Group as 

Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 

independent of the Group in accordance with 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code of 

provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgement, are of the most 

These matters were addressed in the context 

statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Measurement of Inventories

The Company and the Group had inventories 
 

assets respectively.

The inventory management and control system 
relating to inventory maintenance and recording 
are centralised at the Group level. Further, 

management estimate by the Group at the 
end of the reporting period. The calculation 
of inventory quantity is performed based on 
the consumption of each individual inventory 
category reported by each component and 

the calculation of inventory quantity involves 
measurement factors determined by the 
external surveyor engaged by the Group. 

As the COVID-19 outbreak and lockdown 
restrictions occurred late in the Group’s 

taken place and the inventory count as 
at year end has been performed by the 
management. However, subsequent to the 
year end, observation of inventory count 
had taken place by the management under 
the supervision of auditors. Accordingly, 
management has carried out rollback 
procedures to calculate the inventory 
quantities as at the reporting date.

management judgement involved has resulted 
in the measurement of inventories being 

procedures, among others to address this 

 Understanding and evaluating the 
key internal controls surrounding the 
management’s estimate on inventory 
calculation.

 Examining the external surveyor’s report 
and understanding the key estimates 
made and the approach taken by the 
surveyor in determining the calculation 

and also assessing the competency, 
capability and objectivity of the external 
surveyor engaged by the Group.

 Attended and performed observation 
procedures for inventory at the count 
performed in June 2020 and considered 
the inventory count performed as at 
the year end by the management while 
assessing the skills and experience of the 

 Examined management’s assessment 
of the rollback of inventory records and 
reviewed a sample of inventory purchases 
and issues as being in inventory as at 
31st March 2020.

 Testing of the underlying formulae used 
in the calculations and the validity of data 
used for such calculations.

 Understanding and evaluating the 
methodology applied by management 
to record all appropriate costs into the 
inventory model and re-performing actual 
costing calculations to support valuation 
of inventories. 

 Testing the net realisable value of the 
inventory by comparing with the post 
year-end sale prices of similar goods.

 Assessing the adequacy of the related 
disclosures made for inventories in the 

The disclosures associated with inventories 

statements.

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Annual Report, 

statements and the auditor’s report thereon.

not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

statements, our responsibility is to read 

in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially consistent with 
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obtained during the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based upon the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of the other information, we are 

to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Management and 
Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation 

Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines, is necessary to 

that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to the going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Company and 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 

statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

As part of an audit in accordance with 

and maintain professional skepticism 

 Identify and assess the risks of material 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting, and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast a 

to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, 

statements, including the disclosures, and 

the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express 

direction, supervision and performance 

responsible for our opinion.

governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 

we identify during our audit.

with a statement that we have complied with 
ethical requirements in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics regarding independence, and 
have communicated to them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 

the current period and are therefore the key 

our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

As required by Section 163 (2) of the Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007, we have obtained all the 
information and explanations that were required 
for the audit, and as far as it appears from our 
examination, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company. 

engagement partner responsible for signing 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Colombo
21st September 2020
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Group  Company 
For the year ended 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 
 31st March, 2019 

 ** 
 Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Revenue from contracts with customers  35,767,731,640  21,511,174,801  22,877,783,623 
Cost of sales  (25,512,057,724)  (30,607,870,036)  (16,234,235,506)  (19,580,911,923)

 10,255,673,916  5,276,939,295  3,296,871,700 
Other income  5  19,022,864  20,210,520  916,806,047  18,359,538 

 10,274,696,780  6,193,745,342 

Distribution expenses  (4,099,008,878)  (2,795,188,297)
Administrative expenses  (1,681,747,796)  (1,197,113,490)  (1,359,969,917)
Other expenses  (380,233,206)  (380,233,206)  (380,233,206)

 4,493,940,106  2,201,443,555  1,022,715,555  (168,957,690)

Finance income  6  23,191,203  10,880,621  6,770,228 
Finance expenses  7  (1,887,678,499)  (1,418,626,367)  (1,372,505,905)  (1,193,535,077)

 8  2,629,452,810  789,587,416 

Income tax expenses  9  (311,581,030)  27,423,303  287,983,135 
 2,317,871,780  817,010,719  (331,522,277)

obligations  (29,095,072)  (18,670,682)  (23,330,373)
Net other comprehensive income not to 

subsequent periods  (29,095,072)  (18,670,682)  (23,330,373)

Deferred tax impact on other 
comprehensive income  7,723,742  6,532,504 

the year, net of tax  (21,371,330)  (13,787,765)  (16,797,869)  (10,376,388)

the year, net of tax  2,296,500,450  800,212,850  (1,079,875,707)

Owners of the parent  2,317,991,036  817,010,719  (331,522,277)
Non-controlling interest  (119,256)  -  - 

 2,317,871,780  817,010,719  (331,522,277)

Owners of the parent  2,296,777,846  (506,371,313)  800,212,850  (1,079,875,707)
Non-controlling interest  (277,396)  -  - 

the year  2,296,500,450  800,212,850  (1,079,875,707)

 - Voting  10  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)  (2.67)
 - Non voting  10  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)  (2.67)
Dividend per share
 - Voting  11 1.50  0.30  0.30 
 - Non voting  11 1.50  0.30  0.30 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

Colombo
21st September 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Group  Company 
As at 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 
 31st March, 2019 

 ** 
 Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12  26,949,324,335  12,070,129,551  9,973,758,580 
Capital work-in-progress 13  545,336,059  530,828,843  675,050,670  675,050,670 
Intangible assets  93,965,731  116,231,668  52,578,252 
Investments in subsidiaries 15  -  12,037,176,943  12,637,618,257 
Operating lease prepayment 16
Right-of-use assets 17  1,346,104,855  -  1,267,736,994  -  - 
Total non-current assets  28,934,730,980  28,168,672,895  25,958,450,583 

Current assets
Inventories 18  3,492,636,466  2,207,629,543  2,651,867,788  2,300,371,588 
Trade and other receivables 19  4,985,031,699  2,908,423,173  3,296,278,866 
Operating lease prepayment 16
Tax receivables 20  298,415,632  289,686,113  301,575,335 
Amount due from subsidiaries 21  -  806,981,944 
Financial assets at amortised cost 22  7,623,250  7,099,158  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 23  429,972,058  205,616,726 
Total current assets  9,213,679,105  6,418,337,499  7,829,367,106 
Total assets  38,148,410,085  32,376,788,082 

Equity
Stated capital  4,239,611,750  4,239,611,750 
Retained earnings  12,916,951,562  10,682,586,570  11,326,182,215  10,613,206,262 
Equity attributable to the owners of 
the parent  17,156,563,312  15,565,793,965  13,707,719,288 
Non-controlling interest  93,299,779  93,577,175  -  - 
Total equity  17,249,863,091  15,565,793,965  13,707,719,288 

Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings 25  7,215,160,206  6,720,751,206 
Deferred tax liability 26  2,859,264,140  1,513,986,710  1,722,701,937  1,220,869,879 

27  296,865,482  217,792,737  167,665,056  153,239,552 
28  293,502,526  250,635,765  16,663,308  16,663,308 

Total non-current liabilities  10,664,792,354  7,823,158,633  8,703,166,418 

Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables 29  2,506,818,059  1,586,777,310  3,669,913,511 
Amount due to subsidiaries 30  -  1,149,018,163  1,001,530,793 
Interest bearing borrowings 25  6,296,475,116  4,616,831,279 

28  42,385,423  34,461,157 
Bank overdrafts 23  1,388,076,042  1,588,838,697  720,739,790  811,329,262 
Total current liabilities  10,233,754,640  15,621,809,262  8,107,827,699 
Total equity and liabilities  38,148,410,085  32,376,788,082 

Net asset value per share  42.79  37.22  38.82 

between the company and Tok

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

 prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007.

Mr. H.M. Ajith Kumara
Deputy General Manager - Finance

Approved and signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Mr. S.R. Gnanam     Mr. W.C. Fernando
Managing Director     Director

Colombo
21st September 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the year ended 31st March, 2020  Attributable to owners of the parent  

interest 

Total 
equityGROUP  Stated 

 capital 
 Retained 
 earnings 

 Total 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

As at 01st April, 2018  11,188,957,883  61,968,332 
Comprehensive income for the year 

 - 

obligations  -  (18,795,906)  (18,795,906)  (18,670,682)
Tax relating to other comprehensive income  -  - 

 -  (506,371,313)  (506,371,313)
Non controlling interest on acquisition  -  -  -  15,000,000  15,000,000 
As at 31st March, 2019  10,682,586,570  93,577,175 

 -  - 
Comprehensive income for the year 

 -  2,317,991,036  2,317,991,036  (119,256)  2,317,871,780 

 - (219,639)  (29,095,072)
Tax relating to other comprehensive income  - 

 -  (277,396)
Dividend paid  -  (120,285,000)  (120,285,000)  -  (120,285,000)
As at 31st March, 2020  12,916,951,562  17,156,563,312  93,299,779 

For the year ended 31st March, 2020
COMPANY

 Stated 
 capital 

 Retained 
 earnings 

 Total 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Balance as at 01st April 2018
Adjustment due to amalgamation  - 
Balance as at 01st April 2018- Restated
Comprehensive income for the year 

 -  (331,522,277)  (331,522,277)

 - 
Tax relating to other comprehensive income  - 

 - 
As at 31st March, 2019  10,613,206,262 

 - 
Comprehensive income for the year 

 -  817,010,719  817,010,719 

 -  (23,330,373)  (23,330,373)
Tax relating to other comprehensive income  - 

 -  800,212,850  800,212,850 
Dividend paid  -  (120,285,000)  (120,285,000)
As at 31st March, 2020  11,326,182,215  15,565,793,965 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

Colombo 
21st September 2020
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

Group  Company

For the year ended 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019
Restated * 

31st March 2019
**

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. Rs.

 2,629,452,810  789,587,416 

Depreciation 12.A, B  1,350,792,796  1,277,186,399  729,858,953  723,012,655 
Amortisation of intangible assets  22,265,937  18,926,675  19,920,343  17,936,768 

 54,465,812  34,908,304 
 (197,694)  380,233,206  (1,917,000)  380,233,206 

 65,230,716  -  62,838,510  - -
Interest expense  1,816,983,004  1,401,153,861 

 24,885,286  15,386,366  622,070 
Amortisation of operating lease
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 17  53,068,368 -  49,149,975 - -
Interest income  (1,095,388)  (571,296)
Dividend income  -  (900,000,000)  - -
Impairment of debtors  78,385,095 

6,015,851,647  2,200,315,432 

 142,988,898  444,238,245  (980,257,537)
 958,304,106  (2,261,638,792)  1,016,154,239  (1,015,913,106)

 (2,306,567,156)  (2,363,966,893)  1,833,170,132 
 -  812,946,814  (395,501,538) 

Cash generated from operations  4,810,577,495  2,231,717,208  2,109,687,837 

Interest paid  (1,816,983,004)  (1,401,153,861)
Taxation paid 20  (126,055,624)  -  (126,055,624)  - -

27  (11,600,271)  (19,219,787)  (8,110,996)
 2,855,938,596  574,367,356 388,887,363

Purchase of property, plant and equipment A  (481,978,252)  (730,912,765)  (234,691,694)
Payment for right-of-use assets 17  (559,948,972)  -  (559,948,972)  - -
Intangible assets acquired  (25,180,252)
Payment made on capital work-in-progress  (793,037,430)  (507,311,895)
Interest received  1,095,388  571,296 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  9,522,001  1,917,000 
Investment on short-term deposits  (524,092)  - - 
Investment in shares - subsidiary  - 
Dividend received  -  900,000,000  - -
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,824,871,357)  (2,567,652,268)  (399,464,265)

Proceeds from the issue of shares  15,000,000  - -
Repayment of interest bearing borrowings  (23,508,978,193)  (22,328,692,681)  (17,521,437,308)  (18,637,326,771)
Receipt of interest bearing borrowings  22,955,205,426  17,725,223,179  20,190,859,068 
Dividends paid  (120,285,000)  -  (120,285,000)  - -

28  (67,405,401)  (50,365,609)  (1,523,750)
 (741,463,168)  1,118,950,170  33,135,262 

 289,604,071  208,038,353 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year B  (1,247,708,055)  (723,161,417)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year C  (958,103,984)  (515,123,064)

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Group  Company

For the year ended 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

31st March 2019
**

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.

NOTE

A Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Total of additions during the year  1,432,132,596  5,203,887,665  842,511,899 

 (931,029,351)  (588,695,212)  (3,578,192,656)

 (19,124,993)  (22,150,000)  (19,124,993)  (22,150,000)

 481,978,252  730,912,765  234,691,694 128,866,697

B Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Bank balances and cash in hand  341,130,642  204,333,708 

Bank overdraft  (1,588,838,697)  (927,495,125)

 (1,247,708,055)  (723,161,417)

C Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Bank balances and cash in hand  429,972,058  205,616,726 

Bank overdraft  (1,388,076,042)  (1,588,838,697)  (720,739,790)

 (958,103,984)  (515,123,064)

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

Colombo 
21st September 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 Reporting entity – Domicile and legal form

Galle Road, Colombo 03. The factories of the Company are located at Cod-Bay, China Bay in 
Trincomalee and PVQ Jetty Colombo Port. 

referring to the companies whose accounts have been consolidated therein.

1.3 Principal activities and nature of operations

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and the subsidiaries dealt within 

Name of the company Nature of business 

Manufacturing, importing and marketing of 
cement and operation of biomass  
power plant

 Manufacturing and marketing of cement 

Manufacturing and marketing of cement 
and value added products and operation of 
biomass power plant

Generation of power

Manufacturing sand and aggregate

Manufacturing and marketing of ready mix 
concrete for the local market

 
other comprehensive income 

performance of the Company and the 
Group for the year under review,

 

position of the Company and the Group 
as at the year-end,

 a statement of changes in equity 
depicting all changes in shareholders’ 
funds during the year under review of 
the Company and the Group,

 
information to the users, on the ability 
of the Company and the Group to 
generate cash and cash equivalents 
and the needs of entities to utilise those 

 
comprising accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

been prepared on an accrual basis under 
the historical cost convention.

2.2 Presentation and functional 
currency

the Group’s functional and presentation 
currency, which is the primary economic 
environment in which the Company 
operates. Each entity in the Group uses 
the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which they operate as their 

Rupees.

2.3 Statement of compliance 

comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash 

Company and the Group as at 31st March, 

As per the resolution made by the 
directors of the Company, Tokyo Super 

been amalgamated with the Company with 

amalgamation, the operation of Tokyo 

continued under the Company’s name.

Except for the above, there were no other 

and the nature of operations of the Group 
during the year. 

1.4 Parent enterprise 

The parent undertaking of the Group is 

is also the ultimate parent entity of the 
Group.

1.5 Financial period

Group represents twelve months from 01st 
April, 2019 to 31st March, 2020.

1.6 Date of authorisation for issue 

Group for the year ended 31st March, 2020 
were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 21st September 2020.

statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 

statements of the Company and the Group 
as per the provisions of the Companies Act 
No. 07 of 2007 and in accordance with the 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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2020 and for the year then ended have 
been prepared in compliance with the Sri 

compliance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act No.07 of 2007.

2.4 Going concern 

In assessing whether the going concern 
assumption is appropriate, the management 
takes into account all available information 
about the future, which is at least, but 
is not limited to twelve months from the 
reporting period such as factors relating 

debt repayment schedules and potential 

management can satisfy themselves that 
the going concern basis is appropriate.

The management of the Group has 
made an assessment of the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern 

resources to continue its business into 
the foreseeable future and they do not 
intend either to liquidate or to cease 
trading. In determining the assessment, the 
management has considered the existing 

COVID-19 and 
the appropriateness of the use of the 
going concern basis. Furthermore, the 
management is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast doubt upon 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

are prepared on a going concern basis.

2.5 Comparative information 

have been amended, where it is relevant for 
better presentation and to be comparable 
with those of the current year.

2.6 Materiality and aggregation

Each material class of similar items has 

statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or 
function are presented separately unless 
they are immaterial. 

2.7 Basis of consolidations

Company and its subsidiaries as at 31st 
March, 2020 except Tokyo Super Cement 

from 13th June, 2019 as disclosed in note 

subsidiaries is disclosed in note 15 to the 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
of acquisition, being the date on which the 
Group obtains control. Control is achieved 

 has power over the investee;

 is exposed, or has the rights to variable 
returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and

 
its returns.

majority of the voting rights of an investee, 
it has the power over the investee when 

the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
company considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing to determine 
whether or not the company’s voting rights 

 the size of the company’s holding of 
voting rights relating to the size and 
dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

 potential voting rights held by the 
company, of other vote holders or other 
parties;

 rights arising from other contractual 
arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances 
that indicate that the company has, or 
does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time 
that the decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary company 
occurs when the company is determined 
to exert control over the subsidiary 
company and ceases when the company 
is determined not to be able to exert the 
control of the subsidiary company. 

The acquisition method of accounting 
is used to account for the acquisition of 
subsidiary companies by the Group. The 
cost of an acquisition is measured as 
the fair value of the assets given, equity 
instruments issued and the liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of the 
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to 

liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date, irrespective of the extent of any non-
controlling interests. The excess of the cost 
of the acquisition over the fair value of the 

acquired is recorded as the goodwill. If the 
cost of acquisition is less than the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 

on bargain purchase.

Changes in the company’s ownership 
interest in a subsidiary company that 
does not result in the company losing 
the control of the subsidiary company 
are equity transactions (i.e. transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners) 

statement of changes in equity of the Group.

The Group de-recognises the assets 
and liabilities of the former subsidiary 
(including the goodwill) from the Group’s 

loss of control over a subsidiary company 

control. Furthermore, the resulting gain 
or loss associated with the loss of control 
attributable to the former controlling 
interest is recognised in the statement of 

Inter-company transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains or losses on transactions 
among the group of companies are 
eliminated. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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companies are prepared in compliance with 
the Group’s accounting policies.

companies are prepared for the same 
reporting period as is the Company, which is 
twelve months ending at 31st March.

Non-controlling interests

subsidiaries attributable to equity interests 
that are not owned by the parent, directly 
or indirectly through subsidiaries, are 
disclosed separately under the heading 
‘Non-controlling interest’.

The Group applies a policy of treating 
transactions with non-controlling interests 
as transactions with the parties external to 

attributed to the non-controlling interest 

The Group has only one minority 
shareholder, Radella Engineering & Earth 

shareholdings with Tokyo Super Aggregate 

judgements, estimates and 
assumptions 

of the Group requires the management 
to make judgements, estimates and 

of income, expenditure, assets, liabilities 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period.

Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in the outcome 
that requires a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities 

applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
the management has made various 
judgements. 

Those which the management has assessed 

amounts recognised in the consolidated 

statement line items.

The key assumptions concerning the 
future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next 

The Group based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when the 

circumstances and assumptions about 
future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances 
arising that are beyond the control of the 

assumptions when they occur.

The line items which have the most 

judgements, estimates and assumptions are 

b) Deferred tax 

d) Impairment of trade receivables

2.9 Changes in Accounting standards 

of the changes as a result of the adoption 
of these new accounting standards are 
described below. 

a) SLFRS 16 Leases 

Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 

standard sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of leases and requires 
lessees to account for all leases under a 
single on-balance sheet model. The Group 

retrospective method From 1st April 2019, 
without re-stating comparatives for the 

SLFRS 16

Group applied a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases for 
which it is the lessee, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The 
Group recognised lease liabilities to make 
lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying 
assets. The Group has lease contracts for 

included in the right-of-use assets category, 
typically for between 30- 99 years of lease 

terms are negotiated on an individual basis 

the Group recognised lease liabilities in 
relation to leases which had previously 

liabilities were measured at the present 
value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted using the company incremental 
borrowing rate as of the transition date.

c) Leases previously accounted for 
as operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for those leases 

except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The right-of-use assets 
for most leases were recognised based on 
the carrying amount as if the standard had 
always been applied, apart from the use 
of incremental borrowing rate at the date 

recognised based on the present value of 
the remaining lease payments, discounted 
using the incremental borrowing rate at the 
date of initial application.

d) Estimating the incremental 
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the 
interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, 
it uses its incremental borrowing rate 
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR 
is the rate of interest that the company 
would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar 



104 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment. The IBR therefore 

pay’, which requires estimation when no 
observable rates are available (such as for 

transactions) or when they need to be 

of the lease. The company estimates the IBR 
using observable inputs (such as market 
interest rates) when available.

e) IFRIC interpretation 23 – 
Uncertainty over income tax 
treatment

The interpretation addresses the accounting 
for income taxes when tax treatments 

It does not apply to levels outside the 

include requirements relating to interest 
and penalties associated with uncertain tax 
treatments. 

The Group has determined that there 

treatments that wants disclosure. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Foreign currency translation 

Transactions and balances 

All foreign currency transactions during 

date of the transaction. Foreign currency 
monetary items at reporting date were 
translated at the exchange rate existing 
at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies 
were translated at the rates prevailing at the 
date when the fair value was determined. 

period in which they arise.

3.2 Business combination and the 
goodwill 

Acquisition of subsidiaries has been 
accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration 

transferred, measured at the acquisition 
date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the Group elects 
whether to measure the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree at fair value or at 
the proportionate share of the acquiree at 
fair value or at the proportionate share of 

Acquisition related costs are expensed as 
incurred and included as administrative 

and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as 
at the acquisition date. This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in a 
host of contracts by the acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the previously held equity 
interest is re-measured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or 

contingent consideration to be transferred 
by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration which is deemed to be 

and Measurement are measured at fair 
value with the changes in fair value either 

comprehensive income (OCI). If the 
contingent consideration is not within 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, 
being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over 

liabilities assumed. If this consideration is 
lower than the fair value of the net assets 

loss and other comprehensive income. After 
initial recognition, the goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, the goodwill acquired in a business 

combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units that are expected to 

of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquiree are assigned to those units.

3.3 Property, plant and equipment 

Basis of recognition

Property, plant and equipment are 
recognised if it is probable that future 

the assets can be reliably measured.

Basis of measurement

Plant and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment loss. Such costs 
include the cost of replacing component 
parts of the plant and equipment and 
borrowing costs for long-term construction 
projects if the recognition criteria are 

equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group de-recognises 
the replaced part and recognises the 
new part with its own associated useful 

major inspection is performed, its cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the 

vessel dry docking cost and special survey 
dry docking cost are also recognised in the 
carrying amount of the vessel. 

Restoration cost

Expenditure incurred on repairs or 
maintenance of property, plant and 
equipment in order to restore or maintain 

from the originally assessed standard of 
performance is recognised as an expense 
when incurred. 

De-recognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
de-recognised upon replacement, disposal 

expected from its use. Any gain or loss 
arising on de-recognition of the asset is 

asset is de-recognised.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Depreciation

The depreciation of an asset begins when 
it is available for use and ceases at earlier 

held for sale and the date that the asset is 
de-recognised. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line 
basis over the useful lives of the assets as 

Category Years

Factory buildings Over the 
lease 

period

Generator house 20

Other buildings 10 - 30

Plant and machinery 50

Power plant 30

generators 10

Factory and other 
equipment 20

Recycling system 8

8

Vehicles

Cement silo 60

Tug boat 10

Railway platform 30

Barges 10

Computer and other 
electrical equipment 8

Packer house 20

Batching plant and pumper 
truck 30

Vessel 32

Cement silo steel (movable) 5

Cement silo steel 20

Vessel dry docking 2.5

Dry docking – special 
survey 5

Vessel equipment 20

Biomass building 30

Biomass plant and 
machinery 30

Bulk cement carriers 22

Bag storage warehouse 10

Useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment

The Group reviews the assets’ residual 
values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation at each reporting date; 
judgement made by management based 
on the professional experts is exercised in 
the estimation of these values, rates and 
methods.

3.4 Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress was transferred to 
the respective asset accounts at the time of 

3.5 Intangible assets

An Intangible asset is recognised if it is 

Group and the cost of the asset can be 
reliably measured.

Intangible assets acquired separately are 
measured on initial recognition at cost. 
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is the fair value as at 
the date of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are 

intangible assets of the Company consist of 
the Goodwill and Computer Software.

a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
of an acquisition over the fair value of the 

of the acquired subsidiary at the date of 
acquisition.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for the goodwill 
by assessing the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit (or group of cash 
generating units) to which the goodwill 

cash generating unit (or a group of cash 
generating units) is less than the carrying 
amount of cash generating unit (or a group 
of cash generating units) to which the 
goodwill has been allocated, an impairment 
loss is recognised. Impairment losses 
relating to the goodwill are not reversed in 
future periods. 

b) Computer software – Accounting 
and related software 

Acquired computer software licences 
are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the 

developing or maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as 
an expense when incurred. Costs directly 
associated with the development of 

are controlled by the Group, and the 

the costs beyond one year, are recognised 
as intangible assets. Costs include the 
software development, employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads. 

years on a straight line basis.

The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for computer software 
are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of 

embodied in the asset are accounted for 
by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation expense is recognised in the 

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition 
of an intangible asset are measured as 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

loss.
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3.6 Right-of-use assets recognised 
under SLFRS 16 

a) Right-of-use assets 

 The Group recognises right-of-use assets 
when the underlying asset is available for 
use. Right-of-use assets are measured at 
cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost 
of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct 
costs incurred and lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Unless the Group 
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the recognised right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of its estimated useful life or the 
lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject 
to impairment.

b) Short term leases and low value 
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to leases that have 
lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date. It also applies 
the lease of low value assets recognition 
exemption lease payment on short-term 
leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

3.7 Exploration and evaluation of 
mineral resources

a) Measurement of exploration and 
evaluation assets

conditions is recognised as an exploration 
and evaluation asset.

i. Before the exploration for an evaluation 
of mineral resources, such as 
expenditure incurred before obtaining 

ii. After the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting 
mineral resources is demonstrable

iii. Expenditure related to the development 
of mineral resources shall not be 
recognised as exploration and 
evaluation assets

b) Measurement after recognition

Exploration and evaluation assets are 
recognised either as the cost model or the 
revaluation model. If the revaluation model 
is applied, it should be consistent with the 

evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are 

according to the nature of the assets 

consistently.

d) Impairment of exploration and 
evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation assets are 
assessed for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount of an exploration and evaluation 
asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 

that the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, any resulting 
impairment loss shall be measured, 
presented and disclosed in accordance with 

assets

The Group assesses at each reporting 
date to ascertain whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
such indication exists or when the annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required 
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash 
generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell its value in use and is determined for 
an individual asset unless the asset does 

independent of those from other assets or a 

of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing the value in use, the estimated 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

of the time value of money and the risk 

collaborated by valuation multiples, quoted 
share prices or other available fair value 
indicators. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations 

loss in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset, 
except for property previously revalued 
where the revaluation is taken to equity. In 
this case, the impairment is also recognised 
in equity up to the amount of any previous 
revaluation. 

For assets excluding the goodwill, an 
assessment is made at each reporting 
date to determine as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Group will make an estimate 
of the recoverable amount. A previously 
recognised, impairment loss is reversed only 
if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying 
amount of the asset will be increased to its 
recoverable amount. 

the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation had, had 
no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is 

unless the asset is carried at the revalued 
amount, in which case, the reversal is 
treated as a revaluation increase. 

3.9 Financial instruments - Initial 
recognition and subsequent 
measurement

3.9.1 Initial recognition and 
measurement

through other comprehensive income (OCI) 
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and the Group’s business model for 
managing them. This assessment is referred 
to as the SPPI test and is performed at 
an instrument level. The business model 

exception of trade receivables that do not 

or for which the Company has applied the 
practical expedient, others are measured at 
the transaction price.

At initial recognition, the Group measures 

costs that are directly attributable to 

and short-term deposits, trade and other 
receivables, loans and other receivables and 

Subsequent measurement

into one of the categories discussed below, 
depending on the purpose for which the 

assets in a qualifying hedging relationship, 
the Group’s accounting policy for each 

This category comprises in-the-money 
derivatives and out-of-money derivatives 

intrinsic value. They are carried in the 

with changes in fair value recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 

instruments which are not designated as 
hedging instruments, the Group does not 
have any assets held for trading nor does it 

b) Amortised cost 

These assets arise principally from 
the provision of goods and services to 
customers (e.g. trade receivables), but 

assets where the objective is to hold these 
assets in order to collect contractual cash 

solely payments of principal and interest. 
They are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue, 
and are subsequently carried at amortised 

method, less provision for impairment. 

Impairment provisions for current and non-
current trade receivables are recognised 

determination of the lifetime expected credit 
losses. During this process, the probability 
of the non-payment of the trade receivables 
is assessed. This probability is then 
multiplied by the amount of the expected 
loss arising from default to determine the 
lifetime expected credit loss for the trade 
receivables. For trade receivables, which are 
reported net, such provisions are recorded 
in a separate provision account with the loss 
being recognised within cost of sales in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 

receivable will not be collectible, the gross 

against the associated provision. 

Impairment provisions for receivables from 
related parties and loans to related parties 
are recognised based on a forward-looking 
expected credit loss model. The methodology 
used to determine the amount of the 
provision is based on whether there has been 

those where the credit risk has not increased 

losses along with gross interest income are 
recognised. For those for which credit risk 

credit losses along with the gross interest 
income is recognised. For those that are 
determined to be credit impaired, lifetime 
expected credit losses along with interest 
income on a net basis are recognised. 

From time to time, the Group elects to 
renegotiate the terms of trade receivables 
due from customers with which it has 
previously had a good trading history. Such 
renegotiations will lead to changes in the 
timing of payments rather than changes to 
the amounts owed and, in consequence, the 

recognised in the consolidated statement of 

amortised cost comprise trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents 

position. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
in hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months 
or less, and – for the purpose of the 

Bank overdrafts are shown within loans 
and borrowings in current liabilities on the 

c) Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Investment in equity instruments that are 
neither held for trading nor contingent 
consideration recognised by the company 
and the Group in a business combination 

applies, are carried at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the fair value through other comprehensive 
income reserve. Upon disposal any 
balance within fair value through other 
comprehensive income reserve is 

unless the dividend clearly represents 
a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment, in which case, the full or 
partial amount of the dividend is recorded 
against the associated investments carrying 
amount. 
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The Group has debt securities whose 
objective is achieved by both holding these 
securities in order to collect contractual 

the debt securities before maturity. The 
contractual terms of the debt securities give 

of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. Upon disposal any 
balance within fair value through other 
comprehensive income reserve is re-

measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are recognised 
on settlement date with any change in 
fair value between the trade date and 
settlement date being recognised in the fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
reserve.

3.9.2 Financial assets – derecognition 

Financial assets are de-recognised when 

been transferred and the Company has 
transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership. 

The Group assesses on a forward looking 
basis the expected credit losses associated 
with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether 

credit risk. 

For trade receivables, the Company applies 

9, which requires expected lifetime losses to 
be recognised from the initial recognition of 
the receivables. The Group has established 
a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted 

debtors and the economic environment.

3.10 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

are measured at fair value and any resulting 
gains or losses, including any interest 

liabilities. At the end of each reporting 

permitted and required. 

recognised at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Other 

and other payables and bank borrowings. 

Subsequent measurement 

measured at amortised cost. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains or 

Any gain or loss on derecognition is also 

is measured at initial recognition, minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the 

interest method minus any reduction for 
impairment.

The loans and borrowings of the Group 
include interest bearing borrowings 
(including bank overdrafts) and trade and 
other payables which have been explained 

statements.

De-recognition

when the obligation under the liability is 

by another from the same lender on 

of an existing liability are substantially 

is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability 

amount is recognised in the statement of 

instruments

only if there is a current enforceable legal 

and intent to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

that are traded in active markets at each 
reporting date is determined by reference 
to quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and 
ask price for short positions), without any 
deduction for transaction costs.

active market, the fair value is determined 
using appropriate valuation techniques. 

 Using recent arm’s length market 
transactions;

 Reference to the current fair value of 
another instrument that is substantially 
the same;

 
valuation models.

fair value using a fair value hierarchy that 

in making the fair value measurement. The 

  Quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;
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 Inputs other than quoted prices 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices) and;

 Inputs for the asset or liability that 
are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within 

is categorised is determined on the basis of 

in their entirety into only one of the three 
levels.

3.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised 
at the amounts they are estimated to realise 
net of provisions for impairment. Other 
receivables and dues from related parties 
are recognised at fair value less provision 
for impairment. The amount of the provision 

or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Trade receivables are initially recognised 
at fair value and subsequently at amortised 

less provision for impairment.

3.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

cash in hand and demand deposits.

cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash in hand and deposits in banks net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 

based on the indirect method. 

3.15 Inventories 

Inventories are measured at lower of cost 
and net realisable value, after making 
due allowances for obsolete and slow-
moving items. Net realisable value is the 
price at which inventories can be sold in 
the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated cost of completion and estimated 
cost necessary to make the sale. 

The cost incurred in bringing the inventories 
to its present location and condition is 

 At the cost of direct 
materials, direct labour and appropriate 

normal operating capacity

 At cost determined on 

 At actual cost.

Provisions for inventory obsolescence are 
recorded based on reviews of inventories. 
Inventories considered obsolete or 

3.16 Liabilities and provisions

3.16.1 Liabilities 

those expected to fall due within one year 

liabilities are those expected to fall due 
at a point of time after one year from the 
reporting date. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade creditors and other payables are 
stated at amortised cost. 

3.16.2 Provisions, contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the 
Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Group will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

obligation, its carrying amount is the 

required to settle a provision are expected 
to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that the recovery will be 
received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

All the contingent liabilities are disclosed as 

Provision has been made for retirement 

Gratuity Act No.12 of 1983. The liability is 
not externally funded. The gratuity liabilities 
are based on actuarial valuation carried 
out. The actuarial gains and losses are 
charged or credited to the statement of 
other comprehensive income in the period 
in which they arise. 

Company and its subsidiaries with more than 
100 employees is based on the actuarial 
valuation carried out by Messrs. Actuarial 

Actuaries. The actuarial valuations involved 
making assumptions about discount rates 
and future salary increases. The complexity 
of the valuation, the underlying assumptions 

obligation are highly sensitive to changes 
in these assumptions. All assumptions 
are reviewed at each reporting date. 
Details of the key assumptions used in the 
estimates are contained in note 27. The 
main assumptions used relate to mortality, 
disability rates and withdrawal rates. The 
assumptions regarding the discount rate 
and salary rate are of critical importance in 

salary retirement scheme. 

Employees’ Provident Fund and 
Employees’ Trust Fund 

Employees are eligible for Employees’ 
Provident Fund Contributions and 
Employees’ Trust Fund Contributions in line 
with respective statutes and regulations. 
The Company and its subsidiaries contribute 
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employees to the Employees’ Provident 
Fund and to the Employees’ Trust Fund 
respectively.

3.18 Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognises lease liabilities measured 
at the present value of lease payments to be 
made over the lease term. In calculating the 
present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date if the interest 
rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement 
date, the amount of lease liabilities is 

and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of 
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 

payments or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset.

3.19 Taxes

3.19.1 Current tax

The provision for income tax is based on 
the elements of income and expenditure as 

computed in accordance with the provisions 

and the amendments thereto.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the 
current and prior periods are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered 
from, or paid to the taxation authorities. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date 
in the countries where the Group operates 
and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised 
in equity and items recognised in other 
comprehensive income shall be recognised 
in other comprehensive income and not in 

Management periodically evaluates the 
positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to the situations in which the 

applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions 
where it is appropriate.

Management has used its judgement on the 
application of tax laws including the transfer 

associated undertakings, estimation of the 
respective arm’s length prices and selection 
of appropriate pricing mechanisms.

3.19.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability 

reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 

 where the deferred tax arising from the 
initial recognition of the goodwill or 
of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, 

 in respect of taxable temporary 

in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, where the timing of the 

can be controlled and it is probable 

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 

and unused tax credits and tax losses 
carried forward to the extent that it 

available against which the deductible 

tax credits and tax losses carried 

 where the deferred income tax relating 

arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the 

or loss; and 

 in respect of deductible temporary 

in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that it is 

will reverse in the foreseeable future and 

utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it 

all or part of the deferred tax assets to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are re-assessed at each reporting 
date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future 

assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or liability settled, based on the 
tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted as at 
the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised 

or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised 
in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

assets against the current tax liabilities 
and when the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

Deferred tax during the tax holiday 
period for a group of companies under 
BOI tax holidays has been recognised for 

exemption period, taking into account the 
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3.19.3 Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of sales tax 

purchase of an asset or service is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case, the sales tax is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense item as applicable; 
and

with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables 

3.20 Commitments

All material commitments as at the 

statements. 

3.21 Revenue recognition

3.21.1 Revenue from contracts with 
customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is 
recognised when the control of the goods 
or services is transferred to the customer at 

which the Company expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services.

a) Goods transferred at a point of 
time

upon satisfaction of a performance 
obligation. The revenue recognition occurs 
at a point of time when the control of 
the asset is transferred to the customer, 
generally, on delivery of the goods. 

b) Services transferred over time 

the performance obligation over time or 
at a point of time. For each performance 

recognises the revenue over time by 
measuring the progress towards the 
complete satisfaction of that performance 
obligation.

3.22 Expenditure recognition 

Expenses are recognised in the statement 

association between the cost incurred and 

the expenditure incurred in the running 
of the business and in maintaining the 
property, plant and equipment in a state of 

For the purpose of presentation of the 

of the opinion that the function of expenses 
method presents fairly the elements of the 
Company and the Group’s performance and 
hence, this presentation method has been 
adopted. 

3.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are 
incurred, except to the extent where 
the borrowing costs, which are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets which 
are the assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended purpose, are added to the 
cost of those assets until such time, as 
the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. 

Investment income, earned on temporary 

their expenditure on qualifying assets, is 
deducted from the borrowing cost eligible 
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in 

incurred.

3.24 Events occurring after the 
reporting date 

All material events occurring after the 

been considered and where necessary, 
adjustments to, or disclosures, have been 

statements. 

3.25 Related party transactions

Disclosures are made in respect of the 
transactions in which the Group has the 

of whether a price is charged. 

3.26 Earnings per share 

or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the Group by the number of voting or 
non-voting ordinary shares. 



112 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

4. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Goods transferred at a point in time  35,767,731,640  21,511,174,801 
 35,767,731,640  21,511,174,801 

5. OTHER INCOME

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 1,917,000  -  1,917,000  - 
Dividend received from subsidiaries  -  900,000,000  - 

 8,678,883  -  8,678,883  - 
Sundry income  7,826,981  5,610,164  6,229,961 
Rent income  600,000  1,200,000  600,000  1,200,000 
Restatement of liability  10,929,577  10,929,577 

 19,022,864  20,210,520  916,806,047  18,359,538 

6. FINANCE INCOME

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Interest on repo  524,092  - 
Interest on money market deposit  571,296  571,296 
Exchange gain  22,095,815  6,198,932 

 23,191,203 10,880,621  6,770,228 

7. FINANCE EXPENSES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Interest expenses on borrowings  1,728,315,498  1,362,051,449 
7.1 (a)  (20,595,514)  (20,595,514)

Interest on lease  24,885,286  15,386,366  622,070 
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts  109,263,020  121,598,266  59,697,926  82,905,560 
Exchange loss  45,810,209  2,086,140 

 1,887,678,499  1,418,626,367  1,372,505,905 
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7.1 (a) Borrowing cost capitalised during the year

This amount relates to borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of certain 
qualifying assets that are being constructed and developed and are shown in note 13 capital work-in-progress. Such borrowing costs 

7.1(b) Rate of capitalisation

incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings.

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 2,629,452,810  789,587,416 

charging all expenses including the following:
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  1,350,792,796  1,277,186,399  729,858,953  723,012,655 
 Amortisation of intangible assets  22,265,937  18,926,675  19,920,343  17,936,768 
 Directors' emoluments  32,618,550  32,618,550 
 Auditors' remuneration - Audit services  6,140,558  6,388,118  3,943,458 
 Charity and donations 1,816,344  2,813,605 375,349  1,792,130 

1,512,439,494 710,370,296
 54,465,812 34,908,304

118,767,092 60,564,861
 Amortisation of operating lease
 Amortisation of right-of-use assets  53,068,368 -  49,149,975 - 
 Research and development cost  18,757,674  17,407,585 

84,741,524  67,790,953  45,782,259 
 Repairs and maintenance  993,078,936  589,119,432  369,026,033 
 Reimbursement of vessel operational expenses  663,913,222  696,939,096  655,009,633  696,939,096 
 NBT expense  456,418,423  304,553,937 
 Sales commission  811,249,802  547,727,090 
 Advertisement  131,831,540  187,903,183  88,589,564 

 380,233,206  380,233,206 
 Impairment of debtors 78,385,095

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Current income tax provision  9 A  159,339,850  159,193,104
 28,418,352  -  28,418,352  - 

Deferred taxation  9 B  123,822,828  186,073,226  (215,034,759) 
 311,581,030  (27,423,303) 



114 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTD.)

9 A Income tax

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 2,629,452,810  789,587,416 
Other comprehensive income  (29,095,072)  (18,670,682)  (23,330,373)

 (923,095,390)  (922,571,298)
 (2,779,149,705)  - 

income taxes  (1,101,887,357)  (156,314,255)

Aggregate disallowable items  1,121,864,241  1,159,539,392  863,195,485 
Aggregate allowable items  (1,213,786,724)  (791,680,561)

Income from business  (1,193,809,840) (368,761,779)  (84,799,331)
 293,809,840  180,816,666 

 (900,000,000)  96,017,335 
 22,495,388  21,971,296 

 Dividend income  900,000,000  -  900,000,000  - 
 Rent income  600,000 1,200,000  600,000  1,200,000 

 23,095,388  1,035,356,605  1,018,588,631 
 (5,211,579)  (5,211,579)

Taxable income  23,095,388  1,018,588,631  1,029,710,980 

 33,238,126  33,122,826 
 126,000,000  -  126,000,000  - 

 101,724  -  70,278  - 
Total tax liability  159,339,850  159,193,104 

Tax loss carried forward for the year 
5,104,029,945  2,127,611,325 1,606,764,654  1,866,866,356

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 9  159,339,850  159,193,104 
Tax attributable to other comprehensive 
income  9 B  (7,723,742)  (6,532,504)
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9 B Deferred tax expenses

Group  Company
 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 
 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Income statement 
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes on 
freehold property  68,545,793  37,853,464 

 304,326,540  (7,721,720)  (8,357,659)
(247,135,054)  (243,252,052)

 (1,914,451) -  (1,914,451) -
 123,822,828  186,073,226  (215,034,759)

Deferred tax impact on other comprehensive income  (7,723,742)  (6,532,504) 
 116,099,086  181,190,309  (221,567,263)  (299,568,965)

9 B.1

9 B.2

10. BASIC EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Group  Company
 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 
 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 2,317,991,036  817,010,719  (331,522,277)
 2,317,991,036  817,010,719  (331,522,277)

Number of ordinary shares used as the denominator:  Nos.  Nos.  Nos.  Nos. 

 400,950,000  400,950,000 
 - Ordinary voting shares  267,300,000  267,300,000  267,300,000  267,300,000 
 - Ordinary non-voting shares  133,650,000  133,650,000  133,650,000  133,650,000 

 - Ordinary voting shares  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)
 - Ordinary non-voting shares  5.78  (1.23)  2.04  (0.83)

10.1 Diluted earnings per share

 There is no potentially diluted share of the company and as a result, the diluted earnings per share are as same as the basic EPS 
shown above.

11. DIVIDEND PER SHARE

Group  Company
 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 
 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Final dividend
 - Ordinary voting shares  -  1.50  0.30 
 - Ordinary non-voting shares  - 1.50  0.30 

-  In other cases  payment would be on 03rd November 2020.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12.A Group

 Cost/Valuation 

Item  As at 
 01.04.2019 

 Additions 
 during the 

 year

 Transferred 
 from CWIP

Disposals /   As at 
 31.03.2020

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.

Freehold assets
Freehold land  2,000,000  -  -  1,047,283,041 
Factory buildings  2,705,794,198 
Generator house  22,558,795  -  -  -  22,558,795 
Other buildings  895,889,216  6,089,351  588,695,212  1,449,010,990 
Plant and machinery  23,602,111  -  10,320,109,590 
Power plant  -  -  -  221,083,463 
Factory and other equipment  697,067,361  68,126,601  -  -  765,193,962 

 -  -  169,013,780 
2,390,062  -  -  51,587,203 

Generators  59,235,761  -  -  -  59,235,761 
Recycling system  3,929,015  -  -  -  3,929,015 

 19,087,888  -  -  73,588,176 
Vehicles  -  2,558,348,519 
Bulk cement carriers  -  -  -  12,637,344 
Cement silos  2,597,367,022  -  33,350,028  -  2,630,717,050 
Cement silos - steel  260,775,686  3,770,009  -  -  264,545,695 
Tug boat  -  -  -  8,940,227 
Railway platform  7,263,915  -  -  -  7,263,915 
Barges  25,931,778  -  -  -  25,931,778 
Computer and other electronic 
equipment  199,711,398  -  -  213,268,372 
Packer house  390,773,953  -  -  419,923,662 

 31,213,368  -  -  3,451,793,170 
Batching plants  -  1,378,983,978 
Vessel  -  -  -  2,830,212,410 
Vessel dry docking  519,793,837  -  -  -  519,793,837 
Bio-mass building  790,583,631  -  -  792,169,110 
Bio-mass plant and machinery  5,010,186,651  -  -  5,091,880,193 
Bag storage warehouse - Dambulla  -  -  -  64,711,746 
Solar power system  -  -  111,092,693  -  111,092,693 

 35,890,716,553  931,029,351  37,270,601,673 

Motor vehicles  38,150,000  -  -  82,754,000 
Grand Total  35,935,320,553  931,029,351  37,353,355,673 
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 Depreciation  Written down value

 As at 
 01.04.2019

 Charge 
 for the year

 Disposals /   As at 
 31.03.2020

 As at 
 31.03.2020 

 As at 
 31.03.2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 -  -  -  1,047,283,041 
 56,160,060 499,465,140 2,206,329,058  2,176,636,532 

 22,558,795  -  -  22,558,795  - 
 (56,160,060) 611,433,349 837,577,641

 2,006,756,221  259,069,318  -  2,265,825,539  8,054,284,051 
 7,008,928  -  161,111,945  59,971,518 

 39,319,761  -  384,964,935  380,229,027 
 12,121,203  -  71,052,604  97,961,176  75,997,050 

 5,178,526  -  37,113,087  14,474,116  15,395,158 
 5,511,636  -  50,235,925  8,999,836 

 392,890  -  2,035,683  1,893,332  2,286,222 
 6,281,688  -  42,939,431  30,648,745 

 1,710,960,227  1,955,540,504  602,808,015  813,509,017 
 -  4,290,664  8,346,680 
 -  365,413,134  2,265,303,916  2,282,208,628 
 -  52,917,532  211,628,163 

 7,726,759  731,181  -  8,457,940  482,287 
 1,937,050  -  2,179,181  5,084,734  5,326,865 
 1,533,880  -  2,945,839  22,985,939 

 23,976,669  -  164,017,591  49,250,781 
 -  84,964,235  334,959,427 
 -  149,632,586  3,302,160,584 

 253,603,800  22,201,900  -  275,805,700  1,103,178,278  1,032,887,500 
 126,370,332  -  1,372,657,442  1,457,554,968  1,583,925,300 

 71,656,068  -  502,818,382  16,975,455  88,631,523 
 -  205,947,683  586,221,427 

 872,568,883  -  1,040,715,402  4,051,164,791 
 -  -  44,880,266  19,831,480 

 -  2,777,317  -  2,777,317  108,315,376  - 
 10,384,697,831  26,885,903,842 

 2,782,707  16,550,800  -  19,333,507  63,420,493 
 9,058,011,711  1,350,792,796  10,404,031,338  26,949,324,335 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTD.)

12.B Company

 Cost/Valuation 

Item  As at 
 01.04.2019 

 Restated * 

 Additions
during the Year

 Transferred 
 from CWIP 

Disposals /  As at 
 31.03.2020 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.

Freehold assets
 229,203,216  -  -  -  229,203,216 

Factory buildings  617,773,212  -  -  -  617,773,212 
Generator house  22,558,795  -  -  -  22,558,795 
Other buildings  6,089,351  588,695,212  -  1,237,875,926 
Plant and machinery  22,520,953  -  -  3,998,613,467 
Power plant  210,267,852  -  -  -  210,267,852 
Factory and other equipment  66,626,772  -  -  707,074,050 

 121,381,120  -  -  154,625,749 
 28,338,751  589,991  -  -  28,928,742 

Generators  59,162,662  -  -  -  59,162,662 
Recycling system  3,929,015  -  -  -  3,929,015 

 -  -  56,230,186 
Vehicles  -  -  (3,362,708)  797,373,730 
Bulk cement carriers  -  -  -  12,637,344 
Cement silos  -  -  -  530,907,354 
Cement silos - steel  3,770,009  -  -  643,967,517 
Tug boat  -  -  -  8,940,227 
Railway platform  7,263,915  -  -  -  7,263,915 
Barges  -  -  -  24,150,793 
Computer and other electronic 
equipment  -  -  175,044,942 
Packer house  -  -  401,803,892 

 31,213,368  -  -  3,451,793,170 
 -  -  72,901,312 

Vessel dry docking  -  -  -  457,443,468 
Biomass building  220,637,920  -  -  -  220,637,920 
Biomass plant and machinery  -  -  -  2,547,505,018 
Vessel  -  -  -  2,192,238,524 

 18,069,852,807  215,666,687  588,695,212  (3,362,708)  18,870,851,998 

Motor vehicles  35,910,000  38,150,000  -  -  74,060,000 
Grand total  18,105,762,807  253,816,687  588,695,212  (3,362,708)  18,944,911,998 
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 Depreciation  Written down value

 As at 
 01.04.2019 

 Restated * 

 Charge 
 for the year 

 Disposals /  As at 
 31.03.2020 

 As at 
 31.03.2020 

 As at 
 31.03.2019 

 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 -  -  -  229,203,216  229,203,216 
 197,592,709  8,631,705  -  206,224,414  411,548,798 

 22,558,795  -  -  22,558,795  - 
 501,806,926  71,003,863  -  572,810,789  665,065,137 

 72,719,687  -  1,636,954,042  2,361,659,425 
 153,552,388  7,008,928  -  160,561,316  49,706,536 
 318,055,831  30,987,872  -  349,043,703  358,030,347 
 55,111,821  -  64,846,212  89,779,537  66,269,299 

 2,908,332  -  28,928,742 
 5,511,636  -  50,438,244  8,724,418 

 392,890  -  2,035,683  1,893,332  2,286,222 
 30,901,610  3,895,197  -  34,796,807  21,433,379 

 692,170,039  67,990,359  (3,362,708)  756,797,690  40,576,040  108,566,399 
 -  4,290,664  8,346,680 
 -  213,130,475  317,776,879 
 -  115,539,244  528,428,273 

 7,726,759  731,181  -  8,457,940  482,287 
 1,937,050  -  2,179,181  5,084,734  5,326,865 
 1,533,880  -  2,945,839  21,204,954  22,616,913 

 130,382,032  -  147,566,148  27,478,794  36,115,857 
 -  82,723,373  319,080,519 
 -  149,793,408  3,301,999,762  3,356,300,889 
 -  8,551,638  64,349,674 

 71,656,068  -  440,468,014  16,975,454  88,631,522 
 -  92,233,449  128,404,471  135,759,068 
 -  956,411,501  1,591,093,517  1,676,010,350 

 126,370,332  -  748,220,011  1,444,018,513 
 (3,362,708)  6,858,507,322  12,012,344,676  11,923,029,730 

 -  16,275,125  57,784,875 
 729,858,953  (3,362,708)  6,874,782,447  12,070,129,551 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTD.)

12.C Value of land and ownership

Company  Location  Land extent  Number of 
 buildings 

 Building cost 
 Rs.

 Land cost 
 Rs.

a)  Tokyo Cement Company  Elpitiya Acres 7.50  3  17,906,600 
Colombo  -  - 
Negombo land 01-  

1  15,392,901  15,638,902 
Dambulla Acres 5.00  2 
Trincomalee (leasehold) 11  2,236,579,032  - 
Peliyagoda (leasehold) Acres 1.90 5  - 
Colombo Port land-01 
(leasehold) Acres 1.06 - - -
Colombo Port land-02 
(leasehold) Perches 152.30 - -

b)  Tokyo Cement Power 
Mahiyanganaya Acres 19.00  8  709,638,399  13,338,695 

c)  Tokyo Eastern Cement 
Trincomalee (leasehold) Acres 11.79 9  -

d)  Tokyo Super Aggregate 
Dompe Acres 10.50 1  96,151,037 

Acres 6.50 2  8,835,685 
 

Batching plant Acres 1.97 1  13,059,773  32,859,000 
Kandy land Acres 1.52 -  - 

Acres 12.00 1  10,867,509  93,682,327 
Meethotamulla land Acres 2.10 -  - 
Anuradhapura land Acres 2.31 -  - 
Naula land Acres 10.00 -  - 
Ratmalana land Acres 1.00 2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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13. CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

13.A  Group

Description  Balance 
 as at 

 01.04.2019 

 Expenses
incurred during

the year

 Capitalised
during

the year 
 during

the year 

 Balance as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance as at 
 31.03.2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Resource planning project  118,937,625  -  -  120,196,026  118,937,625 

Batching plants  -  13,146,490 

Solar power project  111,092,693  - 

Cement grinding mill  -  -  - 

Biomass power plant  -  83,279,021  83,279,021  -  - 

 -  -  -  10,714,286 

New housing scheme  62,663,509  175,001  -  62,838,510  62,663,509 

Centre for technical excellence  271,723,868  588,695,212  - 

Cement silos - Colombo port  165,763,907  -  -  399,918,531  165,763,907 

Peliyagoda yard  2,392,206  -  2,392,206  2,392,206 

Collection centre-Naula  -  -  -  129,645  - 

Gypsum Hemi Hydration system  -  902,981  -  -  902,981  - 

Power doss binders feeding 
system  -  328,100  -  -  328,100  - 

VSI plant foundation and core 
wall  -  -  - 

Fly ash plant  -  13,060,620  13,060,620  -  - 

Innovative product plant  -  -  - 

Total  931,029,351  65,230,716  545,336,059 

13.B  Company

Description  Balance 
 as at 

 01.04.2019 
 Restated *

 Expenses
incurred during

the year

 Capitalised
during

the year 
 during

the year 

 Balance as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance as at 
 31.03.2019 

 Restated *

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Resource planning project  118,937,625  -  -  120,196,026  118,937,625 

 -  -  -  10,714,286 

New housing scheme  62,663,508  175,002  -  62,838,510  62,663,508 

Centre for technical excellence  271,723,868  588,695,212  - 

Cement silos - Colombo port  165,763,907  -  -  399,918,531  165,763,907 

Total  675,050,670  507,311,895  588,695,212  62,838,510  530,828,843  675,050,670 
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14.A Group

Written down value

Group  Company

Item  As at 
31st March, 2020 

 As at
31st March, 2019 

 As at
31st March, 2020 

 As at 
31st March, 2019 

 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Goodwill  32,995,007  32,995,007  - 

Accounting and related software  60,970,724  83,236,661  52,578,252 

 93,965,731  116,231,668  52,578,252 

balance of the goodwill as at 01st December, 2006 as well as the goodwill generated from the subsequent acquisition which was 

accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice for Merger Accounting for Common Central Combination issued by the 

value less cost to sell and value in use. Since the value in use of the cash generating unit is higher than the fair value less cost to sell, 

information which have been approved by the Board of Directors.

14.1 Accounting and related software

14.1.A Group

 Cost/Valuation  Amortisation  Written down value

Item As at
 01.04.2019

 Additions As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 01.04.2019

For the year As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 31.03.2019

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

ABAS ERP solution 
system  - 145,543,897  75,839,106  18,673,268  94,512,374  51,031,523 

H Senid HRM-Payroll 
enterprise system  -  4,988,293  3,441,562  1,546,731  2,793,806 

integration software  -  562,541  -  562,541  - 

Data processing 
software  11,727,972  -  11,727,972  989,908  3,335,502  8,392,470 

 162,822,703  -  162,822,703  22,265,937 101,851,979  60,970,724  83,236,661 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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14.1 B Company

 Cost/Valuation  Amortisation  Written down value

Item As at
 01.04.2019

 Additions As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 01.04.2019

For the year As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 31.03.2020

As at
 31.03.2019

Restated *  Restated *

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

ABAS ERP solution 
system  - 136,463,571  66,758,782  18,673,268  85,432,050  51,031,521 
H Senid HRM-Payroll 
enterprise system  -  4,988,293  3,441,562  1,546,731  2,793,807 

integration software  -  562,541  -  562,541  - 
 - 142,014,405  69,515,810  89,436,153  52,578,252 

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Ordinary shares (2,200,000,010 shares)  -  2,200,000,010  2,200,000,010 

Ordinary shares (7,751,368,000 shares)  -  7,751,368,000  7,751,368,000 

 -  92,112,245 

Ordinary shares (1,993,696,688 shares)  -  1,993,696,688  1,993,696,688 
 -  12,037,176,943 

15.1 Partly - owned subsidiaries

 2019/2020  2018/2019 

Name of the company
51%

 93,299,779  93,577,175 

company eliminations.

 2019/2020
Rs. 

 2018/2019
Rs. 

 (566,115)  33,895,598 
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTD.)

 2019/2020 
 Rs. 

 2018/2019 
 Rs. 

Non-current assets  411,660,500 
Current assets  151,953,614  125,079,777 
Total assets  563,614,114 
Capital and reserve  190,407,714  190,973,829 
Non-current liabilities  96,845,949  96,111,019 
Current liabilities  276,360,451 
Total equity and liabilities  563,614,114 

 2019/2020 
 Rs. 

 2018/2019 
 Rs. 

 19,505,121  8,338,791 
 (26,417,131)  (68,103,702)
 (27,726,757)
 (34,638,767)  (55,570,500)

16. OPERATING LEASE PREPAYMENT

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  431,335,011  431,335,011 
Amortisation during the year

 (431,335,011)  -  (431,335,011)  - 
At the end of the year

 Non-current portion of pre-payment

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  -  - 
 839,224,251  -  756,937,997  - 

Addition during the year  559,948,972  -  559,948,972  - 
 (53,068,368)  -  (49,149,975)  - 

At the end of the year  1,346,104,855  -  1,267,736,994  - 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets when the underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred and the lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the 
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of its estimated useful life or the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.



125Annual Report 2019/20

18. INVENTORIES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Raw material  980,907,433  1,369,209,776  356,937,352 
Finished goods  911,170,714  789,071,179 
Packing materials  582,164,949  468,826,484 
Spares and consumables  666,607,553  528,055,779  395,849,486 
Goods-in-transit  351,785,817  196,945,042  236,050,292 

 3,492,636,466  2,207,629,543  2,651,867,788 

The inventories have been pledged against borrowings as disclosed in note no 33.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Trade debtors - Related parties  19.1 446,973,778  1,052,589,169 
  - Others 3,253,032,954  3,859,020,926  1,315,240,517 

 3,700,006,732  2,367,829,686  2,917,163,362 
 (132,829,999)  (55,384,108)  (86,798,832)

 3,567,176,733  2,312,445,578 
Deposits, advances and pre-payments  475,808,257  152,900,044 
Other receivables  942,046,709  628,075,223  443,077,551  519,035,026 

 4,985,031,699  2,908,423,173 

19.1 Trade debtors - Related parties

Group  Company

Name of the related party Nature of the 
relationship

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Subsidiary

 -  604,061,026 
Tokyo Eastern Cement Company 

 -  3,014,947  28,900,167 
 -  321,797  - 

Company 
 187,963,922  168,971,522  187,963,922  168,971,522 
 249,154,263  249,154,263 

 8,073,214  -  8,073,214  - 
1,559,589 - -

222,790 - -
446,973,778  1,052,589,169 
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTD.)

19.2 Mitigation of credit risk exposure

The management reviews impairment indications of each debtor on an individual basis and the fair value of trade debtors is subject 
to net of impairment loss and (no requirement is sought) to the allowance for credit risk. 

20. TAX RECEIVABLES/ (PAYABLES)

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  310,451,600  301,575,335  300,762,091 

 (28,418,352)  -  (28,418,352)  - 

Taxation for the year  (159,339,850)  (159,193,104)

 122,693,398  113,963,879 

 126,316,250  269,861,686  126,316,250  269,607,220 

 19,525,098  19,525,098 

 Tax paid 126,055,624  - 126,055,624  - 

 ESC transferred to other receivables  (76,649,640)  -  (76,649,640)  - 

At the end of the year  298,415,632  289,686,113  301,575,335 

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 -  533,411,518 

 -  213,163,643  168,185,525 

 -  2,519,788 

 -  60,406,783  3,676,783 

 -  806,981,944 

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Investments in treasury bills  7,623,250  7,099,158  - 

 7,623,250  7,099,158  - 
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Favourable balances
Cash at bank 387,043,456  291,922,967  184,148,456 
Money market deposits  18,036  86,306  18,036  86,306 
Cash in hand  42,910,566  21,450,234 

 429,972,058  205,616,726 

Unfavourable balances
Bank overdraft  1,388,076,042  1,588,838,697  720,739,790 

24. STATED CAPITAL

Group

Description  At the beginning 
 of the year 

 01st April, 2019 

 Share issued 
 during 

 the year 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2020 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Value of ordinary shares  -  4,239,611,750 
 -  4,239,611,750 

Company

Description  At the beginning 
 of the year 

 01st April, 2019 

 Share issued 
 during 

 the year 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2020 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Value of ordinary shares  -  4,239,611,750 
 -  4,239,611,750 

24.1 Movement in number of ordinary shares

Group

Description  At the beginning 
 of the year 

 01st April, 2019 

 Share issued 
 during 

 the year 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2020 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2019 

Ordinary shares (Nos)
 - Voting  267,300,000  -  267,300,000  267,300,000 
 - Non-voting  133,650,000  -  133,650,000  133,650,000 

 -  400,950,000 
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24. STATED CAPITAL (CONTD.)
24.1 Movement in number of ordinary shares (Contd.)

Company

Description  At the beginning 
 of the year 

 01st April, 2019 

 Share issued 
 during 

 the year 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2020 

 At the end 
 of the year 

 31st March, 2019 

Ordinary shares (Nos)
 - Voting  267,300,000  -  267,300,000  267,300,000 
 - Non-voting  133,650,000  -  133,650,000  133,650,000 

 -  400,950,000 

The above shares are quoted in the Colombo Stock Exchange. The non-voting shares rank pari passu in respect of all rights with the 
ordinary voting shares of the Company except for the voting rights.

25. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
25.1 Long-term interest bearing borrowings

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  7,088,322,405  5,228,851,930 
 6,755,285,206  1,631,233,000  6,616,941,206 

 13,843,607,611  9,185,282,983  11,845,793,136  6,109,211,600 
 (2,921,754,125)  (2,096,960,578)  (1,836,192,400)  (880,359,670)

At the end of the year  10,921,853,486  10,009,600,736  5,228,851,930 
Current maturity portion  A  3,706,693,280  2,235,037,500  3,288,849,530 
Non-current maturity portion  7,215,160,206  6,720,751,206 

 10,921,853,486  10,009,600,736  5,228,851,930 

Analysis of long-term loans by the year of 
repayment

 10,867,593,486  6,906,738,500  10,009,600,736  5,113,051,930 
 54,260,000  181,583,905  115,800,000 

 10,921,853,486  10,009,600,736  5,228,851,930 

25.2 Short-term borrowings

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Import demand loans 25.2.1  2,589,781,836  1,327,981,749 
25.2.2  50,000,000  50,000,000 

 B  2,589,781,836  1,327,981,749 

Total current interest bearing borrowings  A+B  6,296,475,116  4,616,831,279 
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25.2.1 Import demand loans

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  6,927,085,684  5,854,944,684 
 16,199,920,220  21,805,815,067  11,108,281,973 

 (20,537,224,068)  (19,781,732,103)  (15,635,244,908)  (17,306,967,103)
At the end of the year  2,589,781,836  1,327,981,749 

25.2.2 Working capital loans

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  50,000,000  500,000,000  50,000,000  500,000,000 
 -  - 

 (50,000,000)  (50,000,000)
At the end of the year  50,000,000  50,000,000 

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  2,725,668,431  1,722,701,937  2,022,270,902 
 17,496,623  -  12,852,036  - 

other comprehensive income  9.B  116,099,086  181,190,309  (221,567,263)  (299,568,965)
At the end of the year  2,859,264,140  1,513,986,710  1,722,701,937 

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

and equipment  3,454,977,541  3,500,836,857  2,006,963,135  1,969,109,670 

 (78,201,144)  (60,981,967)  (203,500,659)
 (533,094,429)  (442,932,043)

 15,582,172  -  10,937,585  - 
 2,859,264,140  1,513,986,710  1,722,701,937 

26.1



130 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (CONTD.)

26.2 Deferred tax for tax holiday companies

27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

At the beginning of the year  224,904,869  167,665,056 

Transfer of liability to subsidiary companies  - 
 224,904,869 167,665,056 

 29,095,072  18,670,682  23,330,373 
Current service cost  29,726,277  22,307,930  16,465,148 
Interest cost  24,739,535  18,443,156 
Provision for the year  83,560,884  62,160,029  58,238,677 

 308,465,753  225,903,733 
Payments made during the year (11,600,271)  (19,219,787) (8,110,996)
At the end of the year  296,865,482  217,792,737  167,665,056 

27.1 Sensitivity of assumptions employed in actuarial valuation

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions employed with all other 

Increase/ (decrease)  
in discount rate

Increase/ (decrease)  
in salary escalation rate

obligation obligation

 Rs.  Rs. 

 **  276,630,169  205,565,387 
 **  231,819,971 

 **  232,617,525 
 **  275,328,756 

31st March 2020 31st March 2019 

a) Discount rate  10% 
b) Salary increment rate  10% 
c) Retirement age  55 years  55 years 
d) Employee turnover ratio  2% 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28. LEASE CREDITOR

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Gross lease creditor
At the beginning of the year  33,896,977  27,427,696  - 

1,342,095,183  - 1,039,695,183  - 
 Facility obtained during the year  28.2  24,407,472  24,407,472 

 1,400,399,632  38,302,193  1,091,530,351 
 (67,405,401)  (50,365,609)  (1,523,750)

At the end of the year  1,332,994,231  33,896,977  1,041,164,742 

Interest in suspense 
At the beginning of the year  7,134,383  6,179,376  - 

 28.2  1,009,574,707 -  759,992,331 -
 Facility obtained during the year  5,282,479  5,282,479 

 (24,885,287)  (15,386,366)  (622,070)
At the end of the year  997,106,282  756,067,820  6,179,376 

Net liability to lease creditors  335,887,949  285,096,922 

Current maturity portion  42,385,423  34,461,157 
Non-current maturity portion  293,502,526  250,635,765  16,663,308 

 335,887,949  285,096,922 

28.1
lease repayable within one year and repayable after one year.

28.2
term. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the group incremental borrowing rate at the date of the 
initial application.

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

Note  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Bills payable  501,486,396  501,486,397 
Expense creditors - Related parties 29.1  70,260  7,444,276  130,598,310 
   - Others  1,267,532,620  2,565,805,901  784,856,256 
Other creditors  737,799,043  813,731,855  292,990,381 

 2,506,818,059  1,586,777,310 
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTD.)

29.1 Payable to related parties

Group  Company

Name of the related party Nature of the 
relationship

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Subsidiary  -  3,786,626 
Tokyo Eastern Cement Company 

Subsidiary  -  3,556,549  63,937,356 
Subsidiary  -  101,101  - 

 
 70,260  - 
 70,260  7,444,276  130,598,310 

30. AMOUNT DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

Group  Company

 31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019  31st March, 2020  31st March, 2019 
 Restated * 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 -  1,149,018,163 
 -  1,149,018,163 

31. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 

31.1 Company 

31.1.1 Capital commitments

statements.

a) Investment on a proposed resource planning project in Mannar at an estimated cost of Rs. 91 Mn. Total cost of the project 
completed as at 31st March, 2020 is Rs. 120 Mn with the additional approval for cost overrun.

b) Investment on a proposed Colombo Cement Terminal Expansion Project at an estimated cost of Rs. 2,200 Mn. Total cost of the 

31.1.2 Other commitments

a) The Company has entered into an agreement with the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to export Biomass power for a period of 20 
years subject to terms and conditions.

b) The Company has entered into an agreement with the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to purchase Coal Ash from the Norochcholai 
power plant for a period of 5 years commencing from the year 2018.

31.2 Subsidiary companies

31.2.1 Capital commitments

a) Tokyo Cement Power (Lanka) (Pvt) Ltd

i) The Company is planning to expand the existing solar energy harvesting system with a capacity of 325 Kwh as estimated cost of  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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31.2.2 Other commitments

a) Tokyo Cement Power (Lanka) (Pvt) Ltd

i) The company has entered into an agreement with the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to export biomass power for a period of  
20 years subject to the terms and conditions.

ii)  The company has entered into an agreement with the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to export solar power for a period of  
20 years subject to the terms and conditions.

b) Tokyo Eastern Cement Company (Pvt) Ltd

i) The Company has entered into an agreement with the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to purchase Coal Ash from the Norochcholai 
power plant for a period of 5 years commencing from the year 2018.

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

32.1 Contingent liabilities

 Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC

of Shipping and Ports Development, as a qualifying payment relief and an appeal has been preferred in the Court of Appeal on the 

in favour of the Company to overturn the Court of Appeal determinations. The case is yet to be listed. Having discussed with 
independent legal and tax experts based on information available, the contingent liability as at 31st March 2020 is estimated at 

32.2 Contingent assets

There were no material contingent assets for the Group as at the reporting date.

33. ASSETS PLEDGED 

Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Tokyo Cement 
Company 
(Lanka) PLC

a. Term loans

i. Commercial Bank  382,500,000 Repayable in 60 equal 
monthly instalment of 

-

ii. Commercial Bank  500,000,000  392,100,000 Repayable in 59 equal 
monthly instalments 

(a) Mortgage bond 
for Rs.500 Mn to 
be executed over 
machinery (3 Units 

Cranes and 03 
Nos of four Rope 
Grabs) located at 
Trincomalee Jetty.

iii. Commercial Bank  421,400,000 
monthly instalments of 

(a) Mortgage over 
unregistered 
leasehold rights for 
Rs. 1,165 Mn.
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Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

iv. Commercial Bank  625,337,755  - 
monthly instalment of 

v. Commercial Bank  2,000,000,000  700,130,000  1,100,090,000 Repayable in 59 equal 
monthly instalments of 

interest

(a) Mortgage over plant, 
machinery and project 
assets of Tokyo 
Eastern Cement 

vi. Sampath Bank  500,000,000  125,011,930 
monthly instalments of Rs. 500 Mn.

(b) Negative pledge 
over project assets. 
(Ready mix plant 

Orugodawaththa)

vii. Commercial Bank  1,100,000,000  855,200,000  1,100,000,000 Repayable in 26 equal 
monthly instalments 

viii. Commercial Bank  774,620,000  983,150,000 

instalments of 

(a) Mortgage the vessel 
for an amount of 

called upon to do so 
by the bank.

ix. Commercial Bank  500,000,000  491,700,000  500,000,000 Repayable in 59 equal 
monthly instalments 

-

x. Commercial Bank  6,000,000,000  5,366,603,451  - 
monthly instalments of 

-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Tokyo Cement 
Company 
(Lanka) PLC

b. Short term loan

i. Commercial Bank 

(Import demand 
loan)

1,000,000,000  42,264,000 Each loan to be settled 
within 120 days from 
date of grant.

 - 

ii. Commercial Bank  750,000,000 Each loan to be settled 
within 120 days from 
date of grant.

(a) Mortgage Bond 

06th August, 2002, 
executed over 
stock in trade and 
book debts of the 
company for  
Rs.110 Mn ranking 
equal and pari 
passu with the 
primary mortgage 
executed by the 
company in favour 
of Sampath Bank 
for Rs.385 Mn and 
documents relating 
to goods received 
duly accepted by 
the company. 

iii. Sampath Bank 2,200,000,000 1,174,952,530 718,690,285 Each loan to be 
settled within 120 
days from date of 
grant.

(a) Stock and book 
debts of the 
company

iv. Sampath Bank 500,000,000 110,765,217 137,037,500

c. Overdraft facility

i. Commercial Bank  511,000,000  720,361,278 On demand (a) General terms and 
conditions relating 
to overdraft.

ii. Sampath Bank  50,000,000  378,512  63,531,076 On demand (b) Overdraft 
agreement of  
Rs 50Mn. Secondary 
Mortgage over 
cement, plant and 
machinery at PVQ 
Jetty,Colombo Port 
premises, Colombo 
15 for Rs.50Mn.
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Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Tokyo Super 
Cement 
Company 
Lanka (Pvt) Ltd

(The Company 
amalgamated 
with the parent 
Company on 
13th June 
2019)

a. Term loans

i. Commercial Bank 500,000,000 500,000,000 

ii. Import demand 
loans

Commercial Bank 800,000,000 1,855,918,666 

Sampath Bank 500,000,000  172,781,525 

Tokyo Eastern 
Cement 
Company  
(Pvt) Ltd 

a. Term loans

i. Commercial Bank  2,000,000,000  165,200,000 Repayable in 35 equal 
monthly instalments of 

grace period of one 
year at the beginning).

on term loan and 
corporate guarantee 
from Tokyo Cement 

Mn.

b. Import demand loan

i. Commercial Bank  - Repayable within 120 
days from the date of 
grant.

(a) Corporate 
guarantee bond 
from Tokyo Cement 

ii. Sampath Bank  2,000,000,000  1,261,800,088  - Repayable within 120 
days from the date of 
grant.

(a) Corporate 
guarantee of Tokyo 
Cement Company 

Rs.2.5 Bn. 

(b) Hypothecation bond 
for Rs. 2 Bn 
over stock and 
book debts 
held at regional 
plant situated 
at Peliyagoda, 
Orugodawattta, 
Vauniya, and factory 
at Cod Bay, China 
Bay, Trincomalee.

c. Overdraft facility

i. Commercial Bank  75,000,000  128,499,245 On demand (a) General terms and 
conditions relating 
to overdraft.

33. ASSETS PLEDGED (CONTD.)
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Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Tokyo Cement 
Power  
(Lanka)  
(Pvt) Ltd

a. Capital term loan

i. Sampath Bank  95,000,000  92,150,000  95,000,000 

instalments after 
a capital grace 
period of 06 months 

monthly instalments 

(a) Corporate 
guarantee for Tokyo 
Cement Company 

Tokyo Super 
Aggregate 
(Pvt) Ltd 

a. Term loans

i. Commercial Bank  12,220,000  25,570,000 Repayable in 35 equal 
monthly instalments 

(a) Corporate 
guarantee for 
Rs.585 Mn of Tokyo 
Cement Company 

(b) Insurance policy for 
Rs.57 Mn executed 
over machinery.

(c) Mortgage bond 
for Rs. 50Mn to 
be executed over 
machinery.

ii. Commercial Bank  50,000,000  50,000,000  - Repayable in 53 equal 
monthly instalments 

iii. Commercial Bank  85,000,000  69,380,000  85,000,000 Repayable in 59 equal 
monthly instalment of 

 

b. Overdraft facility 

Commercial Bank 100,000,000  145,144,245 On demand (a) General terms and 
conditions related 
to overdraft

Tokyo 
Supermix  
(Pvt) Ltd 

a. Term loans

i Commercial Bank  307,500,000  390,000,000 
monthly instalments of 

(a) Primary Mortgage 
bond for Rs. 118 Mn 
executed over the 
property situated 

owned by Tokyo 

ii Commercial Bank  20,000,000 13,400,000  17,360,000 
monthly instalments 

(a) Mortgage over 
land marked lot 1 
depicted in plan 

situated at 
Udahaduwa 
containing in extent 
of 10A. 01R.10P.
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Name of the 
Company

Nature of liabilities 
and the name of 
bank

Loan/facility
granted 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2020 

 Balance 
 outstanding 

 as at 
 31.03.2019 

Repayment Security pledged 

Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

iii Commercial Bank  273,333,000  141,281,000  185,897,000 Repayable in 39 equal 
monthly instalments of 

 

(a) Mortgage for 
Rs. 17.5 Mn over 
property situated 
in Ratmalana and 
Naula owned by the 
Tokyo Supermix 

mortgage for  
Rs. 36 Mn executed 
over 05 Nos. of 
truck mixtures.

(b) Mortgage bond 

be executed over 
trucks , pump cars 
and other related 
vehicles when 
the vehicles are 
registered .  
(c) Corporate 
guarantee bond for  

obtained from Tokyo 
Cement Company 

iv. Commercial Bank  326,667,000  61,121,750  33,500,000 Repayable in 59 equal 
monthly instalments of 

 

(a) Mortgage Bond 

be executed over 
trucks,pumps cars 
& other related 
vehicles when 
the vehicles are 
registered. 
(b) Corporate 
guarantee bond 

obtained from Tokyo 
Cement Company 

b. Overdraft facility

i. Commercial Bank 200,000,000 374,921,730 On demand (a) General terms and 
conditions relating 
to overdraft.

33. ASSETS PLEDGED (CONTD.)
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

34.1 The Directors of the Company are also Directors of the following Companies:
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X X X X X X X  -    -    -   

X X  -    -    -    -   X  -    -    -   

X X X X X X X  -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -   X X X  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -  X X X  -   -   -   -   -   -   

 -  X  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

 -  X  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

 -   -  X  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

 -  X  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

34.2 The Company and the Group have entered into the following transactions during the year in the ordinary course of business with 
related entities at commercial rates.

Group  Company

Nature of the 
relationship

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Subsidiary Companies
(a) Tokyo Cement Power (Lanka) 

(Pvt) Ltd
Subsidiary 
Company

 70,904,550  30,678,000  57,804,550  13,878,900 
 Expenses incurred on behalf of the 

Company  304,116  -  304,116  - 
 Purchase of ready mix concrete  534,831  -  - 
 Payments made  357,156  -  - 
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Group  Company

Nature of the 
relationship

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

(b) Tokyo Eastern Cement Company 
(Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary 
Company

 1,991,836,164  1,978,736,164 
 Expenses incurred on behalf of the 

Company  149,016,427  149,016,427  219,905,386 
 Sale of raw materials  213,319,496  126,248,375 
 Investment in stated capital  3,601,367,000  1,186,802,000 
 Purchase of ready mix concrete  1,195,141  30,732,617  - 
 Purchase of raw materials  142,933,842  327,327,296  142,933,286 
 Income from lab testing  5,509,970  -  5,509,970  - 
 Biomass purchases  113,273  113,273 
 Dividend received  900,000,000  -  900,000,000  - 
 Sale of cement  39,777,998  -  - 
 Settlements received  304,903,266  172,683,452 
 Payments made  195,598,051 288,181,976  194,784,472 113,809,539
(c) Tokyo Super Aggregate (Pvt) Ltd Subsidiary 

Company Investment in stated capital
 Expenses incurred on behalf of the 

Company  26,845,295  18,853,706  - 
 Purchase of sand and metal  - 

 102,429,001  -  56,730,000  - 

 Gratuity liability transfer  1,980,000  1,980,000 
 Aggregate sales  344,081,906  -  - 
 Income from lab testing  313,580  -  313,580  - 
 Settlements received  410,825,315  159,528  - 
(d) Tokyo Supermix (Pvt) Ltd Subsidiary 

Company Investment in stated capital
 Expenses incurred on behalf of the 

Company  44,458,445  17,613,150 
 78,520,830  318,207,811  32,821,829  318,207,811 

 Sale of ready mix concrete  28,244,489  26,514,517 
 Purchase of sand and metal  344,081,906  - 
 Purchase of cement  1,527,159,668  1,487,381,670 
 Asset transfer
 Sale of other raw material and 

spare parts  87,071,121  272,668,510  272,668,510 
 Gratuity liability transfer 
 Income from lab testing  1,489,652  -  1,489,652  - 
 Sale of power  792,735  -  792,735  - 
 Settlements received  1,743,756,671  1,742,585,936 
 Payments made  635,897,852 529,962,032  93,012,251 

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTD.)

34.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Group  Company

Nature of the 
relationship

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Other Related Companies
(a) St. Anthony’s Consolidated (Pvt) 

Ltd Company 
 Sales commission  771,172,569  478,242,028 

 7,651,269  7,651,269  - 
 Marketing department 

reimbursement  15,855,736  -  15,855,736  - 
 Payments made  723,006,182  -  494,698,905 
(b) St. Anthony’s Hardware (Pvt) Ltd

Company  Purchase of chemicals  104,636,167  110,535,559  - 
 40,100,008  50,975,000  10,875,000 

 Purchase of consumables  271,940  603,560  124,136 
 Settlements received  154,702,056  -  139,996  1,286,985 
(c) South Asian Investment (Pvt) Ltd

Company  Sales commission  32,120,773  32,120,773 
 Payments made  41,307,873  120,168,691  41,307,873  120,168,691 

Company  Sale of cement  846,445,626  909,510,797  845,932,438  909,510,797 
 Sale of concrete  175,000  - 
 Settlements received  936,380,385  991,318,255  935,867,197  991,318,255 
(e) Rhino Products Ltd

Company  Sale of cement  1,119,146,609  1,085,130,957  1,119,146,609  1,085,130,957 
 Settlements received  1,276,150,453  1,219,673,706  1,276,150,453  1,219,673,706 
(f) Escas Diggala (Pvt) Ltd

Company  Sale of concrete  4,938,808  -  - 
 Settlements received  4,182,446 - -
(g) St. Anthony’s Industries Group 

(Pvt) Ltd Company 
 Purchase of consumables  5,148,279  6,799,107  5,028,626  6,799,260 
 Payments made  5,894,833  6,815,825  5,775,180  6,815,825 
(h) Orion City Limited

Company  Rent expense  8,828,071  8,828,071  - 
 Rent paid  8,828,071  8,828,071  - 
(i) St Anthony’s Homemart (Pvt) Ltd

Company  Sale of cement  16,138  -  16,138  - 
 634,908  -  634,908  - 

 Purchase of consumables 6,618,118  2,710,683  775,360 
 Sale of innovation product  337,808  - -
 Payments made  7,087,785  -  2,787,123  1,005,600 
 Settlements received  1,078,600  2,550,337  1,078,600  2,550,337 
(j) Escas Ankanda (Pvt) Ltd

Company  Sale of concrete  477,508  -  - 
 Settlements received  787,718 - -
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34.3 Collaterals or corporate guarantees given to related parties

The Group has not provided assets as collaterals or corporate guarantees for subsidiaries or other related companies for borrowing 
purposes except as referred to in note no 33.

34.4 Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The sales to, and purchases from, related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail at arm’s length transactions. 
Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured and interest free. There have been no guarantees provided or received for 
any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31st March, 2020, the Company has not recorded any impairment of 

34.4.1 Amounts due to / from related parties

34.5 Transactions with key management personnel of the company or its parent

34.5.1
executives etc. who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company as well 
as the subsidiaries, directly or indirectly.

a)  Compensation of key management personnel

2019/2020
Rs.

2018/2019
Rs.

Directors’ emoluments and other key management personnels remuneration 115,721,098 88,111,520 
 - 

115,721,098 88,111,520 

Group  Company

Nature of the 
relationship

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Limited Company 
 Sale of cement  55,085,717  55,085,717 
 Settlements received  67,547,008  35,107,713  67,547,008  35,107,713 
(l) Supermet Building Solutions (Pvt) 

Limited Company 
 Purchase of chemicals  236,866  236,866 
 Payments made  272,396  272,396 

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTD.)

34.2
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34.5.2 The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to key 

2019/2020
Rs.

2018/2019
Rs.

115,721,098  88,111,520 
 - 
 - 
 - 

e) Share-based payments  - 
115,721,098  88,111,520 

34.6 Non-recurrent related party transactions

Party Transactions under the Securities and Exchange Commission Directive issued under Section 13(c) of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission Act.

The Related Party Transactions Review Committee has reviewed the relevant related party transactions, approved the transactions 
and directed to make immediate disclosure to Colombo Stock Exchange in respect of the non-recurrent transactions.

34.7 Recurrent related party transactions

under Colombo Stock Exchange listing rule 9.3.2 and Code of Best Practices on Related Party Transactions under the Securities and 
Exchange Commission Directive issued under Section 13(c) of the Security Exchange Commission Act.

34.8. Subsidiary companies

Company

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

35.1 Introduction

monitoring subject to risk limit and other controls. The Board of Directors places special consideration on the management of such 

(a) Market Risk

risk include bank loans, investments and trade payables.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTD.)

(b) Interest rate risk

market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term 

variable rate loans and borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held 

Group Increase/
(decrease)

in interest rate
before tax

Rs. Rs.

2020 1% (53,828,012) (53,828,012)
53,828,012 53,828,012 

2019 (65,161,762) (65,161,762)
65,161,762 65,161,762 

Company Increase/
(decrease)

in interest rate
before tax

Rs. Rs.

2020 1% (33,742,519) (33,742,519)
33,742,519 33,742,519 

2019 (37,173,933) (37,173,933)
37,173,933 37,173,933 

(c) Foreign currency risk

in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate changes is minimised by positive negotiations with banks 

 Group

Exchange rate Increase/
(decrease)

in exchange rate

31.03.2020 31.03.2019

Rs. Rs.
before tax 

Rs. Rs.

USD (151,513,073) (151,513,073) (186,128,030) (186,128,030)
151,513,073 151,513,073 186,128,030 186,128,030 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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 Company

Exchange rate Increase/
(decrease)

in exchange rate

31.03.2020 31.03.2019

Rs. Rs.
before tax 

Rs. Rs.

USD (97,129,213) (97,129,213)
97,129,213 97,129,213

(d) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all clients who wish to trade on credit 

of the counterparty. The Group manages its operations to avoid any excessive concentration of counterparty risk and the Group 

(e) Liquidity risk

funds to meet its medium term capital and funding obligations, including organic growth and acquisition activities, and to meet any 
unforeseen obligations and opportunities. The Group holds cash and undrawn committed facilities to enable the Group to manage its 
liquidity risk and the liquidity position is closely monitored due to the COVID 19 situation.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a daily cash management process. This process considers the maturity of 

from operations.

undiscounted payments.

 Group

Within 1
year

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.

More than 5
years

Rs.

Total

Rs.

Interest bearing 
borrowings 13,511,635,322

38,769,760 35,623,315 173,901,307  335,887,949 

Trade and other 
payables  2,506,818,059  -  -  -  -  -  2,506,818,059 

Bank overdrafts  -  -  -  -  -  1,388,076,042 

228,161,307  17,742,417,372 
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTD.) 

 (e) Liquidity Risk (Contd.)

 Company

Within 1
year

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.
years

Rs.

More than 5
years

Rs.

Total

Rs.

Interest bearing 
borrowings  3,105,250,000  138,137,755  - 11,337,582,485

 285,096,922 

Amount due to 
subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  -  1,149,018,163 

Trade and other 
payables  1,586,777,310  -  -  -  -  -  1,586,777,310 

Bank overdrafts  720,739,790  -  -  -  -  -  720,739,790 

 8,107,827,699 1,356,619,936 155,190,199  15,079,214,670 

36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group  Company

 Carrying amount  Fair value  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Financial assets
Trade and other receivable
Financial investments  7,623,250  7,623,250  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 205,616,726  205,616,726 

Financial liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings  13,511,635,322  13,511,635,322 
Trade and other payables  2,506,818,059  2,506,818,059 1,586,777,310 1,586,777,310 
Bank overdrafts 720,739,790 720,739,790 

 Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure of the companies of the Group on a regular basis. The intention of the Board 

interests.

38. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

declared a state of emergency situation with travel restrictions from 18th March 2020 and as a result the operation of the Company 
was scaled down in the month of April 2020. However, the Group has recovered in the subsequent months in terms of revenue with 

b) Dividend declaration

 

of Non-Voting Ordinary Shares for the year ended 31st March, 2020, which require the approval of the shareholders at the Annual 
 

 
under review.

the auditors prior to payment of the dividend of Rs. 1.50 per ordinary voting shares and Rs. 1.50 per ordinary non-voting shares for 

39. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

40. EFFECT OF AMALGAMATION

Pursuant to the approval of directors on 25th March, 2019 the Company was amalgamated with Tokyo Super Cement Company 

under statement of recommended practice (SORP)-merger accounting common control business combination issued by the Institute 

(a) The combined statement of comprehensive income includes the result of each of the combining entities or business from the date 
earliest presented.

(b) Expenditure incurred in relation to the common control combination that is to be accounted for by using merger accounting is 
recognised as an expense.

control combinations is eliminated.
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40. EFFECT OF AMALGAMATION (CONTD.)

40.1

 Year ended 
 31.03.2019 

 TCCL * 

 Year ended 
 31.03.2019 

 TSCCLL ** 
 amalgamation 

 Combined 
 entity 

 (Restated) 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Revenue from contracts with customers  22,877,783,623  8,731,168,726 
Cost of sales  (19,580,911,923)

 3,296,871,700  5,806,058 
Other income  6,388,223  (18,538,939)  18,359,538 

 2,618,682,329  (12,732,881)

Distribution expenses  - 
Administrative expenses  12,732,881  (1,359,969,917)
Other expenses  (380,233,206)  -  (380,233,206)

 (168,957,690)  -  1,022,715,555 

Finance income  (107,000,000)
Finance expenses  (1,193,535,077)  (285,970,828)  107,000,000  (1,372,505,905)

 - 

Income tax expense  287,983,135  (280,161,637)  - 
 738,975,776  -  (331,522,277)

 (780,261)  - 
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive 
income  - 

 -  (10,376,388)

 (1,079,875,707)  - 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.
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40.2

 As at 
 31.03.2019 

 TCCL * 

 As at 
 31.03.2019 

 TSCCLL ** 
 amalgamation 

 Combined 
 entity 

 (Restated) 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  9,973,758,580  1,983,718,025  - 
Capital work-in-progress  675,050,670  -  -  675,050,670 
Intangible assets  -  - 
Investment in subsidiaries  12,637,618,257 
Operating lease prepayment  -  - 
Related party loan  -  - 

 7,069,001,668 
Current assets
Inventories  2,300,371,588  -  2,651,867,788 
Trade and other receivables  3,296,278,866  677,965,151  - 
Operating lease prepayment  -  - 
Tax receivables  (119,657,716)  -  301,575,335 
Amount due from subsidiaries
Related party loan  -  179,281,357  (179,281,357)  - 
Cash and cash equivalents  50,985,685  - 

 (1,180,812,151)  7,829,367,106 
Total assets  9,223,733,689  (6,866,537,108)

Capital and reserve
Stated capital
Retained earnings  -  10,613,206,262 

 13,707,719,288  6,010,105,038 
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings  -  - 
Deferred tax liability  1,220,869,879  501,832,058  -  1,722,701,937 

 153,239,552  -  167,665,056 
 16,663,308  -  -  16,663,308 

 516,257,562  - 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  3,669,913,511  - 
Amount due to subsidiaries  1,001,530,793 
Interest bearing borrowings  2,078,700,190  (1,000,000,000)

 -  - 
Bank overdrafts  811,329,262  116,165,863  - 

 2,697,371,089 
Total equity and liabilities  9,223,733,689  (6,866,537,108)

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.
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40. EFFECT OF AMALGAMATION (CONTD.)

40.3

 Year ended 
 31.03.2020 

 TCCL * 

 Period ended 
 12.06.2019 

 TSCCLL ** 
 amalgamation 

 Combined 
 entity 

 (Restated) 

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Revenue from contracts with customers  1,285,679,556  (258,152,798)
Cost of sales  (15,578,562,220)

 5,276,939,295 
Other income  - 

 5,826,212,866  - 

Distribution expenses  (181,186,926)  -  (2,795,188,297)
Administrative expenses  (1,136,302,572)  (60,810,918)  - 

 2,075,908,923  - 

Finance income  6,770,228 
Finance expenses

 681,209,875  - 

Income tax expenses  60,300,157  - 
 75,500,687  -  817,010,719 

 (23,330,373)  -  -  (23,330,373)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive 
income  -  - 

 (16,797,869)  -  -  (16,797,869)

Total comprehensive income for the year  75,500,687  -  800,212,850 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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At Tokyo Cement, we are invested in engineering and perfecting our products to create durable customer 
trust. Over the years, we have accumulated years of experience in manufacturing quality products

that have won the trust of the people.

ACCUMULATING QUALITY OVER THE YEARS

A truss bridge is a superstructure built to bear loads using tension, compression, or sometimes both in response to dynamic loads.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

DISTRIBUTION OF VOTING ORDINARY SHARES AS AT 31ST MARCH 2020

Category No of Holders  Share Holdings Holding

Nos  Shares % 

 1 -  1,000  1,997 
  1,001  -  10,000 
  10,001  -  100,000 
  100,001  -  1,000,000 101  31,913,020 
  1,000,001 - 99,999,999 18

 267,300,000 

DISTRIBUTION OF NON VOTING SHARES AS AT 31ST MARCH 2020

Category No of Holders  Share Holdings Holding

Nos  Shares % 

 1 -  1,000 
  1,001  -  10,000  1,387 
  10,001  -  100,000  555 
  100,001  -  1,000,000 115  33,073,660 
  1,000,001 - 99,999,999 19

 133,650,000 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S SHAREHOLDING

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2020

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2019

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2020

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2019

Nos Nos Nos Nos

73,507,172 73,507,172  - 

53,820,756 53,820,756  - 

8,019,367 8,019,367  - 

545,292  - 

Total 135,892,587 135,892,587  - 
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DIRECTOR'S / CEO’S SHAREHOLDINGS

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2020

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2019

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2020

No of
Shares Held

31st March 2019

Nos Nos Nos Nos

 73,507,172 

Mr A.S.G. Gnanam  14 

 14 

Mr E.J. Gnanam  14 

 26,730,000 

 71,280

Independent Non Executive Directors

Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam

Dr Harsha Cabral, PC

Mr Ravi Dias

Mr Asite Talwatte

Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy - - 

 100,237,214  71,280

Total Shares in Issue 133,650,000

MARKET PRICE PER SHARE

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

31st March 2020 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 31st March 2019

 Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

Highest for The Period  55.00  59.90  44.30 

 19.50  20.00  16.90  17.50 

 22.50  20.70  20.00  18.50 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SHARE TRADING FROM 01ST APRIL 2019 TO 31ST MARCH 2020

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

31st March 2020 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 31st March 2019

Nos Nos Nos Nos

No of Transactions  21,233  29,732  5,967 

No of Shares Traded  57,811,440  92,419,947 

Value of Share Traded (Rs.)  2,184,205,517  2,808,514,399  726,590,796 

PERCENTAGE OF PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

31st March 2020 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 31st March 2019

39.16% 100%

No of Public Shareholders 3,918  4,121

MARKET CAPITALISATION

 Voting Ordinary Shares Non Voting Ordinary Shares 

31st March 2020 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 31st March 2019

Market Capitalisation (Rs. billion) 6.0 5.5 2.6 2.5

Total Market Capitalisation of the CSE (Rs. billion) 2,128.3 2,605.9 2,128.3 2,605.9

0.28 0.21 0.12 0.09

rule No. 7.6 (iv) of continuing listing requirements of CSE.

the rule No. 7.6 (iv) of continuing listing requirements of CSE.

As the Float Adjusted Market Capitalisation is less than Rs. 2.5 billion for Voting ordinary shares and less than Rs. 5 billion for Non-voting 

respectively. (as per the rule no. 7.13.1 (a) of continuing listing requirements of the CSE.)
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TWENTY LARGEST VOTING SHAREHOLDERS AS AT

31st March 2020 31st March 2019

No of Ordinary
 Shares %

No of Ordinary
 Shares %

Voting

73,507,172 27.5% 73,507,172

53,820,756 20.1% 53,820,756

26,730,000 10.0% 26,730,000

16,038,000 6.0% 16,038,000

8,019,367 3.0% 8,019,367

7,793,574 2.9% 5,651,912

7,447,897 2.8% 7,969,395

3,527,694 1.3%

3,245,603 1.2%

2,400,000 0.9%

2,107,374 0.8%

1,253,087 0.5%

Mr R. Maheswaran 1,096,940 0.4%

Miss M.P. Radhakrishnan 1,096,939 0.4% 1,096,939

Miss A. Radhakrishnan 1,096,939 0.4% 1,096,939

1,042,385 0.4%

1,012,261 0.4% 2,008,309

Mr N. Radella 1,005,000 0.4%

996,873 0.4%

926,620 0.3%

Total 214,164,481 80.1%
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TWENTY LARGEST NON-VOTING SHAREHOLDERS AS AT

31st March 2020 31st March 2019

No of Ordinary
 Shares %

No of Ordinary
 Shares %

Non Voting

16,258,204 12.2%

10,561,789 7.9% 10,561,789

Seb Ab-Tundra Sustainable Frontier Fund 7,888,114 5.9%

6,827,366 5.1% 6,827,366

Employees Provident Fund 5,643,524 4.2%

Deutsche Bank Ag As Trustee For Jb Vantage Value E 4,914,606 3.7%

4,226,000 3.2%

3,911,262 2.9% 3,181,610

2,434,929 1.8%

2,297,872 1.7%

Deutsche Bank Ag-National Equity Fund 2,259,360 1.7% 3,210,000

1,825,938 1.4% 1,852,138

1,472,515 1.1%

Mr A. Hassenally Rajkotwala 1,223,508 0.9% 1,223,508

1,100,000 0.8% 1,050,000

Mr Y.A.H. Rajkotwala 1,093,726 0.8% 1,093,726

1,041,430 0.8%

1,038,627 0.8%

1,024,917 0.8%

963,602 0.7%

Total 78,007,289 58.4%

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY 

Year ended 31st March 2019/2020 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

Rs. Mn. 

Turnover  35,768  35,633  35,701  30,117 
 10,256  7,888  6,926 

 2,629  (1)  2,572 
Taxation  (312)  (677)  (556)

 2,318  2,329  1,931 
Non-controlling Interest  16  (15)  3  - 

 2,318  3,398  1,931 

Assets
Non Current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment  26,949  26,877  23,820  12,892 

 545  2,952  7,603 
Intangible Assets  94  116  53  68  83 

 59  63 
Right of Use Assets  1,346  -  -  -  - 
Total Non Current Assets  28,934  28,169  27,256  20,877  17,390 

Current Assets
Inventories  3,493  3,636  2,530  2,002 
Trade and Other Receivable  5,291  6,315  3,036 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  430  718  572 
Total Current Assets  9,214  10,292  7,562 
Total Assets  38,148  35,002  22,250 

Capital and Reserves
Stated Capital  4,240 
Retained Earnings  12,917  10,682  11,189  8,528 

 17,157 
Non - controlling interest  93  62  52 
Total Capital and Reserves  17,250  15,016 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Year ended 31st March 2019/2020 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

Rs. Mn. 

Interest Bearing Borrowing  7,215  5,761  2,858 
Deferred Tax  2,859  2,726  2,355  2,207 

 297  225  182  131  112 
 294  19  5  -  - 

 10,665  7,823  7,373  5,177 

 2,507  2,639  2,275  1,850 
Short Term Borrowings  6,296  9,212  7,196  3,822  3,328 

 42  7  3  -  - 
Bank Overdraft  1,388  1,589  1,181 

 10,233  15,622  11,019  5,602 
 38,148  35,002  22,250 

INVESTOR INFORMATION
Earnings Per Share - Voting Ordinary Share (Rs.)  5.78  (1.23)  6.01  10.17  5.78 
Earnings Per Share - Non Voting Ordinary Share (Rs.)  5.78  (1.23)  6.01  10.17  5.78 
Dividend Per Share - Voting Ordinary Share (Rs.) 1.50  0.30  1.25  1.87  1.35 
Dividend Per Share - Non Voting Ordinary Share (Rs.) 1.50  0.30  1.25  1.87  1.35 

13.44 (3.28)  15.03  23.56 
Interest Cover (Time)  2.39 1.00  3.65  8.65 
Market Price Per Share (Rs.) - Voting  22.50  20.70  61.00  37.00 
Market Price Per Share (Rs.) - Non Voting  20.00  18.50  53.00  32.30 
Price Earnings Ratio (Times)- Voting  3.89  (16.83)  8.99  6.00 
Price Earnings Ratio (Times)- Non Voting  3.46  7.65  5.21  5.59 
Assets Turnover Ratio (Times)  0.94  1.00  1.02  1.26  1.35 
Net Asset Per Share (Rs.)  42.79  37.22 

COMPOSITION ASSETS

76%

9%

13%
2%

PPE & CWIP
Inventories
Trade and Other Receivables
Other Assets

COMPOTITION LIABILITIES

45%

36%

7%

12%

Shareholders Fund
Borrowings
Trade and Other Payables
Other Liabilities

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY 



159Annual Report 2019/20

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY GRAPHICAL REVIEW
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NOTICE OF MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 
Thirty Eighth Annual General Meeting 
of the Shareholders of Tokyo Cement 

p.m at the Auditorium, Institute of 

Malalasekera Mawatha, Colombo 7. The 
business to be brought before the Meeting 

AGENDA

Normal Business

1. To receive and adopt the Report of the 
Directors, the Statement of Audited 
Accounts for the year ended 31st March 
2020 and the Report of the Auditors 
thereon.

2. To declare a Final dividend of Rs. 1.50 
per share (voting and non voting) in 
respect of the Financial Year ending 
31st March 2020 as recommended by 
the directors. 

3. To re-elect Dr Harsha Cabral, PC who 
retires by rotation in terms of Article 

remuneration payable to the Auditors 
BDO Partners, (Chartered Accountants) 
or determining the manner in which 
such remuneration is to be given.

 (An Auditor is deemed to be re-
appointed at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company under Article 
180 of the Articles of Association). 

5 To authorise the Directors to determine 
contributions to charities.

6 Special Business.

6.1 To re-elect as a director Mr Ranjeevan 

Indrajit Coomaraswamy and being over 
the age of 70 years and who retires 
in terms of Articles of Association 
and pursuant to Section 211 of the 
Companies Act No 7 of 2007 for which 
special notice of the following ordinary 
resolutions has been given by a member 
for the purpose.

 THAT the age limit referred to in Section 
210 of the Companies Act No 7 of 
2007 shall not apply to Mr Ranjeevan 
Seevaratnam who is 77 years and 
that he be re-elected a Director of the 
Company.

Fernando and being over the age of 
70 years and who retires in terms of 
Articles of Association and pursuant to 
Section 211 of the Companies Act No 7 
of 2007 for which special notice of the 
following ordinary resolution has been 
given by a member for the purpose.

 THAT the age limit referred to in Section 
210 of the Companies Act No 7 of 2007 

is 72 years and that he be re-elected a 
Director of the Company.

6.3 To re-elect as a director Dr Indrajit 
Coomaraswamy and being over the age 
of 70 years and who retires in terms of 
Articles of Association and pursuant to 
Section 211 of the Companies Act No 7 
of 2007 for which special notice of the 
following ordinary resolutions has been 
given by a member for the purpose.

 THAT the age limit referred to in Section 
210 of the Companies Act No 7 of 
2007 shall not apply to Dr Indrajit 
Coomaraswamy who is 70 years and 
that he be re-elected a Director of the 
Company.

7. To transact any other business of which 
due notice has been given.

By Order of the Board 
TOKYO CEMENT COMPANY (LANKA) PLC 

Seccom (Private) Limited
Company Secretaries

21st September 2020

Notes

1. A member entitled to attend and vote  
at the above meeting is entitled to 
appoint a proxy to attend and vote 
instead of him.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company. A form of proxy accompanies 
this notice. 

3. The completed Form of Proxy should 

hours before the time appointed for the 
commencement of the Meeting.

the Annual General Meeting, please 
produce your National Identity Card to 
the security personnel stationed at the 
entrance.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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TEXT OF RESOLUTIONS TO BE PASSED AT 
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
ORDINARY BUSINESS

Resolution 1 Adoption of Accounts

 THAT the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 as audited and reported by the Company’s 
Auditors be and they are hereby received and adopted.

Resolution 2 Final Dividends

Members as on end of trading on 22nd October 2020 (Ex Div date 23rd October 2020).

Resolution 3 Re-election of Directors

Articles of Association and being eligible for appointment be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company.

Resolution 4 RE- Appointment of Auditors

 Shareholders noting Article 180 of the Articles of Association which states that At each Annual General Meeting the retiring 
Auditor or Auditors shall, without any resolution being passed, be deemed to have been re-appointed until the conclusion 

payable to the Auditors BDO Partners, (Chartered Accountants) or determining the manner in which such remuneration is 
to be given.

Resolution 5 Donations

the society.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Resolution 6 Re-election of Directors

 Age Limit not to Apply

 THAT the age limit referred to in Section 210 of the Companies Act No 7 of 2007 shall not apply to Mr Ranjeevan 
Seevaratnam who is 77 years and that he be re-elected a Director of the Company.

 
is 72 years and that he be re-elected a Director of the Company.

 THAT the age limit referred to in Section 210 of the Companies Act No 7 of 2007 shall not apply to Dr Indrajit 
Coomaraswamy who is 70 years and that he be re-elected a Director of the Company.
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FORM OF PROXY 
VOTING ORDINARY SHARES

For Thirty Eighth Annual General Meeting of 
TOKYO CEMENT COMPANY (LANKA) PLC

any one of the following directors 

 Dr Harsha Cabral, PC  

 Mr Simon Rajaseelan Gnanam  Mr Susumu Ando

 Mr Arul S. Gunaseelan Gnanam  Mr Ravi Dias 

 Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam   Mr Asite Talwatte 

 Mr Elijah Jeyaseelan Gnanam   Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy  

Malalasekera Mawatha, Colombo 7 and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.

For Against

1 To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors, the statement of Audited Accounts for the year ended  
31st March 2020 and the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2
recommended by the Directors.

3 To re-elect Dr Harsha Cabral, PC as a Director of the Company.

5 To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities.

6 To re-elect as a director Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam and being over the age of 70 years for which special notice 
has been received from a member for the purpose.

7
received from a member for the purpose.

8 To re-elect as a director Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy and being over the age of 70 years for which special notice 
has been received from a member for the purpose.

 

..................................................................

Notes:

1. Please delete the inappropriate words.
2. Instructions as to completion are enclosed.
3. Members are requested to inform the changes if any , in their registered addresses to the Company’s Secretaries or Central Depository 

System as appropriate.

Secretaries quoting their register folio number.

with regard to your change of address and dividend mandate.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION

holding the meeting.

2. In perfecting the form of proxy please ensure that all details are legible.

3. Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the relevant space given against each resolution how 
your proxy is to vote on the resolution. If no indication is given the proxy in his 

Articles of Association 

5. In the case of a proxy signed by an attorney, the power of attorney must be 

6. In the case of non-resident Shareholders, the stamping, if necessary, will be 
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FORM OF PROXY 
NON VOTING ORDINARY SHARES

For Thirty Eighth Annual General Meeting of 
TOKYO CEMENT COMPANY (LANKA) PLC

any one of the following directors 

Dr Harsha Cabral, PC of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Simon Rajaseelan Gnanam of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Arul Selvaraj Gunaseelan Gnanam of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Elijah Jeyaseelan Gnanam  of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Ranjeevan Seevaratnam of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Ravi Dias of Colombo   or failing him

Mr A. Talwatte of Colombo   or failing him

Mr Susumu Ando Of Singapore  or failing him

Dr Indrajit Coomaraswamy of Colombo   

Mawatha, Colombo 7 and at any adjournment thereof

..................................................................

Notes :

1. Please delete the inappropriate words.

2. Members are requested to inform the changes if any, in their registered addresses to the Company’s Secretaries or Central Depository 
System as appropriate.

with regard to your change of address and dividend mandate.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION

time appointed for holding the meeting.

2. In perfecting the form of proxy please ensure that all details are legible.

prescribed by its Articles of Association 

5. In the case of non-resident Shareholders, the stamping, if necessary, 
will be attended to, on return of the completed form of proxy to the 
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